

Effects and Phenomenology of Cut-Off Physics on the Primordial Universe

Scuola di Dottorato Vito Volterra PhD in Physics (XXXVI cycle)

Gabriele Barca ID number 1608557

Advisor Prof. Antonio Polosa

Supervisor Prof. Alessandro Melchiorri

Co-Supervisor Prof. Giovanni Montani

Academic Year 2024

Thesis defended on April 2024 in front of a Board of Examiners composed by:

Prof. Roberto Maoli (chairman) Prof. Sergei Odintsov Prof. Luca Amendola

Effects and Phenomenology of Cut-Off Physics on the Primordial Universe PhD Thesis. Sapienza University of Rome

@2024 Gabriele Barca. All rights reserved

This thesis has been typeset by ${\rm \sc LAT}_{\rm E\!X}$ and the Sapthesis class.

Author's email: gabriele.barca@uniroma1.it

Abstract

The main focus of this thesis is the implementation of alternative quantization procedures, developed to easily introduce quantum gravitational corrections, on cosmological models. The aim is to study the fate of cosmological singularities and to derive possible signatures of more fundamental Quantum Gravity theories.

Polymer Quantum Mechanics (PQM) is a procedure of quantization on a lattice, inspired by Loop Quantum Gravity but derived independently. The discretization of a position-like variable implies a cut-off on the corresponding momentum, and its implementation on the cosmological minisuperspaces, called Polymer Cosmology, is usually able to remove the Big Bang and Big Crunch singularities, replacing them with a Big Bounce similarly to Loop Quantum Cosmology. However the properties of the Bounce, i.e. its universality or its dependence on initial conditions, depend on the geometrical nature of the variable chosen to describe the model. After a comparison of different sets of variables in the isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker model, the privileged variable to obtain a universal Bounce is identified in the cubed scale factor corresponding to the comoving volume. The recovery of the equivalence between different sets of variables after the discretization has been implemented is still an open question, and it can have implications for Loop Quantum Cosmology.

The Generalized Uncertainty Principle representation (GUP), inspired by String Theories, introduces higher-order corrections on the canonical commutation relations and implies an absolute minimal uncertainty on position. Its cosmological implementation however is not usually able to remove the singularities; furthermore, the recreation of Brane Cosmology (a cosmological sector of String Theories) happens only for a different variation of this representation. Indeed, it is possible to extend the GUP formulation to different functions of the momentum, obtaining deformed commutation relations known as Modified Algebras. Not all of them imply minimal uncertainties, but some can introduce energy cut-offs. In particular, there are specific formulations able to reproduce Polymer Cosmology and Brane Cosmology. Another interesting form is able to remove singularities not through a Bounce but through an asymptotic behaviour; this way it is possible to reproduce the so-called Emergent Universe model without the fine tuning needed on a classical level.

Modified Algebras can be used to easily derive corrections to the primordial Power Spectrum of scalar perturbations, thus yielding a possibly observable signature of quantum gravitational corrections. When applied to the gravitational collapse of a dust cloud, they are able to halt the collapse and prevent the formation of Black Holes, thus possibly explaining the recently observed violations of star mass limits.

This thesis represents a starting point for the development of alternative quantization procedures as a somewhat phenomenological approach to implement corrections from more fundamental Quantum Gravity theories. There is still the need to define and develop canonical transformations between different sets of variables, since at the moment they seem to yield inequivalent dynamics; furthermore, the algebras can have different operatorial representations whose equivalence must still be formally proven. Finally, their implementation on more complex systems such as the anisotropic and chaotic Bianchi IX model or inhomogeneous solutions could be useful towards the further development of a complete theory of Quantum Gravity.

Contents

1	Introduction						
2	Standard Cosmology						
	2.1	Classi	cal Hamiltonian Cosmology	5			
		2.1.1	Hamiltonian Formulation of the Isotropic Universe	6			
		2.1.2	About Time	10			
		2.1.3	The Bianchi Models	12			
	2.2	Stand	ard Quantum Cosmology	14			
		2.2.1	Canonical Quantum Cosmology and the Problem of Time	15			
		2.2.2	Loop Quantum Cosmology	17			
3	Alternative Quantum Mechanics						
	3.1	Polyn	ner Quantum Mechanics	23			
		3.1.1	Polymer Kinematics	24			
		3.1.2	Polymer Dynamics	26			
	3.2	Gener	alized Uncertainty Principle Representation	28			
		3.2.1	Modified Commutation Relations	28			
		3.2.2	Quasi-Position Wavefunction	28			
	3.3	Modif	ied Algebras	29			
		3.3.1	Different Representations	30			
		3.3.2	Minimum Lengths vs Maximum Momenta	31			
		3.3.3	Semiclassical Implementation	34			
4	Isot	Isotropic Polymer Cosmology 3'					
	4.1	Semic	lassical Polymer Cosmology	37			
		4.1.1	Discretization of the Scale Factor	38			
		4.1.2	Specialization to the Volume Variable	40			
		4.1.3	Ashtekar Connection vs Volume	41			
		4.1.4	Phenomenology with Particle Creation	42			
	4.2	Quant	tum Polymer Cosmology	45			
		4.2.1	Quantum Analysis in the Ashtekar Variables	45			
		4.2.2	Quantum Analysis in the Volume Variable	47			
	4.3	The P	Problem of Equivalence	48			

 \mathbf{v}

5	Cosmology with Modified Algebras						
	5.1	Modified Algebras in the Bianchi I Model					
		5.1.1	Semiclassical Implementation	54			
		5.1.2	Modified Quantization	60			
	5.2	The Emergent Universe Scenario					
		5.2.1	Classical Emergent Universe Model	64			
		5.2.2	Non-Singular Emergent Universe from Modified Algebra	67			
		5.2.3	Modified Power Spectrum of Scalar Perturbations	70			
6	Non-Singular Gravitational Collapse						
	6.1	Semiclassical Collapse in Different Formulations					
		6.1.1	The Newtonian Hunter Model	83			
		6.1.2	The Relativistic Oppenheimer-Snyder Model	85			
	6.2	Pertur	bations and Stability	89			
		6.2.1	Eulerian Perturbations on the Hunter Model	90			
		6.2.2	General Relativistic Perturbations on the OS Model	93			
7	Sun	nmary	and Outlook	101			
Bi	Bibliography						

Chapter 1

Introduction

One of the most relevant open questions in Relativistic Cosmology concerns the existence of the initial singularity [133, 142, 167, 220]. Indeed, as proved in the well-known Singularity Theorems [114, 115], the existence of a singular instant in the past of the Universe where the curvature invariant diverges and the Einstein equations are no longer predictive is a general feature of the cosmological problem, which has nothing to do with the highly symmetric nature of the Robertson-Walker (RW) geometry describing the isotropic Universe. For this reason, any physics possibly able to overcome the singularity of the primordial Universe acquires a particular relevance; given the high-energy and high-curvature regime expected close to the singularity, the solution has to be searched in the quantum realm.

Modern Quantum Gravity approaches are mainly based on the use of Ashtekar-Barbero-Immirzi (first order) variables [16, 17], which constitute the starting point for the construction of both Canonical Quantum Gravity [78, 88] and the Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG) theory [18, 23, 28] (LQG is still considered a canonical approach, but the quantization procedure is not the standard one).

The canonical quantization in the Wheeler-DeWitt (WDW) formulation has rarely been able to provide a non-singular quantum cosmology [45, 49]; on the other hand, LQG constitutes a significant change in the point of view on how to approach the quantization of the gravitational degrees of freedom, especially because this formulation was able to construct a kinematical Hilbert space and to justify spontaneously the emergence of discrete area and volume spectra [195]. LQG relies on the possibility to reduce the gravitational phase space to that of a SU(2) non-Abelian gauge theory [194, 196], and then the quantization scheme is performed by using "smeared" (non-local) variables, as suggested by the original Wilson loop formulation and by non-Abelian gauge theories on a lattice. Indeed, when adopting the Ashtekar variables, the invariance of the gravitational action under the local rotation of the triad adapted to the spacetime foliation is expressed in the form of a Gauss constraint.

The implementation of this new approach to the cosmological setting, i.e. the reformulation of the minisuperspace dynamics in terms of Ashtekar variables, called Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC) [19, 24, 25, 26, 29, 50, 51, 52, 54], has determined the existence of a Universe with a non-zero minimal volume where the collapsing and the expanding branches of the dynamics are connected by the so-called Big Bounce

and the singularity is avoided; this construction offers a non-singular framework to implement the cosmological history of the Universe (actually, after the Planckian time the Universe thermal history remains faithful to the original formulation [99, 133, 167, 220]). Indeed, despite the minisuperspace model associated to homogeneous cosmological Universes prevents a full implementation of the SU(2) symmetry of the full theory, it is possible to extract a notion of cut-off on the Universe volume and then a maximum critical density for the Planck era with a suitable procedure, recovering the general theory prescription and formalisms. However, the fact that the basic SU(2) symmetry of the full LQG theory is essentially lost in LQC is a non-trivial limitation and the discretization of the area operator spectrum is somewhat introduced ad hoc, in contrast with LQG where it takes place naturally on a kinematical level. The difficulties of LQC in reproducing the fundamental character of the general quantum theory have been discussed in [79], and a more thorough criticism of the whole cosmological setting of LQG has been given in [55].

Despite these limitations, LQC remains an interesting attempt to regularize the cosmological singularity, opening a new perspective on the origin and evolution of the Universe. Furthermore, the effective formulation of LQC [205, 211] is isomorphic to the implementation of Polymer Quantum Mechanics (PQM) [81, 82], a procedure of quantization on a lattice, to the minisuperspace variables, typically the Universe scale factor or functions of it. This correspondence allows to investigate some features of the LQC formulation by applying simplified formalisms to more complicated models, thus making them viable.

On the same footing, the low energy phenomenology of String Theories, which constitute another highly developed proposal to move classical General Relativity towards a quantum formulation [42, 48, 185, 186, 187], can be interpreted as a modification of the Heisenberg Uncertainty Principle, as applied to the generalized coordinates and momenta of a given dynamical system; this is known as the Generalized Uncertainty Principle representation (GUP) [62, 95, 126, 153, 184, 199], and when applied to the minisuperspace it reproduces dynamics similar to that of Brane Cosmology [65, 138, 149, 152], a cosmological sector of String Theories.

The similarities between Polymer Cosmology (the implementation of PQM on cosmological minisuperspaces) and LQC on one hand, and between the GUP representation and Brane Cosmology on the other, beg the question of whether it is possible to develop other formalisms able to implement Quantum Gravity features through simple, independent frameworks. The answer has been found in Modified Algebras, a generalization of the GUP representation to other forms; these are usually functions of the momentum operator, since quantum gravitational corrections are expected to be relevant at high energies. Modified Algebras can be found to reproduce more fundamental quantum cosmological theories through the introduction of fixed structures, such as a minimal length in the form of an absolute minimal uncertainty on position [126] or a maximum in the allowed eigenvalues for the momentum operator [202]. Such limits are exactly what it is expected from a theory of quantum gravity and quantum cosmology, in that they usually correspond to energy cut-offs that could therefore mitigate the problem of singularities. Furthermore, Modified Algebras constitute a powerful tool in regards to the derivation of possible phenomenological consequences of the resulting cosmological models. Their versatility can for example allow for easier computations of corrections to the behaviour under dissipative phenomenons or to the primordial power spectrum of perturbations. The simplicity of their semiclassical limit can also be used to easily and readily obtain semiclassical effective dynamics, which besides being useful by itself, can give an idea of what to expect from the implementation of fundamental quantum gravitational theories to more complex settings such as anisotropic models.

This thesis focuses on Polymer Cosmology and Modified Algebra Cosmology, with the aim of better characterizing the removal of cosmological singularities and to give some possible phenomenological consequences of more fundamental Quantum Gravity theories.

After a brief review of standard Hamiltonian cosmology on the classical and quantum levels, the latter both in the Canonical and in the Loop frameworks, I will introduce the alternative representations of quantum mechanics used in my research: Polymer Quantum Mechanics, the Generalized Uncertainty Principle representation, and Modified Algebras. I will highlight the procedures of quantization and the consequences that they imply, as well as how to implement the corresponding semiclassical limits. These are the main tools that will be used throughout the thesis.

Then I will show my original research. I will first focus on Isotropic Polymer Cosmology, that is the implementation of PQM on the isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker model (FLRW). I will study the model in different sets of variables, both in a semiclassical effective representation and on a quantum level, and highlight how the replacement of the cosmological singularities of the Big Bang and the Big Crunch with a non-singular Big Bounce is not always universal: the nature of the Bounce is related to the geometrical nature of the variable chosen to describe the model, and this feature has implications for LQC.

Secondly I will show how Modified Algebras can be used to introduce quantum gravitational corrections by implementing some different forms on the anisotropic Bianchi I model, including the original GUP formulation and a Polymer Algebra able to reproduce the same effective dynamics of Polymer Cosmology. I will then focus on a particular algebra that is able to remove the cosmological singularities not through a Bounce but through the introduction of an asymptotic behaviour; this is a way to naturally obtain the so-called Emergent Universe model without the fine-tuning needed on a classical level.

Finally, I will study the collapse of a spherical dust cloud in the framework of Modified Algebras. The motivation for this study comes from the fact that the internal metric is identical to that of a closed FLRW model, and therefore it is expected that the gravitational singularity is removed and the formation of a Black Hole is avoided. This represents an example of Modified Algebras introducing quantum corrections in other gravitational systems beyond the cosmological setting.

To conclude, I will mention a few possibilities in which the research explained within this thesis can be continued and expanded. This is a starting point for the exploration of Polymer Quantum Mechanics, of Modified Algebras, and of alternative quantization procedures in general, with the hope of furthering the search for a complete theory of Quantum Gravity. The thesis is based on the following original papers.

- Reference [168]: Giovanni Montani, Claudia Mantero, Flavio Bombacigno, Francesco Cianfrani and **Gabriele Barca**, "Semiclassical and quantum analysis of the isotropic Universe in the polymer paradigm", *Physical Review D* 99, 063534 (2019).
- Reference [31]: Gabriele Barca, Paolo Di Antonio, Giovanni Montani and Alberto Patti, "Semiclassical and quantum polymer effects in the flat isotropic universe", *Physical Review D* 99, 123509 (2019).
- Reference [33]: Gabriele Barca, Eleonora Giovannetti and Giovanni Montani, "An Overview on the Nature of the Bounce in LQC and PQM", *Universe* 7, 327 (2021).
- Reference [34]: Gabriele Barca, Eleonora Giovannetti and Giovanni Montani, "Comparison of the semiclassical and quantum dynamics of the Bianchi I cosmology in the polymer and GUP extended paradigms", *International Journal* of Geometric Methods in Modern Physics 19, 2250097 (2022).
- Reference [102]: Eleonora Giovannetti, **Gabriele Barca**, Federico Mandini, Giovanni Montani, "Polymer Dynamics of Isotropic Universe in Ashtekar and in Volume Variables", *Universe* 8, 302 (2022).
- Reference [37]: Gabriele Barca, Giovanni Montani and Alessandro Melchiorri, "Emergent Universe model from modified Heisenberg algebra", *Physical Review* D 108, 063505 (2023).
- Reference [36]: Gabriele Barca and Giovanni Montani, "Non-Singular Gravitational Collapse through Modified Heisenberg Algebra", *European Physical Journal C* 84, 261 (2024).

Some results are also included in the following conference Proceedings.

- Reference [32]: Gabriele Barca, Eleonora Giovannetti, Federico Mandini and Giovanni Montani, "Polymer Quantization of the Isotropic Universe: Comparison with the Bounce of Loop Quantum Cosmology", in *The 16th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics and Relativistic Field Theories* (2021).
- Reference [35]: Gabriele Barca, Eleonora Giovannetti and Giovanni, Montani, "PQM and the GUP: Implications of Lattice Dynamics and Minimal Uncertainties in Quantum Mechanics and Cosmology", in 56th Rencontres de Moriond on Gravitation (2022).

Chapter 2 Standard Cosmology

In this chapter I will give an overview of standard cosmology, both on the classical and on the quantum level. However, I will not derive it from the Einstein equations, but directly from the Hamiltonian formulation of General Relativity (GR).

I will start from the SU(2) reformulation of GR in terms of the Ashtekar-Barbero-Immirzi variables [16, 17], and then focus on the isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker model (FLRW). I will derive the solutions for the scale factor a(t) in the presence of different kinds of matter-energy, and then show how, due to the Hamiltonian being constrained to zero, this formulation allows the freedom to choose an internal time variable; this is usually identified in a free scalar field. Then I will give a brief introduction of the anisotropic Bianchi models, with focus on Bianchi I which will be used later in the thesis.

Regarding Quantum Cosmology, I will first implement the canonical Wheeler-DeWitt formulation (WDW) [88], based on the reinterpretation of the fundamental equation $\hat{\mathcal{H}} |\psi\rangle = 0$ as a Klein-Gordon-like (KG) wave equation. I will show how to construct wavepackets and how to compute expectation values of operators with the KG conserved probability current. Then I will focus on Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG) [18, 23, 28], a more recent (although still canonical) quantization procedure where the geometrical operators of area and volume result to have a discrete spectrum [195]. Its cosmological implementation, called Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC) [29, 54, 53], is able to overcome a few problems of the WDW formulation; in particular, it is possible to obtain a cut-off on the energy density operator that replaces the classical cosmological singularities with a Big Bounce.

The models and solutions presented here will be used for comparison when in later chapters I will implement alternative quantization procedures.

2.1 Classical Hamiltonian Cosmology

A cosmological spacetime is defined by a line element

$$ds^2 = g_{\alpha\beta} \, dx^\alpha \, dx^\beta, \tag{2.1}$$

where $g_{\alpha\beta}$ is the metric tensor. From the metric tensor it is possible to construct connections i.e. Christoffel symbols $\Gamma^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta}$, and then the curvature of spacetime is defined by the Riemann tensor $R^{\alpha}_{\beta\gamma\delta}$, constructed from the derivatives of the connections. The two other quantities that encode curvature are the Ricci tensor $R_{\alpha\beta}$, obtained from the contraction of the first and third indices of the Riemann, and its trace $R = R^{\alpha}_{\alpha}$ also called Ricci curvature scalar. They are of primary importance in gravity and cosmology because they appear in the Einstein field equations:

$$R_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} g_{\alpha\beta} R = \chi T_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where χ is the Einstein constant (that usually will be set to 1) and $T_{\alpha\beta}$ is the energy-momentum tensor parametrizing the matter distribution. However, as mentioned earlier, I will introduce General Relativity and cosmological models in their Hamiltonian formulations, where the Ricci scalar R represents the gravitational Lagrangian, and will make little reference to the Einstein field equations.

2.1.1 Hamiltonian Formulation of the Isotropic Universe

The Hamiltonian formulation of General Relativity (GR) is based on a 3+1 foliation of spacetime and a Gauge reformulation of the three spatial dimensions as a SU(2)theory; through this process and with the help of Lagrange multipliers, three fundamental constraints are derived: the Gauss constraint which encodes the SU(2)symmetry, the SuperMomentum or spatial constraint that generates diffeomorphisms, and the SuperHamiltonian or scalar constraint responsible of time evolution.

The action for GR in its standard form is given by

$$S_{\rm GR} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} R,$$
 (2.3)

where g is the determinant of the metric tensor and R is the Ricci curvature scalar; after foliation, it can be rewritten in the Holt form:

$$S_{\rm GR} = \int dt \, d^3x \left(\mathcal{A}^a_j \, \mathcal{E}^j_a - \left(\mathcal{A}^a_0 \, \mathcal{G}_a + \mathcal{N}^j \, \mathcal{H}_j + \mathcal{N} \, \mathcal{H} \right) \right), \tag{2.4}$$

where \mathcal{A}^{a}_{α} are gauge connections describing curvature (and their time components act here as Lagrange multipliers), \mathcal{E}^{α}_{a} are densitized triads containing information about the spatial geometry, \mathcal{G}_{a} , \mathcal{H}_{j} and \mathcal{H} are the three constraints in the order mentioned above, and the lapse function \mathcal{N} and the shift vector \mathcal{N}^{j} are Lagrange multipliers. It is quite straightforward to see that varying the action with respect to the three Lagrange multipliers yields the three constraints $\mathcal{G}_{a} = 0$, $\mathcal{H}_{j} = 0$, and $\mathcal{H} = 0$. This reformulation of GR as a SU(2) theory was performed by Ashtekar [16, 17], and the quantities \mathcal{A} are called Ashtekar-Barbero-Immirzi connections.

In homogeneous cosmology the relevant quantity is the SuperHamiltonian, since the Gauss and the SuperMomentum constraints are automatically satisfied by the symmetry requirements and contain no dynamical information for the model.

In homogeneous cosmological models, given the symmetry requirements, the shift vector can be ignored, so only the lapse function will appear; the isotropic Robertson-Walker (RW) metric then is

$$ds^{2} = \mathcal{N}^{2} dt^{2} - a^{2} d\ell_{\rm RW}^{2}, \qquad d\ell_{\rm RW}^{2} = \frac{dr^{2}}{1 - Kr^{2}} + r^{2} d\theta^{2} + r^{2} \sin^{2}(\theta) \, d\varphi^{2}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where $d\ell_{\rm RW}^2$ is the metric of isotropic three-dimensional space in the polar coordinates (r, θ, φ) , K is the spatial curvature with dimensions of an inverse squared length, and a(t) is the dimensionless cosmic scale factor, which is the only real degree of freedom available to the dynamical problem and whose time evolution encodes the whole dynamics. Note that in cosmology when $K \neq 0$ it is always possible to rescale the scale factor a and the coordinate r so that |K| = 1. Therefore the only different possibilities for the geometry of spacetime are K = 0 (a flat hyper-plane), K = -1 (an open hyper-saddle), and K = 1 (a closed hyper-sphere). Matter is then introduced in the form of a generic energy density ρ . Plugging everything together into the action, after a spatial integration and a Legendre transform, the FLRW action and Hamiltonian result to be

$$S_{\rm FLRW} = \int dt \, \mathcal{V} \left(\frac{3}{\mathcal{N}} \left(a^2 \ddot{a} + \dot{a}^2 a \right) + 3 \, \mathcal{N} \, K \, a - \mathcal{N} \rho \, a^3 \right), \tag{2.6}$$

$$\mathcal{NH}_{\text{FLRW}}(a, p_a) = -\frac{\mathcal{N}}{12} \frac{p_a^2}{a} - 3 \mathcal{N} K a + \mathcal{N} \rho a^3 = 0, \qquad p_a = -\frac{6}{\mathcal{N}} a \dot{a}, \qquad (2.7)$$

where \mathcal{V} is a volume scale that will be set to 1 (unless otherwise specified in later chapters) and I defined the momentum p_a conjugate to the scale factor through the standard procedure of the Legendre transform.

The role of the Lapse Function \mathcal{N} here is to parameterize the freedom of choosing a time variable, as I will show later. For the moment, since I am working in synchronous time t, it will be set to 1. The equations of motion are

$$\dot{a} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial p_a} = -\frac{p_a}{6a}, \qquad \dot{p}_a = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial a} = -\frac{1}{12} \frac{p_a^2}{a^2} + 3K - \frac{\partial(\rho a^3)}{\partial a}. \quad (2.8)$$

From the first one, squaring and substituting the Hamiltonian constraint itself yields the Friedmann equation, which is the fundamental equation of cosmology linking the expansion rate to the matter content:

$$H^{2} = \frac{\dot{a}^{2}}{a^{2}} = \frac{p_{a}^{2}}{36a^{4}} = \frac{\rho}{3} - \frac{K}{a^{2}},$$
(2.9)

where $H = \dot{a}/a$ is the Hubble parameter encoding the expansion rate. Then, defining the pressure as $P = -\partial(\rho v)/\partial v$, from the equation of motion for \dot{p}_a it is possible to derive the acceleration equation:

$$\frac{\ddot{a}}{a} = -\frac{\rho + 3P}{6}.\tag{2.10}$$

In order to solve these equations and derive the dynamics of the model, i.e. the evolution of a(t), an expression for $\rho = \rho(a)$ is needed. This can be derived by combining the two equations above:

$$\dot{\rho} + 3 H \left(\rho + P\right) = 0. \tag{2.11}$$

In GR, this is usually derived from the energy-momentum tensor being divergencefree, which is a representation of energy conservation.

The Friedmann equation (2.9), the acceleration equation (2.10) and the continuity equation (2.11) completely describe the dynamics of the FLRW model. Actually,

since any one of the three can be derived from the other two, only two of them are strictly necessary, supplemented by an equation of state (EoS) linking pressure and energy density. In general it is customary to choose the Friedmann and the continuity equations, but any pair is equivalent.

Regarding matter, the EoS is needed in order to solve the continuity equation for $\rho(a)$; various kinds of EoS exist, but the one most used in cosmology is the relation

$$P = w \,\rho, \tag{2.12}$$

where w is the equation of state parameter, which is constant and must obey $-1 \le w \le 1$ in order not to break causality and not to have a superluminal speed of sound. Then, when w = -1, $\rho = \text{const.}$ which corresponds to a Cosmological Constant, while for any other allowed value of w the energy density is

$$\rho(a) = \overline{\rho} \, a^{-3(1+w)}, \tag{2.13}$$

where $\overline{\rho}$ is an integration constant. Different values of w describe different kinds of matter: w = 0 corresponds to ordinary pressureless matter (often called dust), w = 1/3 corresponds to radiation i.e. relativistic matter such as photons and neutrinos, and w = 1 corresponds to the so-called stiff matter. In general, the energy density ρ represents a sum of all types of matter, but usually, due to their different dependence on a, only one dominates for specific ranges of the scale factor and the others can be neglected.

A very useful tool for matter is a scalar field ϕ : depending on the assigned potential, it is able to mimic any type of perfect fluid. Even better, if the potential evolves with time it can be used to represent transitions from one domination era to the next. The expression for the equation of state parameter of a scalar field ϕ is

$$w_{\phi} = \frac{P_{\phi}}{\rho_{\phi}} = \frac{\dot{\phi}^2 - 2\,U(\phi)}{\dot{\phi}^2 + 2\,U(\phi)}\,,\tag{2.14}$$

where $\dot{\phi}^2/2$ is the kinetic term and U is the potential. It is immediate to see that, when the former dominates over the latter, $w_{\phi} \approx 1$, while in the opposite case if $U \gg \dot{\phi}^2$ then $w_{\phi} \approx -1$; for other cases in between, it is possible to obtain every allowed value of w.

Once an expression for $\rho(a)$ is provided, the Friedmann equation becomes a differential equation for a(t), and the assumption of the existence of a singularity implies the initial condition a(0) = 0, making the differential equation solvable for any $w \neq -1$. The solutions for the flat case are relatively easy; on the other hand, when $K \neq 0$, the solutions are not always solvable analytically, and even then they are usually in implicit form t = t(a); however, it is still possible to deduce the behaviour from the form of the Friedmann equation, and then solve them numerically. The case w = -1/3 that implies $\ddot{a} = 0$ and the case w = -1 corresponding to a Cosmological Constant deserve particular attention, since the evolution will be radically different.

The solutions in the flat case with K = 0 are given by

$$a(t) \propto (t^2)^{\frac{1}{3(1+w)}};$$
 (2.15)

Clearly, depending on the choices t > 0 and $\dot{a} > 0$ or t < 0 and $\dot{a} < 0$, the dynamics consists either of an expansion from a past singularity, called Big Bang, or a collapse towards a future singularity, called Big Crunch (with these expressions, both happen at t = 0). The different values of w only slightly change the incline i.e. the speed of approach to the singularity.

In the open case with K < 0, H^2 is greater than in the previous case because the curvature term $-K/a^2$ will contribute positively; therefore it is expected that the approach to the singularity will be slightly faster. Furthermore, since all known forms of matter (except the Cosmological Constant) decrease faster than $1/a^2$, the bigger the scale factor gets the more the curvature term becomes important and the matter term negligible; therefore the behaviour far from the singularity will be quite different. However this thesis will only be concerned with the dynamics close to the singularity where quantum effects become relevant.

The closed models with K > 0 are different, because in this case there will exist a value of a such that H = 0, corresponding to a critical point $\dot{a} = 0$. In correspondence of this value then H will change its sign and the model will start to contract again with $\dot{a} < 0$. This is why this is called a closed model: it will reach a maximum value for the scale factor and then recollapse to a singularity in a finite time, presenting both the Big Bang and the Big Crunch in the same branch.

When w = -1/3, the acceleration equation (2.10) implies $\ddot{a} = 0$ and it is immediately obvious that the expansion will be linear. From that same equation it is also quite easy to see that for any acceptable w < -1/3 the expansion will be accelerated since $\ddot{a} > 0$; this implies that for these values the recollapse as seen in the cases with K > 0 will never happen.

The three cases with different curvature and with $w \neq -1$ are shown in Figure 2.1 for the three relevant cases of matter, together with the case w = -1/3 of linear evolution.

The case with w = -1 is peculiar: in the Friedmann equation (2.9), if the right-hand side contains only a Cosmological Constant ρ_{Λ} , the solution is simply an exponential of the form

$$a(t) = \exp\left(\pm\sqrt{\frac{\rho_{\Lambda}}{3}} t\right). \tag{2.16}$$

The fact that H = const. can be quite useful in specific situations, and it was used to develop the theory of Inflation [133, 146, 147, 150, 151, 167, 169].

Now, starting from the Hamiltonian formulation of FLRW cosmology presented above, I will restate the whole system in terms of the new volume variable $v = a^3$. As I will show later in this thesis, this variable will play a very important role in the semiclassical and quantum implementation of alternative quantum mechanics.

From the canonical relation, the momentum p_v conjugate to the volume is found and thus the Hamiltonian can be rewritten as follows:

$$p_a \, da = p_v \, dv, \qquad p_v = \frac{p_a}{3a^2}, \qquad (2.17)$$



Figure 2.1. The solutions a(t) for different values of w. Each panel contains all the different cases of curvature: the flat case with K = 0 (black dot-dashed lines), the open case with K < 0 (blue dashed lines) and the closed case with K > 0 (red continuous lines). All of them present singularities in that $a \to 0$ and consequently $\rho \to \infty$.

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}(v, p_v) = -\frac{3}{4} p_v^2 v + 3 K v^{\frac{1}{3}} + \rho v = 0.$$
(2.18)

Then the equations of motion and the Friedmann equation are

$$\dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v, \qquad \dot{p}_v = \frac{3}{4} p_v^2 + \frac{K}{v^{\frac{2}{3}}} - \frac{\partial(\rho v)}{\partial v}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{v}}{3v}\right)^{2} = \frac{p_{v}^{2}}{4} = \frac{\rho}{3} - \frac{K}{v^{\frac{2}{3}}}.$$
(2.20)

The continuity equation and its solution are exactly the same, but rewritten in terms of v:

$$\dot{\rho} + \frac{\dot{v}}{v}(\rho + P) = 0, \qquad \rho(v) = \overline{\rho} v^{-(1+w)}.$$
 (2.21)

The solutions v(t) for different kinds of matter will then be the same obtained previously for a(t), but cubed.

2.1.2 About Time

A very delicate issue is presented by the time-gauge freedom. As mentioned above, the cosmological (but also more in general the gravitational) Hamiltonian function is constrained to zero. This can be problematic on a quantum level: if the Hamiltonian operator responsible for time evolution only has the zero eigenvalue, the states will never evolve; this is known as the Problem of Time, and will be analyzed more in depth later. Fortunately, the presence of the Lapse Function \mathcal{N} comes in handy: it parameterizes the fact that it is possible to choose a different time variable other than synchronous time t.

In the previous paragraphs the FLRW Lagrangian only depended on the scale factor a and its time derivatives. By assuming now that it depends also on another variable, new degrees of freedom appear. Then it is possible to choose the Lapse function \mathcal{N} in such a way that the new variable can play the role of time. This way a new Hamiltonian is defined, corresponding to the opposite of the momentum conjugate to that variable. This procedure is a time-gauge fixing through a reduction of the dynamics, and is quite useful in gravity and cosmology [14, 15].

I will now show a more concrete example. In cosmology, a good and often used candidate for time variable is a free scalar field i.e. without a potential, given its often monotonic relation with synchronous time; given that it corresponds to stiff matter with w = 1 and $\rho \propto 1/a^6$, it is also expected to be the dominant form of matter-energy close to the singularity.

The energy density of a free scalar field is given by $\rho_{\phi} = \dot{\phi}^2/2$, so its conjugate momentum reads as

$$p_{\phi} = \frac{\phi \, v}{\mathcal{N}} \,. \tag{2.22}$$

The Hamiltonian and the equations of motion therefore become

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{FLRW}}(v, p_v, \phi, p_\phi) = -\frac{3\mathcal{N}}{4} p_v^2 v + 3\mathcal{N} K v^{\frac{1}{3}} + \mathcal{N} \frac{p_\phi^2}{2v^2} v, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\dot{v} = -\frac{3N}{2} p_v v, \qquad \dot{\phi} = \mathcal{N} \frac{p_\phi}{v}, \qquad (2.24)$$

where the momentum conjugate to the field results to be a constant due to the absence of a potential and the momentum conjugate to the volume is not relevant at the moment. By temporarily setting $\mathcal{N} = 1$ and K = 0, the Friedmann equation in synchronous time can be derived and solved:

$$\frac{\dot{v}^2}{9v^2} = \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{6v^2}, \qquad v(t) = \pm \frac{3}{2} p_{\phi} t, \qquad \phi(t) = \pm \ln\left(\frac{2}{3} |p_{\phi} t|\right), \qquad (2.25)$$

where I used the boundary conditions v(0) = 0, $\phi(0) \to \pm \infty$. Therefore, regardless of the chosen branch, the field ϕ will have a monotonic relation to t and is thus a good candidate to be used as a time variable.

Now, going back to equation (2.24) and setting $\dot{\phi} = 1$, a value of \mathcal{N} is found that changes the equation of motion for v:

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{v}{p_{\phi}}, \qquad \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi} = -\frac{3}{2} \frac{p_v}{p_{\phi}} v^2. \tag{2.26}$$

Then the Friedmann equation in terms of the scalar field yields a differential equation for $v(\phi)$ that is easily solvable:

$$\left(\frac{1}{3v}\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{1}{4}\frac{p_v^2 v^2}{p_\phi^2} = \frac{1}{6}, \qquad v(\phi) = v_1 \exp\left(\pm\sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}\phi\right), \qquad (2.27)$$

where v_1 is a generic integration constant; again there are two branches with an exponential behaviour, and the singularities are at $\phi \to \pm \infty$.

Alternatively, a reduced Hamiltonian can be obtained by solving the constraint $\mathcal{H}_{\text{FLRW}} = 0$ for p_{ϕ} ; then the equation of motion for $dv/d\phi$ is simply the Hamilton equation of this new Hamiltonian:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\phi} = -p_{\phi} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{3}{2} p_v^2 v^2 - 6 K v^{\frac{4}{3}}}, \qquad (2.28)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\phi}(K=0) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} p_v v, \qquad \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}_{\phi}}{\mathrm{d}p_v} = \pm \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} v, \qquad (2.29)$$

which yields the same exact solution $v(\phi)$ found above.

The evolution in terms of the scalar field shown here will be used for comparison later, when I will implement modified semiclassical or quantum dynamics.

2.1.3 The Bianchi Models

In 1897, Luigi Bianchi listed all the possible three-dimensional Lie algebras such that each of them determines the local properties of a three-dimensional group. Given a homogeneous spacetime, its symmetry group can be described by one of nine different (classes of) Lie algebras, with uniquely determined structure constants [46]. The Bianchi models are the homogeneous spaces associated with these nine algebras; in cosmology, even if the three cases (flat, open or closed) of the isotropic FLRW model are technically included in the Bianchi classification, usually the Bianchi universes are considered anisotropic models.

The metric tensor $g_{\alpha\beta}$ can be immediately written by considering a basis of dual vector fields z^{α} preserved under spatial isometries. The four-dimensional line element is then expressed as

$$ds_{\rm B}^2 = \mathcal{N}^2 \, dt^2 - A_{ij} \, z^i \, z^j, \tag{2.30}$$

where B stands for Bianchi and, thanks to the homogeneity constraint, A_{ij} is a symmetric matrix encoding the whole time dependence of the model similarly to the scale factor a of the isotropic FLRW model.

The simplest solution of the Einstein field equations in the framework of the Bianchi classification is the so-called Kasner solution, i.e. the type I model where all the structure constants are zero [124, 137]. In the case of vacuum where $\rho = 0$ and $T_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, it is possible to diagonalize the matrix A_{ij} as

$$A_{ij} = \text{Diag}(a_1, a_2, a_3),$$
 (2.31)

where a_i are three different scale factors for the three spatial directions; then the metric can be recast in a form similar to the FLRW one in cartesian coordinates, but with the three different scale factors:

$$ds_{\rm BI}^2 = dt^2 - a_1^2 (dx^1)^2 - a_2^2 (dx^2)^2 - a_3^2 (dx^3)^2, \qquad (2.32)$$

where BI stands for Bianchi I. This way the model is easily solvable:

$$a_i(t) \propto t^{2c_i}, \qquad \sum_i c_i = 1, \qquad \sum_i c_i^2 = 1,$$
 (2.33)

where the c_i are constants called Kasner indices that obey the given relations. One Kasner solution is then a set of c_i obeying these relations. Note that in order for those relations to be valid one of the indices will always be negative

The line element (2.32) describes an anisotropic space where volumes linearly grow with time, while linear distances grow along two directions and decrease along the third one, differently from the Friedmann solution where all distances contract towards the singularity with the same behavior. This metric has only one singularity in t = 0.

The Bianchi models are easily seen to be anisotropic from the metric (2.32). However, it is often more useful to study them in a different set of variables, especially for the Hamiltonian formulation: the Misner variables (α, β_{\pm}) defined as [162, 163]

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{3} \ln(a_1 a_2 a_3), \qquad \beta_+ = \frac{1}{6} \ln\left(\frac{a_1 a_2}{a_3^2}\right), \qquad \beta_- = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{3}} \ln\left(\frac{a_1}{a_2}\right). \tag{2.34}$$

From these definition, it is evident that the variable α is linked to the total volume and will contain the isotropic information, while the variables β_{\pm} parametrize the anisotropies.

Inserting the solutions $a_i(t)$, the evolution of the Misner variables is found to be

$$\begin{cases} \alpha(t) = \frac{1}{3} \ln\left(\frac{t}{t_0}\right), \\ \beta_+(t) = \frac{c_1 + c_2 - 2c_3}{6} \ln\left(\frac{t}{t_0}\right) = \frac{1 - 3c_3}{2} \alpha, \\ \beta_-(t) = \frac{c_1 - c_2}{2\sqrt{3}} \ln\left(\frac{t}{t_0}\right) = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} (c_1 - c_2)\alpha, \end{cases}$$
(2.35)

where t_0 is an integration constant. It is clear that this system has a singularity $\alpha \to -\infty$ at $t \to 0$. Given that α has a monotonic relation with synchronous time t, it can be chosen as time variable and a very useful quantity is then identified in the anisotropy velocity vector $\beta' = (d\beta_+/d\alpha, d\beta_-/d\alpha)$; then the conditions on the Kasner indices simply become $|\beta'|^2 = 1$. In the Misner variables, when using α as time, the Bianchi I model is simply a free particle moving in the (β_+, β_-) plane with constant, unitary velocity.

At this point, after the 3 + 1 foliation of spacetime, the Bianchi metric (2.30) in terms of the Misner variables rewrites in the following form:

$$ds_{\rm B}^2 = \mathcal{N}^2 \, dt^2 - e^{2\alpha} \, \left(e^{2\beta} \right)_{ij} \, z^i \, z^j, \qquad (2.36)$$

where \mathcal{N} is again the Lapse Function, z^{α} are the same one-forms as before specifying the symmetry group, and β_{ij} is a matrix containing combinations of the anisotropies β_{\pm} . Then the action and the Hamiltonian are

$$S_{\rm B} = \int dt \left(p_{\alpha} \dot{\alpha} + p_{+} \dot{\beta}_{+} + p_{-} \dot{\beta}_{-} - \mathcal{N} \mathcal{H}_{\rm B} \right), \qquad (2.37)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm B} = \frac{1}{12e^{3\alpha}} \left(-p_{\alpha}^2 + p_{+}^2 + p_{-}^2 \right) + \frac{e^{\alpha}}{4} U_{\rm B}(\beta_{\pm}) = 0, \qquad (2.38)$$

$$p_{\alpha} = -\frac{6}{\mathcal{N}} e^{3\alpha} \dot{\alpha}, \qquad p_{\pm} = \frac{6}{\mathcal{N}} e^{3\alpha} \dot{\beta}_{\pm}. \qquad (2.39)$$

where $U_{\rm B}$ is a potential that depends on the chosen model i.e. on the symmetry group that the one-forms z^{α} obey, and p_{α} , p_{\pm} are the momenta conjugate to the corresponding variables. Note that, with this definition, an expanding universe with $\dot{\alpha} > 0$ implies $p_{\alpha} < 0$.

In the simple case of the Bianchi I model, the potential is zero: $U_{\rm BI} = 0$, which implies that p_{\pm} are constants of motion since the anisotropies do not appear; furthermore, given that α appears only as a total prefactor and that the Hamiltonian is constrained to zero, p_{α} is also a constant of motion. Then the equations of motion and the solutions for α and β_{\pm} in synchronous time, i.e. with $\mathcal{N} = 1$, are given by

$$\dot{\alpha} = -\frac{\mathcal{N}}{6} \frac{p_{\alpha}}{e^{3\alpha}}, \qquad \dot{\beta}_{\pm} = \frac{\mathcal{N}}{6} \frac{p_{\pm}}{e^{3\alpha}}, \qquad (2.40)$$

$$\alpha(t) = \frac{1}{3} \ln\left(-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{2}t\right), \qquad \beta_{\pm}(t) = \beta_{0\pm} - \frac{p_{\pm}}{p_{\alpha}} \ln\left(-\frac{p_{\alpha}}{2}t\right), \qquad (2.41)$$

where $\beta_{0\pm}$ are integration constants; for $p_{\alpha} = -2/t_0$ these are the same solutions as before, except the Kasner indices are now encoded in the constant momenta.

The other Bianchi models will not be analyzed in this thesis, but I will give a very brief conceptual introduction. I have shown above how in the Misner variables, when using α as an internal time variable, the dynamics of the Bianchi I model coincides with that of a free particle moving in a straight line on the (β_+, β_-) plane. The other Bianchi models will have a non-zero potential in the form of infinite, exponentially steep walls. Away from them the dynamics will still be well approximated by a Kasner solution and the potential is only relevant when the particle is close to the walls; when a wall is approached, the particle-universe will rebound off of it and change the values of the Kasner indices. Then, depending on the Bianchi model and the number of walls, the dynamics consists in a series of Kasner solutions linked by these rebounds. In particular, the Bianchi IX model has three walls in an equilateral triangle configuration, so that the particle universe will keep rebounding off the walls. Considering that the walls are moving with α , going backwards in time they will keep closing in on each other, and the Kasner solutions be shorter and shorter until the singularity is reached. The dynamics then acquires a chaotic character, and indeed the chaotic properties of the Bianchi IX model, earning it the name Mixmaster Universe, have been and still are the subject of many studies with many different approaches [38, 39, 43, 44, 96, 103, 116, 144, 145, 163, 164, 166, 167, 192, 210].

2.2 Standard Quantum Cosmology

In this section I will briefly introduce the most relevant and studied approaches to quantum cosmology, namely the canonical quantization and Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG), highlighting the features that are relevant for later comparison.

The canonical approach consists in the quantization of the Hamiltonian constraints according to Standard Quantum Mechanics (SQM). Since they are classically vanishing, this leads to the infamous Wheeler-DeWitt equation (WDW) [78, 88] that is affected by the Problem of Time [58, 123, 131, 135, 155, 193, 217].

LQG is a background-independent quantization scheme based on the SU(2) reformulation of GR, where the fundamental variables are taken to be holonomies of the connections \mathcal{A}_{j}^{a} and fluxes of the densitized triads \mathcal{E}_{a}^{j} [18, 23, 28, 194, 196]. It is able to overcome some of the problems of the previous approach, and its main results are the discreteness of the geometrical operators [195] and the avoidance of cosmological singularities on a quantum level [24, 26].

2.2.1 Canonical Quantum Cosmology and the Problem of Time

The starting point for Canonical Quantum Cosmology is the action (2.4). Since they are constrained to zero, promoting the SuperHamiltonian and the SuperMomentum to operators results in the wavefunctions admitting only the zero eigenvalue:

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} |\psi\rangle = 0, \qquad \hat{\mathcal{H}}_j |\psi\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.42)

This is the WDW equation of Quantum Gravity. Therefore, when trying to implement the time-dependent Schrödinger equation in the standard way, the wavefunctions will not evolve. This frozen formalism constitutes the Problem of Time. However, there are a few approaches to work around it.

The first approach consists in the recovery of an internal time variable after quantization. It is based on a reinterpretation of the WDW equation as a Klein-Gordon-like wave equation. For example, consider the flat FLRW model expressed in terms of the Misner variable $\alpha = \ln(a)$, filled with a free scalar field ϕ ; the Hamiltonian (2.7) with $\mathcal{N} = 1$, K = 0 and $\rho_{\phi} = p_{\phi}^2/2a^6$ rewrites as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}(\alpha, p_{\alpha}; \phi, p_{\phi}) = -\frac{1}{12} \frac{p_{\alpha}^2}{e^{3\alpha}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{e^{3\alpha}} = 0.$$
(2.43)

By promoting the fundamental variables to quantum operators in the standard way the momenta will act differentially, and given that $\mathcal{H} = 0$ the prefactor $e^{-3\alpha}$ disappears. Then the WDW equation reduces to

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}\psi = 0 \qquad \rightarrow \qquad \left(\frac{1}{6}\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\alpha^2} - \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2}\right)\psi = 0 \qquad (2.44)$$

(note that I set $\hbar = 1$); this is a Klein-Gordon wave equation where α is the space variable and ϕ plays the role of time variable. The generic solution will then be a superposition of plane waves i.e. a wavepacket of the form

$$\Psi(\alpha,\phi) = \int dk \ W(k) \ e^{ik(\frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{6}}\pm\phi)}, \qquad k = k_{\alpha} = \pm\sqrt{6} \ k_{\phi}, \qquad (2.45)$$

where the wavenumbers k_i are the eigenvalues of the corresponding momenta \hat{p}_i , the second equality comes from the solution to the dispersion relation $k_{\alpha}^2 = 6k_{\phi}^2$, and



Figure 2.2. Left: absolute value of the wavepacket Ψ in the (ϕ, α) plane, calculated numerically. Right: expectation value $\langle \hat{\alpha} \rangle$ as function of time ϕ (red dots, computed numerically), compared with the classical solution $\alpha(\phi)$ (blue line, derived analytically).

W(k) is a generic, usually Gaussian-like weighing profile; then expectation values of relevant operators are computed through a Klein-Gordon scalar product:

$$\left\langle \hat{O} \right\rangle = \left\langle \Psi \right| \hat{O} \left| \Psi \right\rangle = \int d\alpha \ i \left(\Psi^* \,\partial_\phi(\hat{O}\Psi) - (\hat{O}\Psi) \,\partial_\phi \Psi^* \right). \tag{2.46}$$

As an example, Figure 2.2 shows the norm $|\Psi|^2$ of the wavepacket in the (ϕ, α) plane and the expectation value $\langle \hat{\alpha} \rangle$ as function of the scalar field time; it is evident how both the peak of the wavepacket and the expectation value closely follow the classical expanding trajectory of α (and in the right panel it is actually superimposed), which from the Hamiltonian (2.43) can be easily calculated to be $\alpha(\phi) = \pm \sqrt{6} \phi$ where the plus corresponds to an expanding universe (and is the one shown in Figure 2.2) while the minus to a contracting one.

It is important to note how the width of the wavepacket remains constant; this is due to the solutions of the dispersion relation being linear and implies that the wavepacket can be peaked at will and the approach to the singularity at $\alpha \to \infty$ is well-described by the corresponding classical dynamics. I will show in later chapters that this not always the case, and with alternative quantization procedure the phenomenon of spreading can happen. This means that in that case the (semi)classical description can be trusted only up to a certain point, and the singularity must be treated in a purely quantum framework.

The Klein-Gordon approach is known as *time after quantization*, and is the one that I will mostly use during this thesis. However, there are other approaches to Quantum Cosmology and to the Problem of Time.

One other approach consists in finding a *time before quantization* through the gauge fixing and the reduction presented above in Section 2.1.2; this implies that the system to be quantized is the one with a reduced Hamiltonian similar to (2.28) and (2.29) where ϕ is a time variable already on the classical level. In simple cases, this yields more or less the same results as the first one, but the two approaches are in general not equivalent. Indeed there are a few conceptual differences: the after quantization approach is based on a full quantization of the system, while the second one relies on a quantization only of some degrees of freedom, and the others

have been reduced through the time-gauge fixing and the solution of the classical constraints.

Finally, there are *timeless* approaches based on the idea that there is no need of time at a fundamental level. The quantum theory of gravity can be constructed without a notion of time and such concept may arise only in some special situations and only relationally. Even classical mechanics can be reformulated in a timeless framework, where any motion is only a relative evolution between observables.

To conclude, I must stress that in general the resolution of cosmological singularities in the canonical WDW formalism, although possible, is not a common result [49, 106]. Indeed, according to the Ehrenfest theorem [92], it is expected that the expectation values of physical observables follow the corresponding classical trajectories, and therefore the quantum wavepackets will fall into the singularity in the same way as the GR solutions.

2.2.2 Loop Quantum Cosmology

The name Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC) refers to a specific quantum cosmological model, i.e. the quantization of the FLRW spacetime according to the methods of Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG) [19, 24, 25, 26, 27, 29, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 181, 209]. More in general, it is often also used to indicate cosmological models that are quantized through LQG procedures [20, 57, 68, 100, 221]. In this section, I quickly introduce the formalism of kinematical LQG and then show without too many details its implementation to the isotropic Universe in both the old and new prescriptions, that are the μ_0 scheme and the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme. In later chapters, when I will perform a comparison with Polymer Cosmology, I will reiterate some of the relevant features.

LQG is based on the reformulation of GR as a SU(2) theory mentioned in Section 2.1.1, and then the quantization scheme is performed by using smeared i.e. non-local variables such as the holonomy and flux variables, as suggested by non-Abelian gauge theories on lattices [194, 196, 213, 214]. For recent reviews, see [18, 28].

The smearing of the Ashtekar variables \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{E} is achieved defining holonomies of the connections along edges ℓ and fluxes of the triads across surfaces S:

$$h_{\ell}[\mathcal{A}] = \exp\left(\int_{\ell} d\ell^a \ \tau_j \ \mathcal{A}_a^j\right), \qquad \Phi_S[\mathcal{E}] = \int_S dS_a \ \tau_j \ \mathcal{E}_a^j, \tag{2.47}$$

where τ^{j} are the SU(2) generators. The trace of the holonomies for a closed edge results in the so-called Wilson loop that gives the theory its name.

Now, the quantum kinematics is obtained by promoting these objects to operators and defining their commutator; a very important consequence of the requirement of background independence, i.e. of diffeomorphism invariance, is that the holonomyflux algebra results to have a unique representation and, therefore, a unique Hilbert space \mathbb{H}_{LQG}^{kin} . This is called a *spin network space*, defined as a graph γ_{LQG} made of edges identified by a half-integer spin number J and nodes with an intertwiner tensor I. The basis vectors of this Hilbert space are therefore *spin network states* denoted as $|\gamma_{LQG}, J, I\rangle$, which are orthonormal; they depend on the connections only through holonomies and are square-integrable with respect to the Haar measure. A key result of the kinematical framework of LQG is the quantization of the geometrical operators of area and volume. For example, the area operator and its action on a functional can be defined through the flux operator and the eigenvalues result in being dependent on how many edges of γ_{LQC} intersect the considered surface. In particular, the smallest non-zero eigenvalue of the area operator is a constant quantity depending on fundamental constants and on the Immirzi parameter only; it is called the area gap Δ_{LQG} , and it is a key parameter of the theory. Note that this result is purely kinematical [21, 22, 195].

The dynamics is derived through the implementation of the operators corresponding to the three constraints mentioned in Section 2.1.1 (i.e. the Gauss, the SuperMomentum and the SuperHamiltonian constraints); in order to do this, they must first be expressed in terms of the fundamental holonomies and fluxes, and then quantized through the Dirac procedure [90, 91]. However I will not show the dynamics of full LQG, only the implementation of the Loop quantization procedure on cosmological models.

The implementation of the LQG approach to the cosmological setting leads to define in a rather rigorous mathematical way the concept of a primordial Big Bounce, thus removing the cosmological singularity. However LQC has the intrinsic limitation that the basic SU(2) symmetry underlying the LQG formulation is unavoidably lost when the minisuperspace dynamics is addressed [55, 79]. This is due to the fact that the homogeneity constraint reduces the cosmological problem to a finite number of degrees of freedom; in particular, it becomes impossible to perform the local rotation and preserve the structure constants of the Lie algebra associated to the specific isometry group. In this respect, LQC requires some sort of gauge fixing of the full SU(2) invariance [80]. In addition, the problem of translating the quantum constraints from the full to the reduced level remains still open. This is the reason that LQC is not the cosmological sector of LQG, i.e. it is not a symmetry reduction to cosmological minisuperspaces of the full LQG theory; rather it is the implementation of the Loop quantization procedure to cosmological spacetimes whose symmetry-reduction has been performed beforehand on a classical level. I will now briefly show how this implementation works on the isotropic cosmological model.

When the symmetries of the FLRW model are implemented, the Ashtekar variables simply reduce to powers of the scale factor and its derivatives: the triad \mathcal{E} becomes the area variable $s = a^2$, while \mathcal{A} becomes the connection $p_s \propto \dot{a}$. While the area has already the correct non-local features, the connection p_s must be smeared through the construction of the holonomy, which in the diagonal case reads as

$$h_{\lambda}^{j}(p_{s}) = \cos\left(\frac{\lambda p_{s}}{2}\right) \mathbb{I} + 2\sin\left(\frac{\lambda p_{s}}{2}\right) \tau^{j}, \qquad (2.48)$$

where λ is a generic parameter and \mathbb{I} is the identity matrix; the elementary configurational variables then are s and $\exp(i\lambda p_s/2)$.

The Hilbert space \mathbb{H}_{LQC}^{kin} is the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}_B, dm_H)$ of square-integrable function on the Bohr compactification of the real line \mathbb{R}_B endowed with the Haar measure dm_H . In the *s*-polarization then the fundamental states are eigenstates of \hat{s} labeled by a real number μ on which the fundamental operators act as

$$\widehat{e^{i\frac{\lambda p_s}{2}}} |\mu\rangle = |\mu + \lambda\rangle, \qquad \hat{s} |\mu\rangle = \frac{\Gamma}{6} \mu |\mu\rangle, \qquad (2.49)$$

where Γ is the Immirzi parameter [122, 197].

In the cosmological minisuperspace, the dynamics is defined by the introduction of an operator corresponding to the SuperHamiltonian constraint (the Gauss and SuperMomentum constraints are identically satisfied as mentioned in Section 2.1). This must be done by returning to the integral expression of the constraint and expressing it as function of the fundamental variables before quantization. After implementing the symmetry reductions and the Thiemann strategy [212], the gravitational constraint can be written as the limit of a λ -dependent Hamiltonian that can be easily promoted to operator:

$$\mathcal{H}_{LQC} = \lim_{\lambda \to 0} \mathcal{H}_{\lambda}, \qquad \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\lambda} = \frac{24 \, i \, s \, \sin^2(\lambda \, p_s) \, \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\lambda}}{\Gamma^3 \lambda^3} \,, \tag{2.50}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\lambda} = \sin\left(\frac{\lambda \, p_s}{2}\right) \hat{s}^{\frac{3}{2}} \, \cos\left(\frac{\lambda \, p_s}{2}\right) - \cos\left(\frac{\lambda \, p_s}{2}\right) \hat{s}^{\frac{3}{2}} \, \sin\left(\frac{\lambda \, p_s}{2}\right). \tag{2.51}$$

However, in LQC the limit $\lambda \to 0$ does not exist by construction. This can be interpreted as a reminder of the underlying quantum geometry, where the area operator has a discrete spectrum with a smallest non-zero eigenvalue corresponding to the area gap Δ ; as a consequence, λ must be set to a certain value that can be appropriately related to the area gap. This relation is where the two different schemes of LQC arise from: depending on whether the area gap is assigned a kinematical or dynamical character, the result will be the μ_0 scheme or the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme respectively.

The μ_0 scheme, introduced in [24], considers the area gap as a kinematical quantity and sets the parameter $\lambda = \mu_0 = \text{const.}$ by considering that holonomies are eigenstates of the kinematical area operator:

$$\hat{s} h_{\mu_0} \propto \mu_0^2 h_{\mu_0} \propto \Delta_{\text{LQC}} h_{\mu_0}.$$
 (2.52)

Then the quantum Hamiltonian constraint is simply the λ -dependent operator (2.50) with $\lambda = \mu_0$.

After the introduction of matter in the form of a free scalar field ϕ as $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\phi} = \hat{p}_{\phi}^2/\hat{s}^{\frac{3}{2}}$, where p_{ϕ} is the momentum conjugate to the field, the WDW equation can be rewritten as a difference operator (instead of differential):

$$\frac{\partial^2 \Psi}{\partial \phi^2} = \frac{1}{B_{\mu}} \left(\mathcal{H}_+ \Psi(\mu + 4\mu_0, \phi) - \left(\mathcal{H}_+ + \mathcal{H}_-\right) \Psi(\mu, \phi) + \mathcal{H}_- \Psi(\mu - 4\mu_0, \phi) \right), (2.53)$$
$$\mathcal{H}_{\pm} \propto \frac{\left| |\mu \pm 3\mu_0|^{\frac{3}{2}} - |\mu \pm \mu_0|^{\frac{3}{2}} \right|}{\mu_0^3}, \qquad (2.54)$$

where B_{μ} is the eigenvalue of the inverse-volume operator $1/\hat{s}^{\frac{3}{2}}$ and is a function of the label μ . Wavepackets can be constructed, and then it is possible to evolve

them and compute the expectation values of relevant observables numerically. I will briefly summarize the most important results.

An initially semiclassical state remains sharply peaked around the classical trajectories for most of the evolution, but when matter density approaches a critical value the state Bounces from the expanding branch to a contracting one with the same value of $\langle \hat{p}_{\phi} \rangle$. This universally solves the cosmological singularities by replacing the Big Bang and the Big Crunch with a Big Bounce.

However, the critical value of the matter density results in being inversely proportional to the expectation value $\langle \hat{p}_{\phi} \rangle$ and can, therefore, be made arbitrarily small by choosing a sufficiently large initial condition. This fact, besides being physically unreasonable because it could imply departures from the classical trajectories well away from the Planck regime, becomes even more problematic in the case of a closed model: the point of maximum expansion depends on $\langle \hat{p}_{\phi} \rangle$ as well. In order to have a Bounce density comparable with that of Planck, a very small value is needed, but in that case, the Universe would never become big enough to be considered classical; on the other hand, a closed Universe that grows to become classical needs a larger value but would have a very low Bounce density where it is well known that quantum effects are negligible. This is the reason for which a different scheme was needed.

The $\overline{\mu}$ scheme was developed in [25, 26] to solve the shortcomings of the the previous one, in particular regarding the Bounce density. The idea is that the quantization of the area operator should refer to physical geometries, and therefore the parameter λ is not a constant anymore but is a function $\overline{\mu}(\mu)$ linked to the area gap through the relation

$$\overline{\mu}^2 \,\mu \propto \Delta_{\rm LQC}.$$
 (2.55)

This way, the translational operator depends both on the connection and the geometry, and more care is needed in the definition of the exponential operator because now $\exp(i\overline{\mu} p_s/2)$ depends also on the eigenvalues μ of \hat{s} .

From geometric consideration and a comparison with the standard Schrödinger representation, it is possible to set

$$\widehat{e^{i\frac{\overline{\mu}\,p_s}{2}}}\,\Psi(\mu) = e^{\overline{\mu}\,\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\mu}}\,\Psi(\mu),\tag{2.56}$$

that is, the exponential operator translates the state by a unit affine-parameter distance along the curve of the vector field $\overline{\mu} d/d\mu$. This affine parameter is given by

$$\nu \propto \operatorname{sgn}(\mu) |\mu|^{\frac{3}{2}},\tag{2.57}$$

and since this expression is invertible it is useful to perform a change of variable from μ to ν , so that the exponential operator now acts as

$$e^{i\frac{\overline{\mu}\,p_s}{2}}\Psi(\nu) = \Psi(\nu+1).$$
 (2.58)

The kets ν are an orthonormal basis and they result to be eigenstates of the volume operator. Then the gravitational constraint can be constructed in the same way as before.

Repeating the same steps of the previous μ_0 scheme, the WDW equation is again a difference operator but this time in terms of ν :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\Psi}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2} = \frac{1}{B_\nu} \bigg(\mathcal{H}_+ \Psi(\nu+4,\phi) - \left(\mathcal{H}_+ + \mathcal{H}_-\right) \Psi(\nu,\phi) + \mathcal{H}_- \Psi(\nu-4,\phi) \bigg), \quad (2.59)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\pm} \propto |\nu \pm 2| \left| |\nu \pm 1| - |\nu \pm 3| \right|.$$
 (2.60)

The previous WDW equation (2.53) of the μ_0 scheme involves step that are constant in the eigenvalues of the area operator \hat{s} , while this new one involves steps that are constant in the eigenvalues of the volume operator $\hat{\nu} \propto \hat{s}^{\frac{3}{2}}$.

After the construction of wavepackets and numerical calculations, the state still remains sharply peaked and, when approaching a critical energy density, it Bounces to the other branch also in this case; so the singularity is still removed and replace by a Big Bounce. However, and most importantly, the critical value of the density at which the Bounce happens results to be a universal constant.

The semiclassical limit of LQC, i.e. the inclusion of quantum corrections in the classical dynamics, can be obtained through a geometric formulation of quantum mechanics where the Hilbert space is treated as an infinite-dimensional phase space [205]. In simpler cases with coherent states that are preserved by the full quantum dynamics, the resulting Hamiltonian coincides with the classical one; however, in more general systems it is possible to choose suitable semiclassical states that are preserved up to a desired accuracy (e.g. in a \hbar expansion), and the corresponding effective Hamiltonian preserving this evolution is generally different from the classical one [211].

The leading order Loop corrections on the FLRW Hamiltonian result to be:

$$\mathcal{H}_{LQC}^{\mu_0} = -\frac{3}{\Gamma^2 \mu_0^2} s^{\frac{1}{2}} \sin^2(\mu_0 \, p_s) + \frac{B_\mu}{2} \, p_\phi^2 = 0, \qquad (2.61)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{LQC}^{\overline{\mu}} = -\frac{3}{\Gamma^2 \overline{\mu}^2} \, s^{\frac{1}{2}} \, \sin^2(\overline{\mu} \, p_s) + \frac{B_{\nu}}{2} \, p_{\phi}^2 = 0.$$
(2.62)

From the Hamilton equations, it is possible to obtain modified Friedmann equations:

$$H_{\mu_0}^2 = \left(\frac{\dot{s}}{2s}\right)^2 = \frac{\rho}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{\mu_0}}\right), \qquad \rho_{\mu_0} = \left(\frac{3}{\Gamma^2 \mu_0^2}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{2}}{p_{\phi}}, \tag{2.63}$$

$$H_{\overline{\mu}}^2 = \left(\frac{\dot{\nu}}{3\nu}\right)^2 = \frac{\rho}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{\overline{\mu}}}\right), \qquad \rho_{\overline{\mu}} = \frac{4\sqrt{3}}{\Gamma^3}.$$
 (2.64)

It is clear how in both cases, when the total energy density ρ is equal to the regularizing densities ρ_{μ_0} or $\rho_{\overline{\mu}}$, the Hubble parameter goes to zero and therefore a critical point $\dot{s} = 0$ or $\dot{\nu} = 0$ appears corresponding to a Bounce; therefore the singularity is removed also in the (corrected) classical dynamics. However, in the effective μ_0 dynamics this critical energy density depends on the constant of motion p_{ϕ} , and therefore on initial conditions, while in the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme it is a universal constant. This is the main reason for which the improved model is much more appealing than the standard one.

Over the years, many criticisms have been made on the LQC framework, mainly about the fact that the quantum dynamics is not derived by a symmetry reduction of the full LQG theory, but by quantizing cosmological models that are reduced before quantization. The spatial geometry of a cosmological spacetime is fixed, and it is not possible to perform local SU(2) transformations in the minisuperspace. Furthermore, as it is well known, in LQG the implementation of the scalar constraint is not yet a viable task, and it is worth noting how this problem is somehow by passed in LQC, where the dynamics for the cosmological models is constructed; however, this procedure is far from being completely clear. Another way to see the problem of the SU(2) symmetry is that the resulting algebra on the reduced model is different from the holonomy-flux algebra of the full theory, and therefore, LQC is not equivalent to LQG [79]. Indeed, the improved $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC does not use the symmetryreduced counterpart of the original Ashtekar connection, which is the only viable SU(2) variable of full LQG. Another problem that is often raised is that an external parameter (the area gap) fixing the discretization scale must be introduced from the full theory by hand, because LQC is derived independently from LQG and the area gap is not introduced naturally in the cosmological setting.

LQG and LQC attempt to provide a promising framework for a quantum mechanical description of general relativity and of cosmological models, but as outlined in this paragraph, both—the latter in particular—need to be substantially improved. In more recent years there have been a few new LQG-like approaches to the quantization of General Relativity and of cosmological models that attempt to solve or work around these issues, or even to derive LQG from a more fundamental theory. Some examples are Quantum Reduced Loop Gravity [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 154], Causal Dynamical Triangulation [8, 9, 10, 104, 148], Modified LQC [141, 198, 223] and Group Field Theory [98, 101, 177, 178, 179, 180]; however they will not be analyzed here.

On the other hand, the new quantum mechanical framework of Polymer Quantum Mechanics (PQM) was developed in order to reproduce LQC effects independently from LQG. This makes it much more versatile and easily applicable to any Hamiltonian system, and it is helpful to explore Loop-like quantum effects in cosmological models without the need to address the problems of the more fundamental LQG theory. The quantum mechanical framework of PQM will be the subject of the next chapter, together with other alternative quantization procedures of similar scope.

Chapter 3 Alternative Quantum Mechanics

In this chapter I introduce a series of alternative quantization procedures that will later be implemented on the gravitational and cosmological actions.

The alternative procedures that I will present must of course violate one or more hypotheses of the Stone-von Neumann theorem [207, 208, 218, 219], otherwise they would just be equivalent representations of Standard Quantum Mechanics (SQM) and would give the same predictions.

The first alternative representation is Polymer Quantum Mechanics (PQM), a quantization procedure on a lattice where one of the fundamental variables (usually position or a similar quantity) is assigned a discrete character, and as a consequence the generator of translations is not weakly continuous anymore and the corresponding conjugate momentum cannot be constructed in the usual way.

The second alternative quantization is the Generalized Uncertainty Principle representation (GUP), where a modified uncertainty relation is obtained through a deformation of the standard Heisenberg commutators. This implies an absolute minimal uncertainty on position and is a simple and phenomenological way to introduce a fundamental length, a concept whose existence is indicated by most approaches to a theory of Quantum Gravity.

The GUP representation can be extended by generalising the modified commutation relations to other functions. Since quantum gravitational corrections are expected to be relevant at high energies, these deformations of the commutators will usually be in the form of functions of momenta. Similarly to the GUP, they represent a quick and simple procedure to introduce in Hamiltonian systems corrections coming from more fundamental Quantum Gravity theories, especially in view of their straightforward classical limit.

3.1 Polymer Quantum Mechanics

Polymer Quantum Mechanics (PQM) is a non-regular alternative representation of SQM, non-unitarily connected to the ordinary Schrödinger representation. It has been used to explore both mathematical and physical issues in backgroundindependent theories. It was conceived in the framework of Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG) but through an independent procedure and, when applied to minisuperspace models, has given way to what I will call Polymer Cosmology with results similar to Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC).

The Polymer quantization is made of several steps. The first one is to build a representation of the Heisenberg-Weyl algebra on a background-independent Kinematic Hilbert space, which will be referred to as the Polymer Hilbert space \mathbb{H}_{POM} . The second and most important part is the implementation of the dynamics and needs the definition of a Hamiltonian function or constraint on this space. The second step is more difficult than the previous because one of the main features of this representation is that one among the standard quantum operators \hat{q} and \hat{p} will always be not well-defined (nor will be their analogues in systems with more elaborate variables). This is because the fundamental feature of PQM is to assign a discrete character to one of the phase space variables. Thus any operator that is a function of the not-defined variable has to be regulated by a well-defined operator which usually involves the introduction of some extra structure on the configuration space, namely a lattice. The downside is that this extra structure can not be removed when working in \mathbb{H}_{POM} , and one is left with the ambiguity of the regularization, an ambiguity that is usually associated with a length scale i.e. the lattice spacing. However, when applying the semiclassical Polymer deformation to various settings in later chapters, usually cosmological models but not only, it is possible to find some constraints on this scale by imposing reasonable conditions, such as for example on the reasonable order of magnitude of the density of the Universe near the singularity or on the validity of a non-relativistic approximation.

Here, I introduce PQM following Corichi et al. [82]. Given the similarities, here I will use the same labels of LQC; from here on, except where indicated, the symbol μ (and other similar ones) will refer to the Polymer representation and not to the Loop quantization.

3.1.1 Polymer Kinematics

In order to introduce the Polymer representation without any reference to the Schrödinger one, consider the abstract kets $|\mu\rangle$ labeled by a real number $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$ and taken from the Hilbert space \mathbb{H}_{PQM} .

A generic cylindrical state can be defined as a finite linear combination of the form

$$\left|\psi\right\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{N} c_{i} \left|\mu_{i}\right\rangle, \qquad (3.1)$$

where $\mu_i \in \mathbb{R}$, $i = 1, ..., N \in \mathbb{N}$. The inner product is chosen so that the fundamental kets are orthonormal:

$$\langle \mu_i | \mu_j \rangle = \delta_{ij} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

From this choice, it follows that the inner product between two cylindrical states $|\psi_1\rangle = \sum_i c_{1i} |\mu_i\rangle$ and $|\psi_2\rangle = \sum_j c_{2j} |\mu_j\rangle$ is

$$\langle \psi_2 | \psi_1 \rangle = \sum_{i,j} c_{2j}^* \, c_{1i} \, \delta_{ij} = \sum_i c_{2i}^* \, c_{1i}. \tag{3.3}$$

It can be demonstrated that the Hilbert space \mathbb{H}_{PQM} is the Cauchy completion of the finite linear combination of the form (3.1) with respect to the inner product (3.2) and that it results to be non-separable.

Two fundamental operators can be defined on this Hilbert space: the symmetric label operator $\hat{\epsilon}_{\mu}$ and the shift operator $\hat{S}_{\mu}(\lambda)$ with $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. They act on the kets $|\mu\rangle$ as follows:

$$\hat{\epsilon}_{\mu} |\mu\rangle = \mu |\mu\rangle , \qquad \hat{S}_{\mu}(\lambda) |\mu\rangle = |\mu + \lambda\rangle .$$
(3.4)

The shift operator defines a one-parameter family of unitary operators on \mathbb{H}_{poly} . However, since the kets $|\mu\rangle$ and $|\mu + \lambda\rangle$ are orthogonal for any $\lambda \neq 0$, the shift operator $\hat{S}_{\mu}(\lambda)$ is discontinuous in λ and therefore there is no Hermitian operator that can generate it by exponentiation.

Now that the abstract structure of the Hilbert space is described, I can proceed to define the physical states and operators. In the following, I will consider a one-dimensional system identified by the phase-space coordinates (q, p), and I will separate the discussion into two cases referred to the two possible polarizations for the wave function. I will also assume that the configurational coordinate qhas a discrete character, due to the relation that it often possess with geometrical quantities. This is a way to investigate the physical effects of discreteness at a given scale, for example when introducing quantum gravity effects on the cosmological dynamics.

In the momentum polarization the fundamental kets and a generic wave function can be written as:

$$\psi_{\mu}(p) = \langle p | \mu \rangle = e^{i\mu p}, \qquad \psi(p) = \langle p | \psi \rangle.$$
 (3.5)

The shift operator $\hat{S}_{\mu}(\lambda)$ is identified with the multiplicative exponential operator $\hat{\varsigma}_{\mu}(\lambda)$:

$$\hat{\varsigma}(\lambda)\,\psi_{\mu}(p) = e^{i\lambda p}\,e^{i\mu p} = e^{i(\mu+\lambda)p} = \psi_{\mu+\lambda}(p); \tag{3.6}$$

 $\hat{\varsigma}$ is discontinuous by definition and as a result, the momentum *p* cannot be promoted to a well-defined operator. On the other hand, \hat{q} corresponds to the label operator $\hat{\epsilon}_{\mu}$ and in this polarization acts differentially:

$$\hat{q}\,\psi_{\mu}(p) = -i\,\frac{\partial\psi_{\mu}}{\partial p} = \mu\,\psi_{\mu}(p). \tag{3.7}$$

Additionally, it has to be considered as a discrete operator since the states $\psi_{\mu}(p)$ are orthonormal for all μ , even though μ belongs to a continuous set.

By means of C^* -algebra it can be seen that \mathbb{H}_{PQM} is isomorphic to $L^2(\mathbb{R}_B, dm_H)$, where \mathbb{R}_B is the Bohr compactification of the real line, i.e. the dual group of the real line equipped with discrete topology, and dm_H is the Haar measure. Note how this is the same Hilbert space of kinematic LQC introduced in 2.2.2.

In the position polarization, the wave functions depend on the configurational variable q and can be written as

$$\psi(q) = \langle q | \psi \rangle, \qquad (3.8)$$

where the basis functions can be derived using a Fourier-like transform:

$$\psi_{\mu}(q) = \langle q | \mu \rangle = \langle q | \int_{\mathbb{R}_{B}} dm_{H} | p \rangle \langle p | \mu \rangle = \langle q | \int_{\mathbb{R}_{B}} dm_{H} | p \rangle \psi_{\mu}(p) =$$

=
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}_{B}} dm_{H} e^{-iqp} e^{i\mu p} = \delta_{q\mu},$$
(3.9)

through which it is evident that the \hat{p} operator does not exist since the derivative of the Kronecker delta is not well defined. However, the shift operator $\hat{\varsigma}$ acts as

$$\hat{\varsigma}(\lambda)\,\psi(q) = \psi(q+\lambda). \tag{3.10}$$

As in the previous case, the \hat{q} operator corresponds to $\hat{\epsilon}_{\mu}$, but in this polarization it acts multiplicatively:

$$\hat{q}\,\psi_{\mu}(q) = \mu\,\psi_{\mu}(q).$$
 (3.11)

The Hilbert space has analogous features as before, resulting to be isomorphic to $L^2(\mathbb{R}_D, dm_C)$ where \mathbb{R}_D is the real line equipped with the discrete topology and dm_C is the counting measure. The inner product then is

$$\left\langle \psi_{\mu_i}(q) \middle| \psi_{\mu_j}(q) \right\rangle = \delta_{ij},$$
(3.12)

so it is clear how the \hat{q} operator is discrete also in this polarization.

3.1.2 Polymer Dynamics

In the previous section, the Polymer kinematic Hilbert space was introduced. In particular, the discussion above has highlighted that it is not possible to well define the \hat{q} and \hat{p} operators simultaneously in the Polymer framework. So, it is necessary to understand how to implement the dynamics in order to apply the Polymer framework to a physical system.

Consider the p-polarization of a one-dimensional system described by a standard Hamiltonian:

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{p^2}{2m} + U(q). \tag{3.13}$$

Assuming \hat{q} to be a discrete operator, an approximate form for \hat{p} must be constructed. For this reason, the required regularization procedure consists in the introduction of a lattice with constant spacing μ_0 :

$$\gamma_{\mu} = \{ q \in \mathbb{R} : q = n\mu_0 \,\forall \, n \in \mathbb{Z} \}. \tag{3.14}$$

In order to remain on the lattice then only states with label $\mu_n = n\mu_0$ are permitted, and the Hilbert space becomes $\mathbb{H}_{\gamma\mu} \subset \mathbb{H}_{\text{poly}}$ containing all the functions ψ such that $\sum_n |c_n|^2 < \infty$, where c_n are the coefficients as in equation (3.1).

Now, an approximate form for \hat{p} must be constructed in order to have a welldefined Hamiltonian operator through which to implement the dynamics in both the polarizations. The operator $\widehat{e^{i\lambda p}}$ is well defined and acts as the shift operator on the kets $|\mu\rangle$; in particular, by restricting it to the lattice through the imposition $\lambda = \mu_0$, its action becomes

$$\hat{\varsigma}(\mu_0) |\mu_n\rangle = |\mu_n + \mu_0\rangle = |\mu_{n+1}\rangle. \tag{3.15}$$

Therefore, it is possible to use the shift operator to introduce the following approximation:

$$p \sim \frac{\sin(\mu_0 p)}{\mu_0} = \frac{e^{i\mu_0 p} - e^{-i\mu_0 p}}{2 \, i \, \mu_0},$$
 (3.16)

valid in the limit $\mu_0 p \ll 1$, so that the regularized \hat{p} operator acts as

$$\hat{p}_{\mu} |\mu_{n}\rangle = \frac{1}{2i\mu_{0}} \Big(\hat{\varsigma}(\mu_{0}) - \hat{\varsigma}(-\mu_{0})\Big) |\mu_{n}\rangle = \frac{1}{2i\mu_{0}} \big(|\mu_{n+1}\rangle - |\mu_{n-1}\rangle\big); \quad (3.17)$$

when moving onto the momentum polarization, its action on the wavefunction $\psi(p)$ will be multiplicative with a modified eigenvalue:

$$\hat{p}_{\mu}\psi(p) = \frac{\sin(\mu_0 \, p)}{\mu_0}\,\psi(p). \tag{3.18}$$

Note that this implies that the spectrum of the momentum operator is limited both from above and from below, given that the sine is a limited function. I will show in later chapter how this corresponds to an energy cut-off.

There are various possible definitions for the squared momentum, but the simplest and most consistent one is the composition of the operator \hat{p}_{μ} defined above with itself, resulting in $\hat{p}^2_{\mu} \psi(p) = \frac{\sin^2(\mu_0 p)}{\mu_0^2} \psi(p)$. Since \hat{q} is always a well-defined operator, the regularized version of the Hamilto-

nian is simply

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\mu} = \frac{\hat{p}_{\mu}^2}{2m} + \hat{U}(\hat{q})$$
(3.19)

that represents a symmetric and well-defined operator on $\mathbb{H}_{\gamma_{\mu}}$.

Note that this Hamiltonian provides an effective description at the given scale μ_0 . More specifically, the question about the consistency between the effective theories at different scales and the existence of the continuum limit is deeply investigated in [81]. In particular, it is shown that the continuum Hamiltonian can be represented in a Hilbert space unitarily equivalent to the ordinary L^2 space of the Schrödinger theory by means of a renormalization procedure that involves coarse graining as well as rescaling, following Wilson's renormalization group ideas.

When implementing PQM on the cosmological minisuperspaces, the geometrical variables will usually be discretized and therefore will play the same role as the position q; consequently, all the conjugate variables will play the same role as the momentum p and will therefore act multiplicatively with a modified eigenvalue in the form of the sine function as in (3.18).

It is also possible to implement Polymer corrections on a semiclassical level by modifying the Hamiltonian, substituting every instance of the momentum conjugate to the discretized variable with the corresponding sine function, i.e. using the substitution (3.16) where $p \to \sin(\mu_0 p)/\mu_0$, and then deriving the equations of motion through the standard Hamilton equations. Most of the time throughout this thesis I will study the semiclassical system obtained in this way before moving on to quantization.

3.2 Generalized Uncertainty Principle Representation

The existence of a fundamental minimal scale is supposed and expected in a quantum theory of gravity. Therefore many possibilities have been studied involving minimal length uncertainty relations, and most of them imply corrections to the usual Heisenberg uncertainty principle such that it becomes what is known as Generalized Uncertainty Principle (GUP).

Interest in a minimal length or GUP has been motivated by studies on perturbative String Theory [7, 11, 107, 108, 222], and considerations regarding the properties of black holes [153] and the de Sitter space [206]. From the String Theory point of view, a minimal length is a consequence of the fact that strings cannot probe distances below the string scale.

There are different approaches to the Generalized Uncertainty Principle; I will present the first and most straightforward one, proposed by Kempf, Mangano and Mann in 1995 (KMM) [126]. Even though this formalism can be constructed independently from String Theories, it represents a way in which some of their features can be made manifest in Hamiltonian models.

3.2.1 Modified Commutation Relations

The KMM approach consists in a modified commutation relation between position and momentum, that for a one-dimensional system reads

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i (1 + B_0 \, \hat{p}^2), \qquad B_0 > 0,$$
(3.20)

where B_0 is a positive parameter related to the string length and to the scale at which quantum-gravitational effects are expected to become relevant. This modification leads to the modified uncertainty relation

$$\Delta q \,\Delta p \ge \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + B_0 \,\Delta p^2 + B_0 \,\langle \hat{p} \rangle^2 \right), \tag{3.21}$$

that appears in perturbative String Theory [7, 11, 107]. When considering $\langle \hat{p} \rangle = 0$, this implies an absolute minimal uncertainty in position $\Delta q_{\min} = \sqrt{B_0}$.

The existence of a nonzero uncertainty in position implies that a position eigenstate cannot exists, because eigenstates have by definition zero uncertainty. (Actually it is possible to construct position eigenvectors, but they will be only formal eigenvectors and not physical states.) This consideration forces the use of the momentum polarization, where the states are functions of the momentum p and the basic operators' action is

$$\hat{p}\psi(p) = p\psi(p), \qquad \hat{q}\psi(p) = i(1+B_0 p^2)\frac{\mathrm{d}\psi}{\mathrm{d}p}.$$
 (3.22)

It is easy to verify that this way the commutation relations (3.20) are recovered.

3.2.2 Quasi-Position Wavefunction

In order to recover information on positions, it is possible to construct states that realize the maximum allowed localization, i.e. the minimal possible uncertainty. Such states of maximal localization around a position q_0 , denoted by $|\psi_{q_0}^{\text{ml}}\rangle$, have therefore the properties

$$\left\langle \psi_{q_0}^{\mathrm{ml}} \middle| \hat{q} \middle| \psi_{q_0}^{\mathrm{ml}} \right\rangle = q_0, \qquad \Delta q \left|_{\left| \psi_{q_0}^{\mathrm{ml}} \right\rangle} = \Delta q_{\mathrm{min}} = \sqrt{B_0} , \qquad (3.23)$$

and they obey the equation

$$\left(\hat{q} - \langle \hat{q} \rangle + \frac{\langle [\hat{q}, \hat{p}] \rangle}{2\,\Delta p^2}\,\hat{p}\right) \left|\psi_{q_0}^{\mathrm{ml}}\right\rangle = 0,\tag{3.24}$$

where the absolute maximal localization can be obtained only for $\langle \hat{p} \rangle = 0$. By solving this, the explicit form of these minimal uncertainty states is

$$\psi_{q_0}^{\text{ml}}(p) \propto \frac{1}{1 + B_0 p^2} \exp\left(-i q_0 \frac{\arctan(\sqrt{B_0} p)}{\sqrt{B_0}}\right);$$
(3.25)

they reduce to the standard plane waves in the limit $B_0 \rightarrow 0$.

At this point, the probability amplitude for a particle to be maximally localized around a position q_0 with standard deviation Δq_{\min} can be obtained by projecting an arbitrary state $|\psi\rangle$ on $|\psi_{q_0}^{\text{ml}}\rangle$. This projection $\psi(q_0) = \langle \psi_{q_0}^{\text{ml}} |\psi\rangle$ is called quasi-position wave function and is given by

$$\psi(q_0) \propto \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{dp}{(1+B_0 p^2)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \exp\left(iq_0 \frac{\arctan(\sqrt{B_0} p)}{\sqrt{B_0}}\right) \psi(p).$$
(3.26)

This is nothing but a generalized Fourier transformation, and in the limit $B_0 \to 0$ the ordinary position wave function $\psi(q_0) = \langle q_0 | \psi \rangle$ is recovered.

3.3 Modified Algebras

As mentioned earlier, it is possible to generalize the KMM construction presented above to different forms of deformed algebras. I will first introduce the general features of the kind of modified algebras that are relevant for Quantum Gravity and Quantum Cosmology, i.e. those of the form $[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar f(\hat{p})$ (although I will set $\hbar = 1$ also in this section), and then extract specific properties of the algebras that I will use in this thesis.

A few constructions have already been analyzed in the literature [41, 95, 202], and they are usually referred to as variations of the GUP; however, I will use the term GUP to refer only to the KMM construction, and the other ones will have names more specific to the properties they exhibit.

Note that it is possible to implement modified algebras (including the standard GUP) in more than one dimensions; in that case the algebra would be $[\hat{q}_i, \hat{p}_j] = i f(|p|) \delta_{ij}$ or similar forms, but by requiring that the Jacobi identities be valid a non-commutativity between different space direction is automatically induced, as explained in [95, 203]. However, given the symmetries of cosmological models, in later chapters I will mostly deal with one-dimensional systems where the Jacobi identities are usually automatically satisfied; therefore this property will not be explored here, and the following introduction to modified algebras will only talk about one-dimensional systems. Furthermore, even in multi-dimensional systems it is possible to implement a modified algebra on a single variable and, as long as this is independent from the other ones, there will be no spatial non-commutativity; as an example, for the Bianchi models in Misner variables, it is possible to implement the algebra on the isotropic variable α and leave the anisotropic sector parametrized by the variables β_{\pm} completely unaffected.

The results about the specific algebras used in this thesis (as well as a brief cosmological implementation) are published in the paper [34], while their implementation to gravitational and cosmological models, presented later in Chapter 5, are reported in the papers [36, 37].

3.3.1 Different Representations

(

First of all, there are a few different ways to implement modified algebras, corresponding to different representations i.e. different actions for the operators. Given a generic system with variables q and p, whose corresponding operators obey a modified algebra of the form

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i f(\hat{p}),$$
 (3.27)

it is easy to see that it is much simpler to study this kind of systems in the momentum polarization, where wavefunctions $\psi = \psi(p)$ are functions of the momentum. Then there are many possible representations; here I will introduce those two that are relevant for this thesis.

The first is a KMM-like representation, where the momentum operator acts multiplicatively in the same way as SQM and the position operator is differential but modified:

$$\hat{q}\,\psi(p) = i\,f(p)\,\frac{\mathrm{d}\psi}{\mathrm{d}p}, \qquad \hat{p}\,\psi(p) = p\,\psi(p); \tag{3.28}$$

then the domain of the system \mathbb{D}_q (where the subscript q indicates that it is the position operator to be modified with respect to SQM) and the corresponding scalar product in the Schrödinger picture will be

$$\mathbb{D}_q \subseteq L^2\Big(\mathbb{R}, \frac{dp}{f(p)}\Big), \qquad \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle_q = \int \frac{dp}{f(p)} \ \psi_1^* \ \psi_2; \tag{3.29}$$

the presence of the measure 1/f(p) in the scalar product is needed to ensure the symmetry of the position operator.

The second representation is somewhat opposite: here the position operator will act differentially in the same way as SQM, and it will be the momentum operator to be modified (but still multiplicative) in a similar way to the operators in PQM. Through arguments introduced in [34, 202], the action of the operators on a wavefuction $\psi(p)$ in this representation results to be

$$\hat{q}\psi(p) = i\frac{d\psi}{dp}, \qquad \hat{p}\psi(p) = G(p)\psi(p), \qquad G^{-1} = \int \frac{dp}{f(p)}, \qquad (3.30)$$

where G^{-1} indicates the inverse function. Correspondingly, the domain \mathbb{D}_p and the scalar product (in the Schrödinger picture) will be

$$\mathbb{D}_p \subseteq L^2(\mathbb{R}, dp), \qquad \langle \psi_1 | \psi_2 \rangle_p = \int dp \ \psi_1^* \psi_2. \tag{3.31}$$
Note how there is no need for a modified measure here.

The equivalence between these two representations is not yet completely clear. In a few cases, constructing wavepackets with specific profiles, they yield the same expectation values and standard deviations for observables; even in some cases where they are not the same, the dynamics appears to be similar. Nevertheless, given that the domains are different, a deeper and more thorough study from the functional analysis point of view is required, and a complete and formal equivalence has not been proven yet.

As a final note, I specified that the scalar products presented above are in the Schrödinger picture, but it is not the only possibility. Indeed, as shown in Section 2.2.1, in most cosmological models the Wheeler-DeWitt equation can be reinterpreted as a wave equation in the Klein-Gordon picture; in those cases, the term $\psi_1^*\psi_2$ is replaced by the Klein-Gordon current $i(\psi_1^*\partial_t\psi_2 - \psi_2\partial_t\psi_1^*)$, where ∂_t represents a time derivative.

3.3.2 Minimum Lengths vs Maximum Momenta

Here I introduce the specific algebras that will be used in the thesis, and show their properties mainly regarding the introduction of fundamental structures such as minimal or maximal values for some quantities. In particular, the presence of a minimal uncertainty can be obtained from the uncertainty relations: given a generic algebra $[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i f(\hat{p})$, the relations are

$$\Delta q \,\Delta p \ge \frac{|\langle [\hat{q}, \hat{p}] \rangle|}{2} \,. \tag{3.32}$$

In order to better highlight this procedure, I will start again from the original KMM construction before moving on to the other algebras.

In the original KMM GUP formulation, the algebra is

$$f_{\rm KMM}(p) = 1 + B_0 p^2.$$
 (3.33)

Using the relation $\Delta p^2 = \langle \hat{p}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2$ and solving the corresponding equality for Δp yields

$$(\Delta q \,\Delta p)_{\rm KMM} \ge \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + B_0 \,\Delta p^2 + B_0 \,\langle \hat{p} \rangle^2 \right), \tag{3.34}$$

$$\Delta p = \frac{1}{B} \left(\Delta q \pm \sqrt{\Delta q^2 - B_0 \left(1 - B_0 \left\langle \hat{p} \right\rangle^2 \right)} \right). \tag{3.35}$$

Then, in order for the square root to be real, a lower limit on Δq is obtained whose absolute minimum value appears for $\langle \hat{p} \rangle = 0$:

$$\Delta q \ge \sqrt{B_0 \left(1 + B_0 \left\langle \hat{p} \right\rangle^2\right)} , \qquad \Delta q_{\min} = \sqrt{B_0} . \tag{3.36}$$

This is exactly the absolute minimal uncertainty mentioned in the previous section.

Even though for this formulation only the representation (3.28) with the modified position operator is used, for thoroughness I report here also the action of the momentum in the other representation (3.30):

$$\hat{p}_{\text{KMM}}\psi(p) = \frac{\tan(\sqrt{B_0} p)}{\sqrt{B_0}}\psi(p).$$
 (3.37)

The KMM construction, being one of the first and most successful GUP formulations, has been widely studied and implemented in various contexts, and is probably the most famous one [62, 153, 184, 199].

The second algebra that I will study comes from the observation that the representation (3.30) where the action of the momentum p is modified looks suspiciously similar to the PQM operators, as mentioned above. Therefore, it should be possible to find an algebra that yields the exact same operators of that quantization procedure. Indeed, by asking that the momentum operator acts in the same way as PQM, i.e.

$$\hat{p}_{\rm PA}\,\psi(p) = \frac{\sin(\mu_0\,p)}{\mu_0}\,\psi(p),\tag{3.38}$$

where the subscript PA stands for Polymer Algebra, the corresponding deformed algebra results to be

$$f_{\rm PA}(p) = \sqrt{1 - \mu_0^2 p^2}$$
 (3.39)

Note that I used the same symbol μ_0 of PQM; however, once the algebra is implemented, it has nothing to do with the lattice spacing anymore and its physical meaning is just that of a deformation parameter.

Finding the uncertainty relations and solving again for Δp , the following equation is obtained:

$$\Delta p = \frac{\sqrt{1 - \mu_0^2 \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2}}{\sqrt{4\Delta q^2 + \mu_0^2}} \,. \tag{3.40}$$

it is evident how in this case there is no limit on Δq , and therefore this construction does not introduce an absolute minimal uncertainty on position like the KMM GUP. On the other hand, the numerator instead introduces an upper limit on the expectation value of the momentum operator:

$$|\langle \hat{p} \rangle| \le \frac{1}{\mu_0}.\tag{3.41}$$

This same upper limit can be obtained from other relations, such as the form of the modified eigenvalue (3.18) and the form of the algebra (3.39), since the sine is a limited function, and the commutator needs to be purely imaginary in order to allow unitarity.

This algebra was only briefly studied in the past [41, 105], but given the similarity it was then mostly replaced by Polymer Quantum Mechanics.

The third algebra is a hybrid of the previous two, i.e. with a square root similar to the Polymer Algebra but with the same plus sign of the KMM algebra. This is probably the one the has been studied the most after the original KMM construction and is sometimes called Extended GUP [41, 95, 202], but for reasons that will become clear later I will refer to it as the BGUP algebra, where the B stands for Brane.

The algebra is

$$f_{\rm BGUP}(p) = \sqrt{1 + B_0 \, p^2},$$
 (3.42)

and the corresponding uncertainty relations, solved for Δp , are

$$\Delta p = \frac{\sqrt{1 + B_0 \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2}}{\sqrt{4\Delta q^2 - B_0}}; \qquad (3.43)$$

in this case there is clearly a minimum uncertainty: requiring the denominator to be real yields

$$\Delta q_{\min} = \frac{\sqrt{B_0}}{2} \,. \tag{3.44}$$

This is very similar to the KMM minimal uncertainty; indeed, if instead in this case I had defined $f = \sqrt{1 + 2B_0 p^2}$, I would have obtained the exact same minimal uncertainty as the KMM case; it is worth noting that the KMM algebra would then correspond to the first two terms of the Taylor expansion of the BGUP algebra with the 2.

An important subtlety must be mentioned here. While in the KMM formulation the minimal value of Δq is reached for a finite value of Δp , here the minimum is attained in the limit $\Delta p \to \infty$. On the other hand, the action of the operator-valued function $\sqrt{1+B_0 \hat{p}^2}$ is complicated due to the square root, and in order to compute its expectation value and obtain the numerator in equation (3.43) a series expansion must be performed that is convergent if and only if the operator \hat{p} has finite norm, in particular if and only if $|\langle \hat{p} \rangle| \leq 1/\sqrt{B_0}$; consequently, in that case, also Δp will be bounded and the absolute minimal uncertainty cannot be obtained for this construction. Then a truncation of momentum space must be imposed externally in order for this framework to yield physical results. (This same feature of the series expansion and the convergence radius is present also in the Polymer Algebra (3.39)above because of the square-root operator, but given that in that case there is no minimal uncertainty regardless and that the truncation of momentum is intrinsic, this problem is automatically solved.) Nevertheless, since I will implement this particular algebra only on a semiclassical level, I do not need to worry about this issue. For more information on the series expansion and the truncation procedure, see [95, 202].

For thoroughness, the action of the momentum operator in the modified-p representation for the BGUP algebra is

$$\hat{p}_{\text{BGUP}}\,\psi(p) = \frac{\sinh(\sqrt{B_0}\,p)}{\sqrt{B_0}}.\tag{3.45}$$

Note the pattern where the difference of a sign under the square root with respect to the Polymer Algebra amounts to the operator being a hyperbolic sine instead of a trigonometric sine.

The final algebra that I will deal with is the other hybrid between KMM and the Polymer Algebra, i.e. with just a quadratic term but with a minus sign:

$$f_{\rm PUP}(p) = 1 - \mu_0^2 p^2, \qquad (3.46)$$

where PUP stands for Polymer Uncertainty Principle. This loosely corresponds to the first two term of the Taylor expansion of the Polymer Algebra, in a similar way to the KMM algebra being the Taylor expansion of the BGUP. Sometimes, when studying the KMM construction, the literature will briefly considers the possibility for the KMM deformation parameter B_0 to be negative, which corresponds to this algebra; however this case has not been analyzed too in depth. I studied some of its quantum mechanical properties in [31], and its application to some cosmological and gravitational systems in [34, 36]

The corresponding uncertainty relations, solved for Δp , are

$$(\Delta q \,\Delta p)_{\rm PUP} \ge \frac{1 - \mu_0^2 \,\Delta p^2 - \mu_0^2 \,\langle \hat{p} \rangle^2}{2},\tag{3.47}$$

$$\Delta p = \frac{1}{\mu_0^2} \left(-\Delta q + \sqrt{\Delta q^2 - \mu_0^2 \left(\mu_0^2 \langle \hat{p} \rangle^2 - 1\right)} \right); \tag{3.48}$$

imposing that the square root be real then yields

$$\Delta q^2 \ge \mu_0^2 \left(\mu_0^2 \left\langle \hat{p} \right\rangle^2 - 1 \right), \tag{3.49}$$

and since the right-hand side can go to zero there is no minimal uncertainty on position in this case. On the other hand, even though values of $\langle \hat{p} \rangle$ greater than $1/\mu_0$ are not prohibited and therefore here there is not a physical cut-off on momentum, differently from the Polymer Algebra, the value $\langle \hat{p} \rangle = 1/\mu_0$ is still somewhat important given that in that case one would have $\langle [\hat{q}, \hat{p}] \rangle = 0$. However also this algebra will be implemented on a semiclassical level only, and the consequences of this particular value have not been explored yet from a purely quantum mechanical point of view.

To conclude, the representation where the momentum operator is multiplicative but modified for this algebra is

$$\hat{p}_{\text{PUP}} \psi(p) = \frac{\tanh(\mu_0 \, p)}{\mu_0} \, \psi(p).$$
 (3.50)

Again, the different sign with respect to the KMM formulation changes the trigonometric function to a hyperbolic one. Furthermore, the hyperbolic tangent is also limited function, and this will be relevant in later chapters.

In this section I have shown how various forms of deformed algebra can introduce some structures that are expected in quantum gravitational theories, such as minimal lengths or momentum (i.e. energy) cut-offs, in an independent and somewhat phenomenological way. The motivations to study this kind of alternative quantization procedures are therefore clear.

3.3.3 Semiclassical Implementation

The usefulness of modified algebras can be made even more evident through their semiclassical limit, which will be the subject of this paragraph. However also for this there are a few different possibilities.

The first and most straightforward one is to downgrade the modified commutation relations to modified rules for Poisson brackets instead:

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i f(\hat{p}) \qquad \rightarrow \qquad \{q, p\} = f(p). \tag{3.51}$$

Then, given a unmodified i.e. classical Hamiltonian \mathcal{H} , it is possible to derive the (modified) equations of motion as Poisson brackets with the Hamiltonian:

$$\dot{q} = \{q, \mathcal{H}\} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial p} f(p), \qquad \dot{p} = \{p, \mathcal{H}\} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial q} f(p).$$
 (3.52)

Obviously it is expected that, in the limit $f \to 1$ (that in the cases presented above corresponds to $\mu_0 \to 0$ or $B_0 \to 0$), the classical unmodified equations of motion are recovered.

The second possibility comes from the semiclassical implementation of Polymer Quantum Mechanics, and effectively it is the semiclassical limit of the representation (3.30) where the action of the momentum is modified. It consists of a modification of the Hamiltonian where every instance of the momentum is replaced by the corresponding modified eigenvalue, i.e. the function G defined in (3.30):

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{class}}(q,p) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}_{\text{mod}}(q,p) = \mathcal{H}_{\text{class}}(q,G(p)).$$
 (3.53)

Then the equations of motion are derived with the standard Hamilton equations for the modified Hamiltonian:

$$\dot{q} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{\text{mod}}}{\partial p}, \qquad \dot{p} = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}_{\text{mod}}}{\partial q}.$$
 (3.54)

I have shown that this procedure yields the same exact modified dynamics of the previous one where the Poisson brackets are modified, at least on cosmological models [34].

Sadly, a way to implement the semiclassical limit from the KMM-like representation (3.28), where the differential operator \hat{q} is modified, is currently being researched but has not been found yet. The hope is that this third semiclassical implementation, once found, could give insight also on the possible equivalence between the two different quantum representations.

The semiclassical limit of these modified algebras is a powerful tool to explore quantum corrections to classical Hamiltonian systems. Besides, due to the Ehrenfest theorem [92], it gives an idea of what to expect from the full quantization of the system, as well as a term of comparison for the trajectories of expectation values of observables. Indeed, as mentioned earlier, I will often analyze the semiclassical system before moving on to quantization.

Chapter 4

Isotropic Polymer Cosmology

In this chapter I will implement the Polymer formulation presented in Section 3.1 to isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker model (FLRW) introduced in Section 2.1.

I will start with the semiclassical implementation, meaning that I will modify the standard Hamiltonian constraint with the Polymer substitution (3.16), replacing the momentum conjugate to the geometrical variable with a sine function. The resulting dynamics will present a non-singular Bounce, but certain features will require to compare different sets of variables.

Then I will move on to the quantum setting, promoting the variables to operators according to the Polymer formulation where, in the momentum polarization, the corresponding operator acts multiplicatively with a modified eigenvalue. I will show how PQM is able to remove the singularity also on a quantum level, in accordance with the corresponding semiclassical dynamics.

Finally I will give some comments on the dependence of the Bounce features on the geometrical variables chosen to describe the model; an attempt to recover the equivalence after discretization will have some implications for Loop Quantum Cosmology.

4.1 Semiclassical Polymer Cosmology

Here I will implement PQM on the isotropic FLRW model on a semiclassical level. As mentioned, in order to highlight the similarities and differences with LQC, I will discretize different sets of variables.

I will first consider the scale factor a as the most natural variable, showing that it provides a representation of the Universe dynamics characterized by a Bounce scenario only for supra-radiation equation of state, i.e. $P > \rho/3$, where P and ρ are the Universe pressure and energy density as in Chapter 2. This unpleasant feature implies the need to search for a suitable configuration variable such that the Polymer quantization predicts a Bounce whose features are independent of the matter filling the space, so that it can be interpreted as an intrinsic geometrodynamical property of the considered quantum gravity approach. This variable is identified in the cubed scale factor $v = a^3$, which characterizes the geometrical volume of the Universe and therefore seems to have a privileged dynamical role. These results are reported in the paper [168].

I must stress that the choice of the cubed scale factor as dynamical variable allows a direct comparison of the obtained modified Friedman equation with the one proper of the improved $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC presented in Section 2.2.2. In fact, on an effective level, the two equations retain the same form, which allows to find a precise link between the Immirzi parameter and the Polymer cut-off value. As mentioned in previous chapters, the reason for the development of this second scheme over the initial μ_0 scheme is that the latter is a straightforward minisuperspace implementation of LQG, and it has the non-trivial limitation that the basic SU(2)symmetry is essentially lost and the discretization of the area operator spectrum is somewhat introduced ad hoc, in contrast with LQG where it takes place naturally on a kinematical level.

In this respect, I will then study and compare the Polymer semiclassical dynamics of the FLRW model, as constructed in LQC, in two sets of variables: the Ashtekar connection and its conjugate variable, or the volume and its new generalized conjugate coordinate. Moreover, in order to make some comparison also on a phenomenological level between the the two sets of variables in Polymer semiclassical dynamics, I will briefly introduce in the model an additional matter component that satisfies a continuity equation with a dissipative term, namely particle creation; this way on a semiclassical level a different behaviour of entropy emerges, regarding its dependence on initial conditions. These results are included in the paper [102].

The semiclassical analysis will be the starting point for the actual quantization, that will be performed later.

4.1.1 Discretization of the Scale Factor

The homogeneous and isotropic universe is described by the RW line element (2.5), which I report here for better reference:

$$ds_{\rm RW}^2 = dt^2 - a^2(t) \, d\ell_{\rm RW}^2, \qquad \qquad d\ell_{\rm RW}^2 = \frac{dr^2}{1 - K r^2} + r^2 d\theta^2 + r^2 \sin^2(\theta) \, d\varphi^2. \tag{4.1}$$

The model is filled with a generic energy density of the form (2.13). I also choose the synchronous time gauge $\mathcal{N} = 1$ and zero spatial curvature K = 0. The Hamiltonian (2.7) then becomes

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}(a, p_a) = -\frac{1}{12} \frac{p_a^2}{a} + \overline{\rho} \, a^{-3w} = 0. \tag{4.2}$$

Assuming the scale factor a to be discretized with lattice spacing μ_a , PQM is implemented on the semiclassical level by using the Polymer substitution (3.16) on the conjugate momentum p_a ; thus the modified Hamiltonian is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}^{\rm PQM}(a, p_a) = -\frac{1}{12} \, \frac{\sin^2(\mu_a \, p_a)}{\mu_a^2 a} + \overline{\rho} \, a^{-3w} = 0. \tag{4.3}$$

Then, substituting the Hamiltonian constraint in the equation of motion for a, a modified Friedmann equation is derived where some sort of critical density appears:

$$\dot{a} = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{\sin(\mu_a \, p_a) \cos(\mu_a \, p_a)}{\mu_a \, a},\tag{4.4}$$



Figure 4.1. The Polymer-modified solutions a(t) (red continuous lines) compared with the corresponding classical solutions (black dashed lines) for the two cases w = 1/3 (left) and w = 1 (right).

$$H^{2} = \frac{\dot{a}^{2}}{a^{2}} = \frac{\rho}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{a\mu}} \right), \qquad \rho_{a\mu} = \frac{1}{12\,\mu_{a}^{2}\,a^{4}}.$$
(4.5)

Note how both this modified Friedmann equation and the Hamiltonian (4.3) are similar to the equations of effective LQC presented in Section 2.2.2; however the dynamics here was derived independently from LQG. The differences and similarities between Polymer Cosmology and LQC will be analyzed more in depth later.

The correction factor between parentheses in equation (4.5) modifies the Friedmann equation (2.9); its main implication, similarly to LQC, is the existence of a Big Bounce and turning points for the scale factor evolution, occurring at $a = a_{\rm B}$ where

$$a_{\rm B} = (12\,\mu_a^2\,\bar{\rho})^{\frac{1}{3w-1}}.\tag{4.6}$$

However, this is true only for w > 1/3 i.e. for a supraradiation equation of state parameter; when w = 1/3, as long as $12\mu_a^2\overline{\rho} < 1$, the correction factor in the modified Friedmann equation is a positive constant and the resulting dynamics has the same features of the classical case (although with a different constant that slightly changes the approach to the singularity); for all other cases, there exist no real solution for the scale factor such that $\dot{a} = 0$, and therefore a Bounce cannot be derived.

The solutions a(t) for the two cases w = 1/3 and w = 1 are shown in Figure 4.1. It is evident how, in the case w = 1, the Polymer-modified solution does not go the singularity but has a positive minimum value at $a = a_{\rm B}$ and the classical Big Bang and Big Crunch are replaced with a Big Bounce.

The presence and position of the Bounce are therefore determined by the matter filling the Universe. Thus, with the aim of obtaining a Bounce and turning points related to geometrical properties only, it is possible to implement a canonical transformation which allows to find a critical density independent from the scale factor. The same issue is solved in LQC by the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme, in which the holonomy correction is assumed to be metric dependent in order to derive a constant critical energy density, as explained in Section 2.2.2. The analysis below achieves the same result from the point of view of Polymer quantization, fixing a proper correspondence between PQM in the minisuperspace and the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC.

4.1.2 Specialization to the Volume Variable

I will now introduce a new configurational variable f = f(a) defined as a generic function of the scale factor and whose conjugate momentum reads as

$$p_f = \frac{p_a}{f'(a)}.\tag{4.7}$$

This way, the classical Hamiltonian (2.7) becomes

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{FLRW}}(f, p_f) = -\frac{1}{12} \frac{p_f^2(f')^2}{a} + \overline{\rho} a^{-3w} = 0; \qquad (4.8)$$

then I implement the Polymer substitution (3.16) on p_f , thus obtaining

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{FLRW}}(f, p_f) = -\frac{1}{12} \frac{(f')^2}{\mu_f^2 a} \sin^2(\mu_f \, p_f) + \overline{\rho} a^{-3w} = 0. \tag{4.9}$$

Note that by design in PQM the relevant variable to be discretized is chosen before the implementation of the substitution (or before quantization in the quantum setting); the implications of performing a canonical transformation after discretization will be analyzed later.

Now the equation of motion for a and the corresponding modified Friedmann equation will contain f and its derivative (note that there is also a derivative dp_f/dp_a that simplifies one power of f'):

$$\dot{a} = -\frac{1}{6} \frac{f'}{\mu_f a} \sin(\mu_f p_f) \cos(\mu_f p_f), \qquad (4.10)$$

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{f\mu}} \right), \qquad \rho_{f\mu} = \frac{(f')^{2}}{12 \,\mu_{f}^{2} \,a^{4}}. \tag{4.11}$$

Therefore, in order to have a constant critical density $\rho_{f\mu}$, it must be $f \propto a^3$; I will choose the following volume variable:

$$f(a) = a^3 = v,$$
 $p_v = \frac{p_a}{3a^2}.$ (4.12)

The corresponding Polymer-modified Hamiltonian, modified Friedmann equation and solution then are

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}^{\rm PQM}(v, p_v) = \frac{3}{4\mu_v^2} \sin^2(\mu_v \, p_v) \, v + \overline{\rho} \, v^{-w} = 0, \tag{4.13}$$

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{v}}{3v}\right)^{2} = \frac{\rho}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{v\mu}}\right), \qquad \rho_{v\mu} = \frac{3}{4\mu_{v}^{2}}, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$v(t) = \left(v_{\rm B}^{1+w} + \frac{3}{4} \,(1+w)^2 \,\overline{\rho} \,t^2\right)^{\frac{1}{1+w}}, \qquad v_{\rm B}^{1+w} = \frac{\overline{\rho}}{\rho_{v\mu}} = \frac{4 \,\mu_v^2 \,\overline{\rho}}{3}, \qquad (4.15)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where $v_{\rm B} = v(0)$ is the value of the geometrical volume at the Bounce. As expected, the critical energy density $\rho_{v\mu}$ is now a constant, and a Bouncing solution can be found for all $w \neq -1$. Besides, it is clear how in the limit $\mu_v \to 0$, $v_{\rm B} \to 0$ and the classical solutions presented previously in Section 2.1 are recovered.

4.1.3 Ashtekar Connection vs Volume

I will now apply the Polymer representation to the FLRW Universe filled with matter in the form of a free scalar field ϕ . I will use both the Ashtekar variables (s, p_s) and the volume variables (v, p_v) . I will consider the variables $s = a^2$ and $v = a^3$ as discrete and therefore use the substitution (3.16) on the conjugate momenta $p_s \propto \dot{a}$ and $p_v \propto \dot{a}/a$. In order to make the comparison with LQC more evident, I start from a slightly different Hamiltonian that has some different constants with respect to the usual FLRW Hamiltonian (2.7), in particular the Immirzi parameter [122, 197]; therefore the two Polymer-modified Hamiltonian constraints in the area variable sand in the volume variable v are

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}^{\rm PQM}(s, p_s; \phi, p_{\phi}) = -\frac{3}{\Gamma^2 \mu_s^2} \sqrt{s} \, \sin^2(\mu_s \, p_s) + \rho_{\phi} \, s^{\frac{3}{2}} = 0, \qquad \rho_{\phi} = \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{2s^3}; \quad (4.16)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}^{\rm PQM}(v, p_v; \phi, p_\phi) = -\frac{27}{4\Gamma^2 \mu_v^2} v \, \sin^2(\mu_v \, p_v) + \rho_\phi \, v = 0, \qquad \rho_\phi = \frac{p_\phi^2}{2v^2}; \quad (4.17)$$

where Γ is the aforementioned Immirzi parameter, p_{ϕ} is the momentum conjugate to the scalar field ϕ and is a constant of motion, and μ_v and μ_s are the Polymer lattice steps related to the corresponding variables and are constants.

Thanks to the equations of motion and the Hamiltonian constraints, the analytic expressions for the modified Friedmann equations are derived:

$$H_{s}^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{s}}{2s}\right)^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\rho_{s\mu}}\right), \qquad \rho_{s\mu} = \frac{3}{\Gamma^{2} \,\mu_{s}^{2} \,s}; \tag{4.18}$$

$$H_{v}^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{v}}{3v}\right)^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\rho_{v\mu}}\right), \qquad \rho_{v\mu} = \frac{27}{4\Gamma^{2}\mu_{v}^{2}}.$$
 (4.19)

Two regularizing energy densities ρ_{μ} appear in the correction factors; both introduce a critical point in the evolution of H^2 . On one hand, $\rho_{s\mu}$ depends on time ϕ and on the constant of motion p_{ϕ} through s, as I will show below, but its presence still makes it so that, when $\rho_{\phi} = \rho_{s\mu}$, the critical point is reached and a Big Bounce appears; on the other hand, $\rho_{v\mu}$ depends only on fundamental constants and is a proper critical energy density. The dynamics is again very similar to effective LQC, but the expression for the Bounce densities are different from those in equations (2.63) and (2.64) since the corrections come from different, although related, quantization procedures.

I will now consider the scalar field ϕ as the internal time for the dynamics by fixing the gauge $\dot{\phi} = 1$. The effective Friedmann equations can be solved analytically:

$$\left(\frac{1}{s}\frac{ds}{d\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{2}{3}\left(1 - \frac{\Gamma^2 \mu_0^2}{6}\frac{p_\phi^2}{s^2}\right), \qquad s(\phi) = \frac{\Gamma \mu_0}{\sqrt{6}} p_\phi \cosh\left(\sqrt{\frac{2}{3}}\phi\right); \tag{4.20}$$

$$\left(\frac{1}{v}\frac{dv}{d\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{3}{2}\left(1 - \frac{4\Gamma^2\mu_0^2}{54}\frac{p_\phi^2}{v^2}\right), \qquad v(\phi) = \frac{2\Gamma\mu_0}{3\sqrt{6}}p_\phi\,\cosh\left(\sqrt{\frac{3}{2}}\,\phi\right). \tag{4.21}$$

As shown in figure 4.2, the Polymer trajectories of s and v decrease (as expected classically) until they reach the quantum era where the effects of quantum geometry



Figure 4.2. The Polymer-modified trajectories (red continuous lines) of s (left) and v (right) as functions of time ϕ , compared with the classical unmodified solutions (black dashed lines).

become dominant; they then reach a non-zero minimum and start to increase again. The resulting dynamics is that of a Bouncing Universe replacing the classical singularities.

4.1.4 Phenomenology with Particle Creation

Here I introduce particle creation with the aim of finding a phenomenological signature of the two semiclassical schemes presented above. Since this is a dissipative phenomenon, the assumption of constant entropy is replaced by that of constant entropy per particle.

By introducing a non-zero chemical potential, a new term parametrizing particle creation appears in the continuity equation for the energy density [71, 165, 167]:

$$\dot{\rho} + 3 H \rho (1+w) = 0 \quad \rightarrow \quad \dot{\rho} + 3 H \rho (1+w) \left(1 - \left| \frac{\mathrm{d} \ln N}{\mathrm{d} \ln v} \right| \right) = 0,$$
 (4.22)

where N here is the number of particles in the comoving volume. Given that a constant entropy per particle $\frac{dS}{dN} = \text{const.}$ is assumed, the number of particles is directly proportional to the total entropy S produced. This request ensures that the entropy production is strictly due to the particle creation process, and it has no relation with the physics or the dynamics of each single particle. Furthermore, the resulting proportionality between the entropy and the particle number is immediately translated into the proportionality of the entropy density and the particle number (133], since, for instance, for the radiation component considered in the numerical analysis below (whose presence is naturally expected in the very early Universe), the following relation holds:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}S_{\gamma}}{\mathrm{d}N_{\gamma}} = \frac{\rho_{\gamma} + p_{\gamma}}{T} = \frac{4}{3} \frac{\rho_{\gamma}}{T} \propto \frac{\mathrm{d}N_{\gamma}}{\mathrm{d}v},\tag{4.23}$$

where the subscript γ is used here to indicate the radiation fluid. There is no physical reason that the request of a constant entropy per particle be an assumption phenomenologically inadequate to the quantum evolution of the Universe, especially in the present scenario, in which the matter creation phenomenon is considered on an expanding Polymer-modified background.

With the addition of this new component, the Friedmann equations (4.18) and (4.19) rewrite as

$$H_s^2 = \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\gamma}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\gamma}{\rho_{s\mu}} \right), \tag{4.24}$$

$$H_v^2 = \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\gamma}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\gamma}{\rho_{v\mu}} \right). \tag{4.25}$$

In order to solve these equations, I make the usual ansatz [167]

$$\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln N}{\mathrm{d}\ln v}\right| \propto H^{2b},\tag{4.26}$$

where b is a free parameter. Therefore the continuity equation for $\rho_{\gamma}(v)$ rewrites as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\rho_{\gamma}}{\mathrm{d}v} + \frac{\rho_{\gamma}}{v} \left(1+w\right) \left(1 - \left(\frac{H}{\overline{H}}\right)^{2b}\right) = 0. \tag{4.27}$$

The ansatz above has a phenomenological character and, by the direct proportionality between the particle creation rate and the Universe expansion rate H, the physical origin of particle creation is identified with the rapid time variation of the primordial gravitational field. In the context of a Bouncing cosmology, this proportionality has the significant implication that near the Bounce, where the expansion rate Hvanishes, the matter creation is correspondingly suppressed. In other words, the process of matter creation has a major impact on the Universe dynamics in an intermediate region between the minimal volume and the late Universe. However, this maximum of matter creation concerns a very primordial phase, when the energy is still of comparable order to the critical value.

The ansatz (4.26) and the corresponding continuity equation (4.27) contain two phenomenological parameters b and \overline{H} . The first is taken in the numerical analysis below of order unity, since there are no reasonable indications for its deviation from the classical setting. For what concerns \overline{H} , the only important constraint comes from avoiding that matter creation affects the de Sitter phase of an inflationary scenario. Otherwise, in the opposite case, a spectrum of inhomogeneous perturbations that is different than the natural scale invariant one could be obtained [220]. This consideration suggests that the value of \overline{H} must be such that the matter creation is strongly suppressed before inflation starts, for example for a Universe temperature of order $\leq 10^{15} \, GeV$. However, in this study the value of \overline{H} is chosen to obtain the maximum of matter creation close the Planckian phase of the Universe (where the Polymer modifications are relevant), as stressed above. Finally, I consider the contribution of all relativistic species as a single effect, and therefore the value of \overline{H} is actually meant to represent an average effect over all ultrarelativistic matter species.

Note that modifying the continuity equation as in (4.22) while keeping the same form for the modified Friedmann equations (except for the presence of the new



Figure 4.3. Left: number of particles as function of time ϕ . Right: number of final particles as function of the initial condition p_{ϕ} . Ashtekar variables in blue, volume variables in red.

radiation component), unavoidably leads to a modified form of the acceleration equations as follows:

$$\frac{\ddot{s}}{2s} = \frac{\rho}{2} \left(\frac{1}{3} - w \left(1 - 2\frac{\rho}{\rho_{s\mu}} \right) + \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln N}{\mathrm{d}\ln v} \right| (1+w) \left(1 - 2\frac{\rho}{\rho_{s\mu}} \right) \right), \tag{4.28}$$

$$\frac{\ddot{v}}{3v} = \frac{\rho}{2} \left(1 - w \left(1 - 2\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\nu\mu}} \right) + \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}\ln N}{\mathrm{d}\ln v} \right| (1+w) \left(1 - 2\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\nu\mu}} \right) \right).$$
(4.29)

The new term $\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}\ln N}{\mathrm{d}\ln v}\right|$ acts as a positive energy density and could therefore drive the acceleration when $\rho < \frac{\rho_{\mu}}{2}$, that is away from the Planck regime; however, given the ansatz (4.26), in the late universe the Hubble parameter decays and particle creation is strongly suppressed, so the additional term cannot act as a suitable candidate to explain a de Sitter-like phase of expansion, as suggested for example in [30, 143, 189].

Now it is possible to numerically solve eq. (4.27) for $\rho_{\gamma}(v)$ and to find $v(\phi)$ and $N(\phi)$ from the Friedmann equations (4.24), (4.25) and from the ansatz (4.26) respectively. In the left panel of Figure 4.3 the evolution of the total number of particles as function of time ϕ is shown; it is clear how, in the case of the Ashtekar variables, the production of particles (and therefore of entropy) is negligible with respect to the volume representation. The right panel shows instead the final number of particles in the two cases as function of the initial condition p_{ϕ} ; a greater value of p_{ϕ} (and therefore a more dominant scalar field density) suppresses the creation of particles in both cases, while on the other hand for small values of p_{ϕ} the creation grows appreciably. It is worth stressing that the different behaviour outlined here between the entropy creation in the polymerization of the Ashtekar connection or of the volume variable has a precise physical meaning in the Polymer paradigm only. However, since in the considered semiclassical dynamics when matter creation is absent the two Polymer pictures mimic the μ_0 and $\overline{\mu}$ schemes of LQC respectively, it is legit to suppose that these results might be valid also in the LQC theory and could represent an important phenomenological difference between the two schemes.

Another possible avenue to derive phenomenological predictions could be the computation of corrections to the primordial Power Spectrum of perturbations, which could be observable on the Cosmic Microwave Background (CMB). Some work in the context of LQC has already been done [59, 60, 70], and a comparison with the corrections induced by a PQM-modified background could be used to further differentiate between the two sets of variables presented in this section, clearly linked to the two different schemes of LQC.

I studied corrections to the primordial Power Spectrum in a different cosmological background, which does not present a Bounce but an asymptotically Einstein-static phase that is still able to remove the singularity; this was obtained through a variation of the GUP representation inspired by PQM, and will be presented later in Section 5.2.

4.2 Quantum Polymer Cosmology

In this section the main purpose is to promote the system to a quantum level, starting from the Hamiltonian constraint in its quantum counterpart and applying Dirac quantization [90, 91] directly to the fundamental variables in order to obtain the WDW equation. The variables are directly promoted to a quantum level, the Poisson brackets to commutators and the constraints to operators; the latter, when applied to the quantum states, will select physical states and yield the WDW equation (2.42). This procedure will lead to the dynamics whereby the system will fix ψ as an eigenstate for the Hamiltonian with vanishing eigenvalue. The results of this section are included in [102].

4.2.1 Quantum Analysis in the Ashtekar Variables

To implement the Dirac quantization method, the fundamental variables are promoted to quantum operators according to the Polymer prescription (3.18):

$$\hat{s} = -i\frac{\Gamma}{3}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_s}, \qquad \hat{p}_s = \frac{\sin(\mu_s \, p_s)}{\mu_s}, \qquad \hat{p}_\phi = -i\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi}. \tag{4.30}$$

Given the Hamiltonian in the Ashtekar variable s, the corresponding constraint operator in the momentum representation acts as

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\text{FLRW}}^{\text{PQM}}\psi(p_s,\phi) = \left(-\frac{2}{3\,\mu_s^2} \left(\sin(\mu_s\,p_s)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_s}\right)^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2}\right)\psi(p_s,\phi) = 0.$$
(4.31)

This mixed factor ordering for the term $\hat{s}^2 \hat{p}_s^2$ allows for the interpretation of this differential equation as a Klein-Gordon-like equation; indeed it admits a conserved current and the expectation value of a generic operator \hat{O} can be found through a Klein-Gordon-like scalar product similar to (2.46):

$$\langle \psi | \hat{O} | \psi \rangle = \int_{-\frac{\pi}{\mu_s}}^{+\frac{\pi}{\mu_s}} \frac{dp_s}{\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\mu_s \sqrt{3}} \sin(\mu_s p_s)} i\left(\psi^* \partial_\phi(\hat{O}\psi) - (\hat{O}\psi) \partial_\phi\psi^*\right).$$
(4.32)

Thanks to the substitution to the auxiliary variable $x_s = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \ln \left| \tan\left(\frac{\mu_s p_s}{2}\right) \right| + \overline{x}_s$, where \overline{x}_s is an irrelevant integration constant that will therefore be set to zero, equation (4.31) becomes a massless Klein-Gordon equation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x_s^2}\psi(x_s,\phi) = \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2}\psi(x_s,\phi),\tag{4.33}$$



Figure 4.4. Left: the expectation value of the energy density as function of time for a fixed value of \overline{k}_{ϕ} (blue dots); right: the expectation value of the energy density at the time ϕ_B of the Bounce as function of \overline{k}_{ϕ} (blue dots). Both have been fitted with a function in accordance with the semiclassical evolution (continuous red line).

where ψ can be written as a planewave superposition: $\psi(x_s, \phi) = e^{-ik_s x_s} e^{-ik_\phi \phi}$, and the dispersion relation yields $k_s^2 = k_{\phi}^2$. The solution to this equation can be stated in the form of a Gaussian-like localized wavepacket:

$$\Psi(x_s,\phi) = \int_0^\infty dk_\phi \; \frac{e^{-\frac{(k_\phi - \bar{k}_\phi)^2}{2\sigma^2}}}{\sqrt{4\pi\sigma^2}} \, k_\phi \, e^{ik_\phi x_s} \, e^{-ik_\phi \phi}, \tag{4.34}$$

where I have chosen incoming planewaves with $k_x = -k_{\phi}$. Here σ and \bar{k}_{ϕ} are the variance and the position of the peak of the Gaussian profile, k_{ϕ} is the energy-like eigenvalue of the operator \hat{p}_{ϕ} , and its positive or negative values select collapsing or expanding solutions respectively.

Now, in order to investigate the non-singular behaviour of the model, I will compute the expectation value of the energy density operator $\hat{\rho}_{\phi} = \frac{\hat{p}_{\phi}^2}{2\hat{s}^3}$. In what follows, all the mean values and variances of the relevant operators have been computed using the auxiliary variable x_s inside the scalar product (4.32), so that the results are given by

$$\langle \Psi | \hat{O} | \Psi \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx_s \ i \left(\psi^* \,\partial_\phi(\hat{O}\psi) - (\hat{O}\psi) \,\partial_\phi \psi^* \right), \tag{4.35}$$

where the wavefunctions are assumed to be normalized. I remark that the transformation from p_s to x_s in the minisuperspace preserves the expectation values of the physical observables.

Figure 4.4 shows the time evolution of $\langle \hat{\rho}_{\phi}(\phi) \rangle$ for a fixed value of \overline{k}_{ϕ} and the maximum $\langle \hat{\rho}_{\phi}(\phi_B) \rangle$, i.e. the expectation value of the Bounce density, that results to be inversely proportional to \overline{k}_{ϕ} , in accordance with the semiclassical critical energy density (4.18). The points representing the quantum expectation values were obtained through numerical integration and have been fitted with the full lines; they are in accordance with the semiclassical trajectories when taking into account numerical effects and quantum fluctuations. Note that the action of the energy density operator expressed as function of x_s has been simplified thanks to the hypothesis of a sufficiently localized wavepacket.

The non-diverging nature of the energy density of the primordial Universe clearly implies, in view of its scalar and physical nature, the existence of a minimum non-zero volume (although strongly dependent on the initial conditions), thus confirming the replacement of the singularity with a Bounce also in the quantum system. A more precise assessment of the nature of the Bounce would require also a careful analysis of the variance of the density and the moments of the quantum probability, as done for instance in [56], but already at this level the existence of a Bounce is a solid prediction of this model.

4.2.2 Quantum Analysis in the Volume Variable

I will now implement the quantization procedure on the system expressed in the volume variable v and its conjugate momentum p_v . This procedure is very similar to the previous one and to the equivalent Loop quantization performed in [25, 29]. Therefore I will report only the most relevant results.

The fundamental variables, when promoted to operators in the Polymer framework (3.18), act as

$$\hat{v} = -i\frac{\Gamma}{3}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_v}, \qquad \hat{p}_v = \frac{\sin(\mu_v \, p_v)}{\mu_v}, \qquad \hat{p}_\phi = -i\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\phi}, \tag{4.36}$$

and the action of the quantum Hamiltonian constraint becomes

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}}_{\text{FLRW}}^{\text{PQM}}\psi(p_v,\phi) = \left(-\frac{3}{2\mu_v^2} \left(\sin(\mu_v \, p_v)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_v}\right)^2 + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2}\right)\psi(p_v,\phi) = 0.$$
(4.37)

In this case the appropriate substitution to use is simply $x_v = \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \ln \left| \tan\left(\frac{\mu_v p_v}{2}\right) \right| + \overline{x}_v$; this leads to the same massless Klein-Gordon equation of the previous case and allows to write its solution in the x_v -representation as a Gaussian-like wavepacket:

$$\Psi(x_{v},\phi) = \int_{0}^{\infty} dk_{\phi} \; \frac{e^{-\frac{(k_{\phi}-\bar{k}_{\phi})^{2}}{2\sigma^{2}}}}{\sqrt{4\pi\sigma^{2}}} k_{\phi} e^{ik_{\phi}x_{v}} e^{-ik_{\phi}\phi}.$$
(4.38)

Now the procedure is exactly the same as before; the operators of interest in this case are both the volume \hat{v} and the energy density $\hat{\rho}_{\phi} = \frac{\hat{p}_{\phi}^2}{2\hat{v}^2}$. Again I will use the same Klein-Gordon scalar product (4.32) (except for a numerical constant) to calculate their expectation values; their action is derived from (4.36). In figures 4.5 the expectation values of the volume $\langle \hat{v}(\phi) \rangle$ and density $\langle \hat{\rho}_{\phi}(\phi) \rangle$ as functions of time are shown. In the left panel of figure 4.6 the value $\langle \hat{v}(\phi_B) \rangle$ of the volume at the Bounce is shown as function of the initial value \overline{k}_{ϕ} ; the minimum volume scales linearly with the energy-like eigenvalue, in accordance with the semiclassical expression for $v(\phi)$ given in (4.21). Then in the right panel of the same figure the Bounce density $\langle \hat{\rho}_{\phi}(\phi_B) \rangle$ is shown for different values of \overline{k}_{ϕ} ; in accordance with the semiclassical critical energy density, the density at the Bounce in the new variables does not depend on the initial conditions of the system (or of the wavepacket in the quantum analysis).

The fact that in this set of variables the critical energy density of the Universe is fixed and does not depend on initial conditions is related to the volume itself being



Figure 4.5. Expectation values of the volume (left) and of the energy density (right) as functions of time for a fixed value of \overline{k}_{ϕ} (blue dots), fitted with functions in accordance with the semiclassical evolution (continuous red lines). The error bars are calculated as the standard deviation of the corresponding operators.



Figure 4.6. Expectation values of the volume (left) and of the density (right) at the time ϕ_B of the Bounce as functions of \overline{k}_{ϕ} (blue dots), fitted with functions in accordance with the semiclassical evolution (full red lines).

chosen as the configurational variable for the Polymer quantization of the system. However, even if this representation is preferable on the grounds that it yields an universal Bounce scenario that is physically more acceptable, this choice is clearly dynamically inequivalent to the Ashtekar variables (s, p_s) that are the only SU(2)choice in LQC. Actually, in the next section I will show that, although it is possible on a semiclassical level to recover the physical equivalence between the two sets of variables, this leads in the Polymer representation to a translational operator whose implementation on the states constitutes a non-trivial issue.

4.3 The Problem of Equivalence

The focus of the this analysis is the physical interpretation of the two frameworks, both in the Polymer and in the LQC theories, and the link between the improved $\overline{\mu}$ scheme performed in [25, 26] and the original μ_0 scheme presented in [24]. The analysis performed via the improved LQC Hamiltonian in [25] seems to be affected by an ambiguous change of variables, which is required in order to restore a standard translational operator with constant step. In fact, the Universe volume (i.e. the cubed cosmic scale factor) has its own conjugate variable corresponding to a redefined generalized coordinate which does not implement LQG features into the symmetries of the minisuperspace in the same way as with the original SU(2) Ashtekar connection.

In this respect, from the point of view of PQM I will show how, on a semiclassical level, restoring the natural Ashtekar gauge connection after the lattice has been implemented on the volume variable is formally equivalent to considering the basic lattice parameter as a function of the momentum variable; accounting for this redefinition of the Polymer parameter, the Universe volume obeys the same dynamical equations in the two sets of variables. Thus, the contribution of this analysis is twofold: on one hand, the Polymer quantization of the isotropic Universe implies that considering the connection induced by the full theory as the privileged variable leads to a Bouncing dynamics whose maximum density is not fixed a priori by fundamental constants; on the other hand, I will also provide a brief argument in favor of the viability of the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC in the volume variable, by showing in the Polymer framework its semiclassical equivalence to the analysis in the natural Ashtekar connection.

Above I stressed that in the Polymer framework the Universe always possesses a Bouncing point in the past both in a semiclassical and in a pure quantum description, with the difference that when the natural connection p_s is used the maximal density is fixed by the initial conditions on the system, while when using the redefined variable v the Bounce density depends on fundamental constants and the Immirzi parameter only. In this respect, the Polymer quantization introduces a minimal value to the geometrical operators area and volume with $s \propto a^2$ and $v \propto a^3$ respectively. In the first case, by discretizing the area element also the volume results to be regularized since a Bouncing cosmology emerges, but with different implications on the behaviour of the critical energy density. Consequently, these two representations clearly appear dynamically and physically not equivalent (see [13, 84, 103] for similar not equivalent behaviours in Polymer Cosmology). However, I must stress that both polymerization procedures, in terms of the Ashtekar connection and the volume variable, have some physical link to the background LQC kinematics. The first is justified by the direct interpretation in terms of the right SU(2) connection adopted in LQC, while the latter refers to the kinematical result about its spectrum discretization [195]. In other words, polymerizing the Ashtekar connection means giving LQG features to the natural variable in which the Loop setup is formulated; on the same footing, polymerizing the volume corresponds to attributing a discrete structure to the quantum representation of this geometrical operator, as in the original LQG theory.

Let me now compare the semiclassical dynamics in both sets of variables in search of a physical link between the two representations. Starting from the Polymermodified system in the (v, p_v) representation, the canonical transformation to the natural Ashtekar connection is

$$s = v^{\frac{2}{3}}, \qquad p_s = \frac{3}{2} p_v v^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$
 (4.39)

To realize a transformation in the Polymer construction, the condition $\mu_v p_v = \mu_1 p_s$ must hold in order to map the Polymer Hamiltonian written in the variables (v, p_v) to the one in terms of the new variables (s, p_s) and make the Polymer-modified Poisson brackets (3.39) formally invariant:

$$\{p_v, v\} = \frac{\Gamma}{3}\sqrt{1 - \mu_v^2 p_v^2} = \frac{\Gamma}{3}\sqrt{1 - \mu_1^2 p_s^2} = \{p_s, s\}.$$
(4.40)

A new Polymer parameter μ_1 appears that depends on the configurational variable:

$$\mu_1 = \frac{2}{3} \,\mu_v \, v^{-\frac{1}{3}} = \frac{2}{3} \,\frac{\mu_v}{\sqrt{s}}.\tag{4.41}$$

The last dependence of μ_1 on s is the same of $\overline{\mu}(\mu)$ in equation (2.55) for the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC.

After introducing a dependence of the Polymer parameter from the configurational variable under a transformation, it is commutative to write the transformed Hamiltonian and to introduce the Polymer substitution (3.16). Therefore it is expected that also the equations of motion for the two different sets of variables will be mapped using (4.39) and (4.41):

$$\dot{s} = \frac{2}{3} v^{-\frac{1}{3}} \dot{v} = \frac{\Gamma}{3} \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial p_s} = -\frac{2}{\Gamma \mu_1} \sqrt{s} \sin(\mu_1 p_s) \cos(\mu_1 p_s), \qquad (4.42)$$

$$\dot{p}_{s} = \frac{3}{2} \dot{p}_{v} v^{\frac{1}{3}} + \frac{1}{2} p_{v} v^{-\frac{2}{3}} \dot{v} = -\frac{\Gamma}{3} \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial s} = \\ = \frac{1}{\sqrt{s}} \left(\frac{\sin^{2}(\mu_{1} p_{s})}{2 \Gamma \mu_{1}^{2}} - \frac{p_{s}}{\Gamma \mu_{1}} \sin(\mu_{1} p_{s}) \cos(\mu_{1} p_{s}) + \frac{\Gamma p_{\phi}^{2}}{4 s^{2}} \right).$$

$$(4.43)$$

For comparison, the equations of motion in the (s, p_s) representation are

$$\dot{s} = -\frac{2}{\Gamma \mu_s} \sqrt{s} \, \sin(\mu_s \, p_s) \cos(\mu_s \, p_s), \qquad (4.44)$$

$$\dot{p}_s = \frac{1}{3} \left(\frac{3}{\Gamma \,\mu_0^2} \, \frac{1}{2\sqrt{s}} \, \sin^2(\mu_s \, p_s) + \frac{3\Gamma}{4} \frac{p_\phi^2}{s^{5/2}} \right). \tag{4.45}$$

Note that (4.42) is formally the same as (4.44), but the dependence of μ_1 on s changes the solution, while (4.43) for the connection p_s results to be different from (4.45) because of the dependence of the Polymer parameter μ_1 on s. Therefore, on a semiclassical level, there exists a physical equivalence in the evolution of s and v. Indeed, thanks to (4.41), the regularizing density $\rho_{s\mu}$ in (4.18) turns out to be the same critical energy density $\rho_{v\mu}$ of (4.19):

$$\rho_{s\mu} = \frac{3}{\Gamma^2 \,\mu_1^2 \,s} = \frac{27}{4 \,\Gamma^2 \,\mu_v^2} = \rho_{v\mu} \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Also the effective Friedmann equation in the time gauge $\dot{\phi} = 1$ reads as

$$\left(\frac{1}{s}\frac{ds}{d\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{2}{3}\left(1 - \frac{4\Gamma^2 \mu_v^2 p_\phi^2}{54} \frac{p_\phi^2}{s^3}\right)$$
(4.47)

and it clearly reduces to (4.21) using (4.39). The Bounce of the Universe volume has the same properties in the two sets of variables only by considering the new Polymer parameter μ_1 to be dependent on s.

However, in its natural formulation PQM is associated to a lattice (that has a constant spacing by construction) only after the dynamics is assigned and after the change of variables in the classical Hamiltonian has been performed, and indeed the difference between the two schemes consists in choosing the variable for which the lattice parameter is constant: transforming into the natural Ashtekar connection from the volume-like momentum after the Polymer framework has been implemented yields a Polymer parameter depending on the configurational coordinate, and unfortunately this request prevents a full quantum analysis of the problem since it produces a translational operator that cannot be implemented. This analysis highlights the privileged nature of the variable for which the Polymer parameter is taken constant, since the physical results depend on it. In particular, if in Polymer semiclassical cosmology one starts from assigning a lattice in the Ashtekar variables and then performs a transformation to the volume ones, obtaining a non-constant spacing, the resulting cosmology would still be a Bouncing one with a cut-off energy density depending on initial conditions; on the other hand, starting from the volume variables, one would have a universal Bouncing cosmology in both sets, with the difference that the Polymer parameter would not be constant in the Ashtekar ones. Hence in Polymer Cosmology the use of the Ashtekar or volume variables leads to two different, inequivalent physical pictures. Far from defining an equivalence between the μ_0 and the $\overline{\mu}$ schemes of LQC, I simply stress that the latter would just correspond to dealing with a Polymer parameter depending on the configurational variable when seen in the Ashtekar connection instead of the volume one. This result encourages the thought that the conclusions gained in [26] after a change of basis has been performed can be obtained on the semiclassical level (and hopefully in the quantum too) also in the Ashtekar variables: the critical density of the Universe takes an absolute value, independent on the initial conditions on the semiclassical system or on the quantum wave packet.

The problem of equivalence addressed here has a deep physical meaning since it involves the real nature of the so-called Big Bounce: is it an intrinsic cut-off on the cosmological dynamics or is it a primordial turning point fixed by initial conditions on the quantum Universe? The present analysis suggests that the second case appears more natural in Polymer Cosmology if it is referred to LQG, since the quantum implementation of the Ashtekar connection produces results in accordance with the original analysis in [26].

As described in Section 2.2.2, in the original formulation of LQC the dynamics of the isotropic Universe is described via the canonical couple (s, p_s) . The fundamental states of the theory, denoted by $|\mu\rangle$, are eigenstates of the momentum operator; while the operator \hat{p}_s remains undefined, an exponential translational operator can be defined via equation (2.49). Now, the choice of the μ_0 or $\overline{\mu}$ scheme amounts to giving the minimum area eigenvalue a kinematical or dynamical character, i.e. in choosing (2.52) or (2.55) [25, 26, 29, 54]. In the $\overline{\mu}$ scheme of LQC the basic relation for the minimum area states the necessity to deal with physical values of the area spectrum properly scaled by the momentum (i.e. the squared scale factor). In this case, the implementation of the translational operator (2.56) becomes more natural through the change to the variable ν , i.e. to a volume-like coordinate (this is immediate observing that $\overline{\mu} \propto 1/\sqrt{\mu}$). This change of basis can be thought of as the passage from a translational operator with *s*-dependent step to a representation that defines a natural constant spacing in the μ space. This situation is similar to the case discussed in the Polymer formulation, when in equation (4.41) the lattice step was promoted to a function of the generalized coordinate to restore the invariance of the semiclassical dynamics.

Since on a semiclassical level the Polymer and LQC dynamics are comparable and I have shown that the physical properties of the Universe are dictated by the representation with a constant lattice step, it is possible to infer an interesting feature of LQC. At least on a semiclassical level, the use of the volume coordinate is legitimated on the same level as the Ashtekar connection (the privileged choice in LQG), because the universal value of the critical energy density (that is independent from \overline{k}_{ϕ}), observed in the former case, would remain valid also for the evolution of the latter framework as long as the non-constant lattice parameter is taken into account. In this respect, the proof of the complete equivalence of the μ_0 and $\overline{\mu}$ schemes of LQC (clearly absent in the quantum Polymer picture, as shown by this analysis, where a constant lattice step is considered) would require the non-trivial technical question of addressing the action of a translational operator with a coordinate-dependent step.

Chapter 5

Cosmology with Modified Algebras

In this chapter I will implement the Modified Algebras introduced in Section 3.3 to different cosmological models, both on a semiclassical and on a quantum level.

I will start by the semiclassical implementation of the four algebras on the Bianchi I model presented in Section 2.1.3, with particular attention on whether they are able to remove the singularity and in their ability to reproduce other quantum cosmological theories such as Polymer Cosmology and Brane Cosmology. Then I will focus on two specific algebra to implement on a quantum level, showing that although the expectation values do follow the corresponding semiclassical trajectories, the fact that wavepackets spread means that the semiclassical formulation is predictive only to a certain point and the cosmological singularity must be treated in a full quantum picture. This cosmological model has been chosen as the first and most straightforward generalization of the isotropic Universe; indeed, in the limit of zero anisotropies $\beta_{\pm} \rightarrow 0$, the Bianchi I model reduces exactly to the flat FLRW model.

One particular algebra will then be analyzed more in depth, due to its ability to remove the singularity through an asymptotic phase and to reproduce the socalled Emergent Universe model. Classically, the latter can be obtained only through a specific fine-tuning of initial conditions, while this algebra implements the asymptotically static phase in a natural way. Then I will also study corrections to the primordial Power Spectrum of perturbations, giving an observational signature and a procedure to compute possible phenomenological consequences for these Modified Algebras.

5.1 Modified Algebras in the Bianchi I Model

The main focus of this section is the comparison of the implementation of the phenomenological approaches of PQM, the GUP representation and the other algebras of Section 3.3 on a Bianchi I Universe expressed in Misner-like variables, i.e. the ones presented in Section 2.1.3 but using the volume $v = a^3$ instead of the logarithmic α . As mentioned in Section 3.3, the reasons for choosing these four algebras are that the KMM formulation is one of the first and most studied ones, the Polymer Algebra was constructed to reproduce Polymer Quantum Mechanics,

and the remaining two are the simplest modifications to those, namely through the change of a sign. Furthermore, the two algebras with the square root (the Polymer Algebra and the BGUP) are also the only ones allowed by the Jacobi identities when including spin [95], and therefore the results obtained with them could be straightforwardly extended to higher dimensions or to more complicated models.

The leading idea of this analysis is that the most important difference between the various algebras is the sign, that seems to affect deeply the cosmological dynamics since it is reflected on the Friedmann equation for the isotropic Universe, as analyzed also in [41]. I will show here that, regarding the presence of the singularity, the different sign affects the modified dynamics of a Bianchi I model in the same way as for the isotropic Universe. Note that I will implement the modified algebra on the volume variable only, using instead the standard Poisson brackets for the anisotropic degrees of freedom β_{\pm} . I will also show that, similarly to Polymer Cosmology (PC) being able to reproduce effective Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC), the GUP representation will yield the effective equations of Brane Cosmology (a cosmological sector of String Theories [65, 138, 149, 152]) in the form of a Randall-Sundrum model [190, 191] but only in the case where the BGUP algebra with a square root is used; this is the reason why that algebra was named Brane GUP in Section 3.3.

On a quantum level, I will rewrite the Wheeler-DeWitt equation in an isomorphic form in both the PQM and the GUP formulations by suitably choosing a substitution for the momentum variable and, in the GUP case, the correct measure for the scalar product. The analysis confirms the existence of a Big Bounce in the PQM description and of a singular cosmology in the GUP formulation also for the quantum wavepackets. The analysis of the standard deviation shows that the localized packets inevitably spread, but this fact has different implications in the two frameworks: while for the polymer analysis the initial conditions can be set so that the wavepacket is peaked at the Bounce and then it is possible to have a quasi-classical description across it, in the GUP case the existence of a minimal uncertainty on position (in this setting the volume variable) forces the treatment of the singularity as a full quantum phenomenon.

The results of this section are included partly in [31], although in regards to the isotropic FLRW model; they have been expanded and improved later in [34] in regards to the anisotropic Bianchi I model.

5.1.1 Semiclassical Implementation

I will begin with the semiclassical implementation of the various algebras on the volume variable. The starting point is the unmodified Hamiltonian constraint (2.38) but with $U_{\rm BI} = 0$ and with v instead of α ; the model is filled with matter in the form of a free scalar field ϕ , which will be chosen to play the role of time. I will then derive the dynamics through the different modified Poisson brackets of Section 3.3. Then the Hamiltonian constraint is

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{12v} (-9 \, p_v^2 \, v^2 + p_+^2 + p_-^2) + \rho_\phi \, v = 0. \tag{5.1}$$

The classical unmodified equations of motion and Friedmann equation are

$$\dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v, \qquad \dot{\beta}_{\pm} = \frac{p_{\pm}}{6v},$$
(5.2)

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{v}}{3v}\right)^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{3}, \qquad \rho_{\beta} = \frac{p_{+}^{2} + p_{-}^{2}}{12v^{2}}.$$
(5.3)

Note how the anisotropies contribute to the total matter-energy through the densitylike quantity ρ_{β} ; indeed, as shown in Section 2.1.3, the Bianchi models are dynamical even in vacuum differently from the isotropic FLRW model.

Fixing the time gauge so that the scalar field ϕ acts as time, the solutions are

$$\left(\frac{1}{v}\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = \frac{3}{2}\left(1 + \frac{\rho_\beta}{\rho_\phi}\right) = v_1^2, \qquad v(\phi) = v_0 \, e^{\pm v_1\phi},\tag{5.4}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\beta_{\pm}}{\mathrm{d}\phi} = \sqrt{\frac{\rho_{\pm}}{6\rho_{\phi}}} = \beta_{1\pm}, \qquad \beta_{\pm}(\phi) = \beta_{1\pm}\phi + \beta_{0\pm}, \tag{5.5}$$

where I separated the anisotropy density ρ_{β} into its two contributions $\rho_{\pm} = p_{\pm}^2/12v^2$, v_1 and $\beta_{1\pm}$ are constants because all involved densities behave as $1/v^2$, and v_0 and $\beta_{0\pm}$ come from integration. The anisotropies behave linearly, and their evolution will not change in other settings, since the modified Poisson brackets will act only on the volume. Regarding the volume, the classical evolution is exponential and has singularities at $\phi \to \pm \infty$. I will show that with some deformed algebra this will change.

I will start with the standard KMM GUP algebra (3.33). The equation of motion for v and the modified Friedmann equation then are:

$$\{v, p_v\}_{\text{KMM}} = 1 + B_0 p_v^2, \qquad \dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v \left(1 + B_0 p_v^2\right), \tag{5.6}$$

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{3} \left(1 + \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{2\rho_{\rm GUP}} \right)^{2}, \qquad \rho_{\rm GUP} = \frac{3}{8 B_{0}}.$$
 (5.7)

I defined the regularizing GUP density ρ_{GUP} in that way in order to make the comparison with other algebras more straightforward.

The modified Friedmann equation (5.7), although similar to the PQM and LQC ones (4.19) and (2.64), has a different sign that will not introduce a critical point. Indeed, fixing the gauge to use ϕ as time, the evolution results to be

$$\left(\frac{1}{v}\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = v_1^2 \left(1 + \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{2\rho_{\rm GUP}}\right)^2, \qquad v_1 = \frac{3}{2} \left(1 + \frac{\rho_\beta}{\rho_\phi}\right), \tag{5.8}$$

$$v(\phi) = \sqrt{\frac{(\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}) v^2}{2\rho_{\text{GUP}}}} \sqrt{e^{\pm 2v_1 \phi} - 1},$$
(5.9)

where the quantity $(\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}) v^2$ is a constant since the densities scale as $1/v^2$. The two solutions are shown later in Figure 5.1 compared with the classical (unmodified) evolution and with the BGUP solutions that will be derived shortly. Clearly the singularity is still present since v(0) = 0, but the way it is approached is drastically different since it happens at a finite value of time ϕ .

Now I will implement the Polymer Algebra (3.39). Since it was derived from the PQM action (3.18) of the operators, it is expected that the solution will be the same as Polymer Cosmology.

The algebra, the equations of motion and the modified Friedmann equation are

$$\{v, p_v\}_{\rm PA} = \sqrt{1 - \mu_0^2 p_v^2}, \qquad \dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v \sqrt{1 - \mu_0^2 p_v^2}, \qquad (5.10)$$

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{\rho_{\mu}} \right), \qquad \rho_{\mu} = \frac{3}{4\mu_{0}^{2}}.$$
 (5.11)

These are exactly the same modified Friedmann equation and critical energy density ρ_{μ} appearing in equation (4.14) of isotropic Polymer Cosmology. Therefore it is already expected that the singularities will be removed and replaced by a Big Bounce.

In the scalar field time gauge, the solution is

$$\left(\frac{1}{v}\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = v_1^2 \left(1 - \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{\rho_\mu}\right), \qquad v(\phi) = \sqrt{\frac{(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta)v^2}{\rho_\mu}} \,\cosh(v_1\,\phi). \tag{5.12}$$

It is clear how a Big Bounce appears since the hyperbolic cosine has a positive minimum at $\phi = 0$. The evolution is shown later in Figure 5.2, compared with the classical solution and with the PUP solution that I will derive later.

The third modification is the BGUP algebra (3.42). However, in order to make the comparison more consistent, I will define it with the factor 2 mentioned in Section 3.3 so that the standard KMM formulation is the Taylor expansion of this one.

The equation of motion and the modified Friedmann equation then are

$$\{v, p_v\}_{BGUP} = \sqrt{1 + 2B_0 p_v^2}, \qquad \dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v \sqrt{1 + 2B_0 p_v^2}, \qquad (5.13)$$

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{3} \left(1 + \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{\rho_{\text{GUP}}} \right).$$
(5.14)

Here the regularizing density $\rho_{\rm GUP}$ has the same definition (5.7) of the KMM case. Now the reason for the factor 2 is clear: even though the Friedmann equations of the two GUP cases are slightly different, expending the square in the KMM one yields at first order the same one of the BGUP case, and the squared term is a higher order correction. Indeed, as shown in Figure 5.1, at low energies i.e. large volumes the two solutions are the same, while the approach to the singularity v = 0 is slightly different, although in both cases it happens at $\phi = 0$. Furthermore, the BGUP Friedmann equation (5.14) is the same Friedmann equation of Brane Cosmology [152, 190, 191], where the role of the regularizing density $\rho_{\rm GUP}$ is played by the Brane tension (and of course here there are no other terms such as curvature or a cosmological constant).

The solution in the scalar field time gauge is

$$\left(\frac{1}{v}\frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = v_1^2 \left(1 + \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{\rho_{\rm GUP}}\right), \qquad v(\phi) = \pm \sqrt{\frac{(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta)v^2}{2\rho_{\rm GUP}}} \sinh(v_1\phi). \tag{5.15}$$

The evolution is shown in Figure 5.1, compared with the classical evolution and with the standard KMM GUP solution.



Figure 5.1. The solutions $v(\phi)$ obtained with the KMM algebra (red dashed lines) and with the BGUP formulation (continuous blue lines), compared to the classical unmodified solutions (thin black lines). The singularity is still present at $\phi = 0$.

The last modification is the PUP algebra (3.46). However, also here I will insert a factor of 2 to make the comparison with the Polymer algebra more evident.

The algebra, the equations of motion and the modified Friedmann equations are

$$\{v, p_v\}_{\rm PUP} = 1 - \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} p_v, \qquad \dot{v} = -\frac{3}{2} p_v v \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2}{2} p_v\right), \qquad (5.16)$$

$$H^{2} = \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_{\phi} + \rho_{\beta}}{2\rho_{\mu}} \right)^{2}, \qquad (5.17)$$

where again the regularizing density ρ_{μ} is the same defined before in equation (5.11). Also here, comparing the modified Friedmann equation to the Polymer Algebra one, the factor of 2 and the square make it so that the first terms, when the square is expanded, coincide. However, the higher order term here changes the solution drastically. Indeed in the scalar field time gauge the result is

$$\left(\frac{1}{v} \frac{\mathrm{d}v}{\mathrm{d}\phi}\right)^2 = v_1^2 \left(1 - \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{2\rho_\mu}\right)^2, \qquad v(\phi) = \sqrt{\frac{(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta) v^2}{2\rho_\mu}} \sqrt{e^{\pm 2v_1\phi} + 1}.$$
 (5.18)

The +1 under the square root makes it so that the solution does not go to zero in a finite a time, and is instead asymptotic to a positive value. The evolution is shown in Figure 5.2, compared with the classical solution and with the Bouncing Polymer Algebra solution. It is clear how with the PUP algebra the singularity is still removed, but with an asymptotic behaviour instead of with a Bounce. This is called an Emergent Universe model [93, 94] and will be analyzed more in detail in Section 5.2 that constitutes the second part of this chapter.



Figure 5.2. Comparison between the solutions $v(\phi)$ in the classical model (thin black lines), with the Polymer Algebra (red dashed lines) and with the PUP formulation (continuous blue line). The singularity is removed, replaced with a Big Bounce or with an asymptotic behaviour respectively. The values of v at the Bounce and at the asymptotes are highlighted with thinner grey lines.

Finally, as a further semiclassical consequence of modified algebras, I will show that the implementation performed as explained in equation (3.53), i.e. by modifying the Hamiltonian substituting the momentum with the modified eigenvalue G(p) of the corresponding momentum operator, yields the exact same semiclassical dynamics. In this case, since the Hamiltonian is already modified, the Poisson brackets will always be the standard ones $\{v, p_v\} = 1$.

The four Hamiltonians then are

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{KMM}} = \frac{1}{12v} \left(-9 \, \frac{\tan^2(\sqrt{B_0} \, p_v)}{B_0} \, v^2 + p_+^2 + p_-^2 \right) + \rho_\phi \, v = 0, \tag{5.19}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm PA} = \frac{1}{12v} \left(-9 \, \frac{\sin^2(\mu_0 \, p_v)}{\mu_0^2} \, v^2 + p_+^2 + p_-^2 \right) + \rho_\phi \, v = 0, \tag{5.20}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{BGUP} = \frac{1}{12v} \left(-9 \frac{\sinh^2(\sqrt{2B_0} p_v)}{2B_0} v^2 + p_+^2 + p_-^2 \right) + \rho_\phi v = 0, \quad (5.21)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm PUP} = \frac{1}{12v} \left(-9 \, \frac{2 \tanh^2\left(\frac{\mu_0 \, p_v}{\sqrt{2}}\right)}{\mu_0^2} \, v^2 + p_+^2 + p_-^2 \right) + \rho_\phi \, v = 0. \tag{5.22}$$

Given the fact that the Hamiltonians are vanishing, they yield the following con-

straints (in the same order as the four Hamiltonians above):

$$\frac{\tan^2(\sqrt{B_0} p_v)}{B_0} = \frac{4}{3} \left(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta\right),\tag{5.23}$$

$$\frac{\sin^2(\mu_0 \, p_v)}{\mu_0^2} = \frac{4}{3} \left(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta \right),\tag{5.24}$$

$$\frac{\sinh^2(\sqrt{2B_0} p_v)}{2B_0} = \frac{4}{3} \left(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta\right),\tag{5.25}$$

$$\frac{2 \tanh^2\left(\frac{\mu_0 \, p_v}{\sqrt{2}}\right)}{\mu_0^2} = \frac{4}{3} \left(\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta\right). \tag{5.26}$$

It is quite easy to see that, thanks to trigonometric and hyperbolic relations and to the four constraints above linking the modified eigenvalues to the densities, the resulting modified Friedmann equations are exactly the same obtained above for the corresponding algebras.

$$\begin{pmatrix} \dot{v}_{\rm KMM} = -\frac{3}{2} v \, \frac{\tan(\sqrt{B_0} \, p_v)}{\sqrt{B_0}} \left(1 + \tan^2(\sqrt{B_0} \, p_v) \right), \\ H^2_{\rm KMM} = \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{3} \left(1 + \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{2\rho_{\rm GUP}} \right)^2,$$
(5.27)

$$\begin{cases} \dot{v}_{\rm PUP} = -3 \, v \, \frac{\tanh(\mu_0 \, p_v)}{\mu_0} \left(1 - \tanh^2(\mu_0 \, p_v) \right), \\ H_{\rm PUP}^2 = \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{3} \left(1 - \frac{\rho_\phi + \rho_\beta}{2\rho_\mu} \right)^2, \end{cases}$$
(5.30)

It is therefore clear how the two ways to implement the semiclassical limit of modified algebras presented at the end of Section 3.3 yield exactly the same semiclassical dynamics, at least for cosmological models where the Hamiltonians are vanishing.

Given that on a quantum level the commutation relations are more fundamental than the corresponding operatorial representations, it is reasonable to assume that the correct way to implement the (semi)classical limit of deformed algebras is to modify Poisson brackets; however it is very interesting that two kinds of corrections that are apparently very different (although obviously linked) can yield the exact same dynamics. It might be of high value to find a semiclassical implementation corresponding to the representation (3.28), since it could help to better understand the relation between different representations on a quantum level, that still lacks a formal proof.

5.1.2 Modified Quantization

In this section I will promote the fundamental variables to operators. The PUP formalism will be analyzed more in depth later, and in any case it is not able to reproduce the full polymer dynamics like the Polymer Algebra; on the other hand, the BGUP corrections do not differ too much from the standard KMM ones. Therefore I will restrict the quantum analysis to just the Polymer Algebra and the original KMM GUP. I will work in a hybrid polarization, i.e. momentum polarization for v and position polarization for the other variables β_{\pm} and ϕ ; this is due to the fact that in the two representations the position polarization is not viable: in PQM it would be non-trivial as showed in Section 3.1 [82], while in the GUP it is not available and the quasi-position representation should be used instead, as explained in Section 3.2 [126].

The standard procedure is to perform some substitutions such that the WdW equations become Klein-Gordon-like wave equations where ϕ plays the role of time, similarly to what was done in Sections 2.2.1 and 4.2. The resulting solutions will be therefore expressed in a new variable x_i with i = KMM, PA and, although the substitutions will be different, the wavepackets as functions of x will have a similar form. When studying the physics, the spreading of the wavepacket will be the same in all pictures; however, the physical operators will of course have different expressions with respect to x and their expectation values will be different, yielding inequivalent physical predictions in accordance with the semiclassical dynamics. This reflects the different nature of the coordinates in the two representations.

The Hamiltonian constraints, when promoted to a quantum level, yield a WDW equation that is the same in all cases:

$$(3\,\hat{p}_v\,\hat{v})^2\psi = (\hat{p}_\phi^2 + \hat{p}_+^2 + \hat{p}_-^2)\psi, \qquad (5.31)$$

where I absorbed some constants in the scalar field momentum p_{ϕ} to lighten the notation (this is equivalent to a rescaling of the scalar field). The action of the operators not linked to the volume will always be the standard one (i.e. the variables β_{\pm} and ϕ will act multiplicatively and their conjugate momenta differentially); the differential volume operator and its conjugate momentum will have different expressions depending on the formalism used:

KMM:
$$[\hat{v}, \hat{p_v}] = i(1 + B_0 \hat{p_v}^2), \quad \hat{v} \psi = i(1 + B_0 p_v^2) \frac{\mathrm{d}\psi}{\mathrm{d}p_v}, \quad \hat{p}_v \psi = p_v \psi; \quad (5.32)$$

PA:
$$[\hat{v}, \hat{p_v}] = i\sqrt{1 - \mu_0^2 \hat{p}_v^2}, \quad \hat{v}\,\psi = i\frac{\mathrm{d}\psi}{\mathrm{d}p_v}, \quad \hat{p}_v\psi = \frac{\sin(\mu_0\,p_v)}{\mu_0}\,\psi.$$
 (5.33)

The different actions will yield different terms on the left-hand side of the WDW equation (5.31); by choosing a mixed factor ordering, it is possible to use different transformations so that the two equations become KG-like, as done previously in Section 4.2:

KMM:
$$(3 \hat{p}_v \hat{v})^2 \psi = -\left(3 p_v (1 + B_0 p_v^2) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d} p_v}\right)^2 \psi;$$
 (5.34)

PA:
$$(3 \hat{p}_v \hat{v})^2 \psi = -\left(3 \frac{\sin(\mu_0 p_v)}{\mu_0} \frac{d}{dp_v}\right)^2 \psi;$$
 (5.35)



Figure 5.3. The wavepacket Ψ (real part on the left, imaginary part on the right) as function of the variable x for different values of ϕ . It is evident how it delocalizes at greater times.

$$x_{\text{KMM}} = \frac{1}{3} \ln \left| \frac{p_v}{\sqrt{1 + B_0 p_v^2}} \right|, \qquad x_{\text{PA}} = \frac{1}{3} \ln \left| \tan \left(\frac{\mu_0 p_v}{2} \right) \right|; \tag{5.36}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2\psi}{\mathrm{d}x_i^2} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\phi^2} + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\beta_+^2} + \frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}\beta_-^2}\right)\psi, \qquad i = \mathrm{KMM}, \mathrm{PA}.$$
(5.37)

Thanks to these substitutions, the WdW equations (5.31) are rewritten in the KG form (5.37) and their general solution can be expressed as a wavepacket Ψ with Gaussian weights W peaked around specific values \overline{k}_{\pm} , \overline{k}_{ϕ} of the momenta eigenvalues that obey a non-linear dispersion relation:

$$\Psi(x_i, \beta_{\pm}, \phi) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dk_+ \, dk_- \, dk_\phi \, W(k_+) \, W(k_-) \, W(k_\phi) \, \psi, \qquad (5.38)$$

$$\psi = \psi(x_i, \beta_{\pm}, \phi, k_{\pm}, k_{\phi}) = \exp\left(i\left(k_i x_i + k_+ \beta_+ + k_- \beta_- + k_{\phi} \phi\right)\right),$$
(5.39)

$$W(k) = \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{(k-\bar{k})^2}{2\sigma^2}\right)}{(\pi\sigma^2)^{\frac{1}{4}}},$$
(5.40)

$$k_x = \sqrt{k_+^2 + k_-^2 + k_\phi^2} \,. \tag{5.41}$$

Figure 5.3 highlights the spreading of the wavepacket Ψ with the passing of time ϕ , as expected for a wavepacket propagating in more than one "spatial" dimension (indeed, as shown in Section 2.2, in the flat isotropic FLRW model where there is only one dimension represented by the volume v, the wavepackets do not spread). Note that this phenomenon restricts the validity of the semiclassical limit of the quantum theory: if the wavepackets spread and delocalize, the quantum expectation values will follow the classical trajectory only for the brief interval when the packet is still localized enough, but the standard deviation will grow appreciably.



Figure 5.4. Expectation value $\langle \hat{v}(\phi) \rangle$ of the volume as function of time ϕ for the KMM formulation (left) and the Polymer Algebra (right). The red dots have been computed numerically and fitted with the blue lines in accordance with the semiclassical trajectories; the error bars correspond to the standard deviation $\sqrt{\langle \hat{v}^2 \rangle - \langle \hat{v} \rangle^2}$.

It is possible compute the expectation value of the volume operator \hat{v} in the two different cases. In order to do this, I will use a KG-like probability density, and the integral for the expectation value will be the same for the two cases except that the KMM one will have a measure, which is required to ensure the symmetry of the operators as explained in Section (3.2).

$$\left\langle \hat{v} \right\rangle_{\text{KMM}} = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{dx \, d\beta_+ \, d\beta_-}{\sqrt{1 + B_0 \, p_v^2(x)}} \, i\left(\Psi^* \, \partial_\phi(\hat{v}\Psi) - (\hat{v}\Psi) \, \partial_\phi\Psi^*\right), \tag{5.42}$$

$$\langle \hat{v} \rangle_{\rm PA} = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} dx \, d\beta_+ \, d\beta_- \, i \left(\Psi^* \, \partial_\phi(\hat{v}\Psi) - (\hat{v}\Psi) \, \partial_\phi \Psi^* \right), \tag{5.43}$$

where $p_v(x)$ means that the substitution to x has been performed. On this note, also the action of the volume operator must be expressed in terms of the variables x:

$$\hat{v}_{\text{KMM}} = i \left(1 + B_0 \, p_v^2\right) \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_v} = -\frac{i}{3} \, \frac{(1 + B_0 \, e^{6x})^{\frac{1}{2}}}{e^{3x}} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x},\tag{5.44}$$

$$\hat{v}_{\rm PA} = i \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}p_v} = -\frac{i\,\mu_0}{3}\,\cosh(x)\,\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x},\tag{5.45}$$

where I omitted the subscripts on x to lighten notation. The integrals are then computed numerically.

Figure 5.4 shows the expectation value of the volume operator for the two different formalisms: the semiclassical trajectories are reproduced closely enough at small times, but the standard deviations start to grow quite soon; therefore these expectation values are reliable only in a small interval of time.

To conclude, a pure quantum description of the Planckian regime is more meaningful in the case of an anisotropic model, especially in the KMM formulation where a minimal uncertainty on position prevents the localization of the wavepackets at will; on the other hand, with the Polymer Algebra this possibility is always available and the dynamics can present a quasi-classical morphology. As a consequence, the inability of the GUP representation to remove the singularity in the semiclassical description, contrary to PQM, is not conclusive, since a predictive quantum picture of the primordial Universe is still lacking.

The main goal of this analysis was to better characterize the physical meaning of PQM, of the GUP representation and of Modified Algebras in general, especially in view of their cosmological implementation. The obtained equivalence of the effective Bianchi I dynamics with the corresponding LQC and Brane Cosmology predictions constitutes a significant starting point to extend the present picture and infer general features about the removal of the singularity in the so-called generic cosmological solution. Actually, the direct implementation of the two fundamental theories of LQC and Brane Cosmology would be forbidden by the complexity of the Superspace model, while the PQM and GUP versions of the so-called Belinskii-Khalatnikov-Lifshitz conjecture (BKL) are viable [13, 44]. However, in String Theories the quantized gravitational modes arise in a perturbative scheme and the relic notion of a classical background still survives, differently from LQG. Moreover, the original KMM formulation of the GUP introduces cut-off physics effects on a non-perturbative level in the low energy limit of String Theories, so this feature could suggest that the cosmological GUP implementation cannot fulfill all the features of a Planckian Universe in Brane Cosmology.

5.2 The Emergent Universe Scenario

Here, I will consider a non-singular cosmology that comes from assigning specific initial conditions on the closed RW model dynamics, known as the "Emergent Universe" (EU) [93, 94]. The interest for such an EU model was recently renewed by the analyses of the Planck data sets [173, 174], which seem to allow for a present-day positive curvature of the Universe [89, 111].

The possibility to classically solve the singularity is an interesting subject, but for the Emergent Universe this result is valid only for a specific fine-tuning of the initial conditions on the cosmological dynamics. Here I overcome this shortcoming of the original idea by considering suitable modified Poisson brackets inspired by cut-off physics such as PQM and the GUP presented in previous chapters, specifically the Polymer Uncertainty Principle algebra (PUP) (3.46), which induces an Emergent Universe scenario still on the (semi)classical level, valid for any assignment of the Cauchy problem. After reviewing the original literature on the subject of the classical EU model, I will show how it can be obtained thanks to the PUP algebra; the possibility to use it and introduce a non-singular, asymptotic state for the isotropic model was mentioned already in the previous Section 5.1 and in the paper [34]. The relevance of this formulation of the EU picture relies on the generality of its non-singular behavior, without the need for a constraint on the initial conditions to be required ab initio. In other words, including a quasi-classical modification of the symplectic algebra similar in its phenomenology to a modified gravity approach. this algebra is able to yield an EU with an asymptotic non-singular beginning for the synchronous time approaching negative infinity. I also properly characterize the different phases of the Universe evolution, starting with a radiation-dominated era close to the classical singularity, passing through an inflationary de Sitter period obtained including a constant energy density term, and ending again with a radiationdominated Universe (the study of a late-time dark energy-dominated era, possible for an EU as mentioned in [93], is beyond the scope of this thesis).

An important part of this analysis is dedicated to the calculation of corrections to the primordial Spectrum when the inflaton field obeys the same symplectic algebra at the ground of the obtained semiclassical dynamics, but implemented on the pure quantum sector. I will treat the additional term emerging in the Fourier-decomposed Hamiltonian for the Mukhanov-Sasaki variable, which parameterizes the scalar perturbations [170], as a small perturbation and will determine the corrections it induces on the standard states (associated to a time-dependent harmonic oscillator). As a result, I will determine the Spectrum corrections due to the new physics at the ground of this study, and I will show under which constraints on the model parameters and initial conditions the modification is a reliably small and potentially observable feature.

The present analysis offers an interesting new perspective on the origin of a non-singular isotropic Universe, whose underlying cut-off physics can leave a precise fingerprint on the profile of the microwave background temperature distribution.

In order to better characterize the deformation parameter of the modified algebra, here I will keep fundamental constants such as the reduced Planck constant \hbar , the Einstein constant χ and the speed of light c explicit. The results of this sections are reported in paper [37].

5.2.1 Classical Emergent Universe Model

Here I compactly present the standard Emergent Universe model [93, 94] starting from the Hamiltonian formulation of the FLRW homogeneous and isotropic model. I derive a non-singular, ever-expanding solution and then show the potential used to end the inflationary expansion.

The configurational variables that I will use for the gravitational sector are the volume $v = a^3$, and its conjugate momentum $p_v \propto \dot{v}/v$ since they have been shown to be the suitable variables to yield an universal critical energy density in Polymer Cosmology, as previously mentioned in Chapter 4 [31, 168].

The Hamiltonian for a FLRW model with curvature filled with matter in the form of perfect fluids is the same as equation 2.18:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}(v, p_v) = -\frac{3\,\chi}{4\,\mathcal{V}}\,v\,p_v^2 - \frac{3}{\chi}\,K\,c^2\,v^{\frac{1}{3}}\,\mathcal{V} + \rho\,v\,\mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad (5.46)$$

where here I explicitly kept some constants: \mathcal{V} is the volume scale appearing when preforming the spatial integral in the action (2.6), K > 0 is the positive spatial curvature, and $\rho = \rho(v)$ is the energy density containing all necessary components, each separately obeying the standard continuity equation (2.11); a simple EU model contains a radiation fluid ρ_{γ} with $w_{\gamma} = 1/3$ and a Cosmological Constant $\rho_{\Lambda} = \overline{\rho_{\Lambda}}$ corresponding to $w_{\Lambda} = -1$.

From the equations of motion and the Hamiltonian constraint, the Friedmann equation is

$$H^{2} = \left(\frac{\dot{v}}{3v}\right)^{2} = \frac{\chi}{3} \left(\rho_{\gamma} + \rho_{\Lambda}\right) - \frac{Kc^{2}}{v^{2/3}}.$$
 (5.47)

By requiring the existence of a unique positive minimum v_i for the volume, the



Figure 5.5. Evolution of the volume $v(\tau)$ in the standard EU model. The time variables are rescaled by the time t_s of the beginning of standard inflation: $\tau = \frac{t}{t_s}$. The minimum value is highlighted with a red dashed line.

following constraint on the free parameters of the densities is obtained:

$$v_i = \left(\frac{3}{2} \frac{K c^2}{\chi \rho_\Lambda}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}, \qquad \overline{\rho_\gamma} \rho_\Lambda = \left(\frac{3}{2} \frac{K c^2}{\chi}\right)^2, \qquad (5.48)$$

so that the Friedmann equation can be rewritten in terms of the minimum volume and easily solved:

$$\dot{v} = \pm 3c \sqrt{\frac{K}{2}} \left(\frac{v}{v_i}\right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(v^{\frac{2}{3}} - v^{\frac{2}{3}}_i\right), \qquad v(t) = v_i \left(1 + \exp\left(\pm\frac{\sqrt{2K}c}{v^{1/3}_i}t\right)\right)^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (5.49)

There are two solutions, one expending to infinity and one contracting from infinity, depending on the sign of the exponential; the expanding one with the + sign is the one of interest. The solution is shown in Figure 5.5: as expected it is asymptotically Einstein static, since $v \to v_i > 0$ when $t \to -\infty$, and exponentially expanding. Note that in the picture I rescaled the time variable as $\tau = t/t_s$, where $t_s \sim 10^{-36}s$ is the start of inflation in the standard cosmological model; this will be useful in later sections.

Even though inflation occurs for an infinite time in the past, at any given time $t_f \gg v_i^{1/3}/\sqrt{Kc^2}$ there is a finite amount of e-folds given by

$$N_e = \frac{1}{3} \ln\left(\frac{v(t_f)}{v_i}\right) \approx \frac{\sqrt{K} c t_f}{v_i^{1/3}}.$$
 (5.50)



Figure 5.6. The potential $U(\phi) - U_f$ as function of $\phi - \phi_f$ for $U_i - U_f = 1$, $\mathcal{E} = 1$. The asymptote is highlighted with a red dashed line.

A simple way to create a past-infinite exponential expansion and end it at a finite time t_f is to use a scalar field. Therefore the matter term in the Hamiltonian (5.46) will contain the scalar field energy density

$$\rho_{\phi}(v,\phi,p_{\phi}) = \frac{p_{\phi}^2}{2v^2} - U(\phi), \qquad (5.51)$$

where $U(\phi)$ is a potential and $p_{\phi} = \dot{\phi} v/c$ is the momentum conjugate to the scalar field. From the equations of motion, the scalar field obeys a Klein-Gordon-like equation:

$$\ddot{\phi} + \frac{\dot{v}}{v}\dot{\phi} + c^2\frac{\partial U}{\partial\phi} = 0.$$
(5.52)

The ideal potential for an EU model has a plateau (i.e. an asymptote) at $\phi \to -\infty$ and a well with an absolute minimum at $\phi = \phi_f$; it takes the form

$$U(\phi) = U_f + (U_i - U_f) \left(\exp\left(\frac{\phi - \phi_f}{\mathcal{E}}\right) - 1 \right)^2,$$
(5.53)

where U_i is the asymptotic value in the infinite past, U_f is the minimum value and \mathcal{E} is a constant scale parametrizing the width of the well. The form of the potential is shown in Figure 5.6 for generic values of the parameters.

For $t \to -\infty$, $\phi \to -\infty$ and the field is in the plateau of the potential; this implies $\dot{\phi}^2 \ll U$ and therefore the energy density $\rho_{\phi} \approx U_i$ is nearly constant, playing the role of the Cosmological Constant ρ_{Λ} of the previous subsection. When $t = t_f$ is approached, the field falls into the well until it reaches the minimum $U_f \ll U_i$, and the exponential expansion ends. Here it could possible to set $U_f \neq 0$ to represent the late-time cosmological constant [93], but again, this is beyond the scope of this study.
As mentioned before, the infinite time of inflation produces a finite amount of expansion; provided that v_i and t_f are respectively chosen small and large enough, a very large amount of e-folds can be produced as follows from equation (5.50), thus solving all the paradoxes of Friedmann evolution in a similar manner to the standard inflationary theory. However, analogously to the latter, this model is also subject to some form of fine-tuning and criticisms.

Indeed, some fine-tuning is needed in the classical EU to reproduce observational parameters, such as density perturbations of the order $\mathcal{O}(10^{-5})$ and a late-time Cosmological Constant $\Omega_{\Lambda} \approx 0.7$; however, all inflationary universe models need some amount of fine-tuning. The specific geometrical fine-tuning problem in the EU models is the requirement of a particular choice of the initial volume v_i and of the primordial cosmological constant ρ_{Λ} or U_i . This choice must then be supplemented by a further fine-tuning: a choice of initial kinetic energy such that the inequality $\dot{\phi}^2 \ll U_i$ holds. Both conditions are required to attain an asymptotically Einstein-static state.

The authors of [93, 94] acknowledge the necessity of fine-tuning in this model, but claim that the situation is not too different from any other inflationary model. Besides, they argue that the advantages of having a non-singular, highly symmetric initial state overcome the troubles of fine-tuning. However, the scope of this work is to provide a mechanism to generate an EU model with the minimum fine-tuning necessary.

5.2.2 Non-Singular Emergent Universe from Modified Algebra

I will now introduce the modified Heisenberg algebra, that in the classical limit translates to modified Poisson brackets as explained in Section 3.3, which is able to yield an EU-like solution without the need of much fine-tuning.

The modified algebra, that is the PUP algebra inspired by PQM [41, 82] and the GUP representation [34, 62, 95, 126, 153, 202] and presented in previous chapters, here takes the form

$$[\hat{q}, \hat{p}] = i\hbar \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 \, \ell_P^2 \, \hat{p}^2}{\hbar^2} \right); \tag{5.54}$$

 $\mu_0 > 0$ is a free real parameter that is reminiscent of the lattice spacing in PQM (hence the use of the same symbol), but here takes the role of just a deformation parameter similarly to the GUP representation. As mentioned earlier, differently from Section 3.3 where I introduced the algebra, in this case I have kept the appropriate fundamental constants in order to always have μ_0 as a dimensionless parameter, as is sometimes done in GUP literature [95, 184]; for example, in the commutator (5.54) I assumed q and p to be the standard position and momentum respectively, so I inserted the Planck length ℓ_P and the reduced Planck constant \hbar to keep both the term in parentheses and the deformation parameter μ_0 dimensionless.

In the classical limit, the commutator (5.54) becomes a rule for Poisson brackets, as explained in previous chapters. In this first example, I will not consider curvature and will not assume any specific kind of matter but leave a generic energy density $\rho(v) = \overline{\rho} v^{-(1+w)}$.

The Hamiltonian constraint is the same as (5.46), but with the modified Poisson



Figure 5.7. The asymptotic solution v(t) for the simple model with a generic energy density (black continuous line), compared with the standard evolution (red dashed line) which falls into the singularity. The asymptotic volume v_i is highlighted with the grey faded line.

brackets and without curvature:

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{FLRW}}(v, p_v) = -\frac{3\chi}{4\mathcal{V}} v \, p_v^2 + \rho(v) \, v \, \mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad \{v, p_v\} = 1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 \, p_v^2}{\hbar^2}; \qquad (5.55)$$

note that, since the volume v is dimensionless, p_v has the dimensions of an action and therefore I divided the correction term by \hbar^2 to keep μ_0 dimensionless. Then from the equations of motion and the constraint I derive a modified Friedmann equation:

$$H^{2} = \frac{\chi}{3} \rho \left(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{\mu}} \right)^{2}, \qquad \rho_{\mu} = \frac{3 \chi \hbar^{2}}{4 \mu_{0}^{2} \mathcal{V}^{2}}, \qquad (5.56)$$

this is very similar to the modified Friedmann equations obtained in other sections and chapters with PQM, the GUP or other algebras, but with a slightly different expression for ρ_{μ} that however still introduces a critical point on the dynamics; the critical point is calculated as the value v_{μ} such that $\dot{v} = 0$, which, as long as $w \neq -1$, implies

$$1 - \frac{\rho(v_{\mu})}{\rho_{\mu}} = 0, \quad v_{\mu} = \left(\frac{\overline{\rho}}{\rho_{\mu}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+w}}.$$
(5.57)

The solution v(t) then has the following implicit form:

$$\left(\frac{v(t)}{v_{\mu}}\right)^{\frac{1+w}{2}} - \operatorname{atanh}\left(\left(\frac{v(t)}{v_{\mu}}\right)^{-\frac{1+w}{2}}\right) = \pm \frac{1+w}{2} t \sqrt{3\rho_{\mu}\chi}; \quad (5.58)$$

again there are two solutions, one contracting and one expanding, depending on the sign. The solution of interest (the expanding one with the + sign) is shown in

Figure 5.7 for generic values of the parameters. Of course this does not present an exponential behaviour, since at this stage I did not include a Cosmological Constant; however this is just a simplified model (but still more detailed than in the previous Section 5.1) to show the ability of the modified PUP algebra (5.54) to naturally implement an asymptotic minimum value.

The main result of this simple construction is that I did not have to impose any fine-tuning such as the constraint (5.48) in order to obtain a positive minimum for the volume; it naturally follows from the form of the correction factor $(1 - \frac{\rho}{\rho_{\mu}})^2$ in the modified Friedmann equation (5.56). I obtained a non-singular, asymptotically Einstein-static model that in the future yields the standard Friedmann evolution; indeed, note that for $v \gg v_{\mu}$, $\rho(v) \ll \rho_{\mu}$ and the modified Friedmann equation reduces to the standard one $H^2 = \chi \rho/3$; this can be also seen from equation (5.58): in the limit $v \gg v_{\mu}$ corresponding to $t \to +\infty$, the argument of the hyperbolic arctangent goes to zero and, given the relation (5.57) between ρ_{μ} , $\overline{\rho}$ and v_i , the standard Friedmann evolution is recovered.

I will now consider the full model. I will consider different phases: the first, near the classical singularity, where the matter-energy content is dominated by a relativistic component; the second where a scalar field potential grows, yielding an inflationary phase dominated by a Cosmological Constant; a final one where the scalar field has again decayed into photons and the late-time evolution becomes Friedmann-like. In all phases I will consider positive curvature, even though in the modified algebra scheme it is not needed to obtain an asymptotic behaviour, in order to make the comparison with the standard EU model more immediate.

The Hamiltonian of the full model is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm FLRW}(v, p_v, \phi, p_\phi) = -\frac{3\chi}{4\mathcal{V}} v \, p_v^2 - \frac{3}{\chi} \, K \, c^2 \, v^{\frac{1}{3}} \, \mathcal{V} + \rho \, v \, \mathcal{V} = 0, \qquad (5.59)$$

phase 1)
$$\rho = \rho_{\gamma} = \overline{\rho_{\gamma}^{\text{pre}}} v^{-\frac{4}{3}},$$
 (5.60)

phase 2)
$$\rho = \rho_{\phi}(U \gg \dot{\phi}^2) = U_i = \rho_{\Lambda},$$
 (5.61)

phase 3)
$$\rho = \rho_{\gamma} = \overline{\rho_{\gamma}^{\text{post}}} v^{-\frac{4}{3}},$$
 (5.62)

where the constants $\rho_{\gamma}^{\text{pre/post}}$ and ρ_{Λ} have been chosen to maintain continuity for v and \dot{v} .

Given the complexity of the corresponding Friedmann equations, the resolution has been performed numerically. Again, I rescaled all quantities by their corresponding value at the beginning of inflation, that is, I used as time variable $\tau = t/t_s$ and all densities have been rescaled accordingly. The result is shown in Figure 5.8 for the whole evolution and compared with the classical case (i.e. the one obtained with standard Poisson brackets $\{v, p_v\} = 1$); it also shows a zoom near the singularity, to better highlight the asymptotic behaviour.

I must stress that I did not have to impose any condition such as (5.48) in order to obtain an asymptotic behaviour, it is implemented naturally by the modified algebra (5.54). Besides, the standard dynamics is recovered pretty soon and already shortly before the inflationary epoch the evolution is practically indistinguishable;



Figure 5.8. The evolution of $v(\tau)$ for the full model (black continuous line) compared with the standard dynamics (dashed red line). The minimum volume v_i is highlighted with a grey faded horizontal line, while the grey faded vertical lines separate the different phases (from left to right they indicate the classical Big Bang, the start of inflation and its end). The right panel is the same figure, but zoomed-in to give a better view of the behaviour near the classical singularity.

this will allow the use of the classical Friedmann equation for Inflation when in the next section I will compute corrections to the primordial Power Spectrum.

5.2.3 Modified Power Spectrum of Scalar Perturbations

In this section, as a phenomenological consequence of this model and in particular of the modified algebra (5.54), I will derive the modified Power Spectrum of primordial scalar perturbations during the inflationary epoch. I will partially follow [66] but compute the Spectrum through a different method. For other approaches to the computation of quantum gravity corrections on the inflationary Spectrum, see [156, 157].

The general action for a scalar field takes the form

$$S_{\phi} = \int \frac{dt \, d^3x}{2} \, \sqrt{-g} \left(g^{\alpha\beta} \, \partial_{\alpha}\phi \, \partial_{\beta}\phi - 2 \, U(\phi) \right); \tag{5.63}$$

introducing conformal time η , the zero-order homogeneous action for the scalar field can be rewritten as

$$d\eta = \frac{dt}{a},\tag{5.64}$$

$$S_{\phi} = \int \frac{dt}{2} a^{3} \mathcal{V}\left(\frac{\dot{\phi}^{2}}{c^{2}} - 2U(\phi)\right) = \int \frac{d\eta}{2} \mathcal{V}\left(a^{2} \frac{(\phi')^{2}}{c^{2}} - 2 a^{4} U(\phi)\right), \quad (5.65)$$

where a prime denotes a derivative with respect to η and \mathcal{V} is the usual volume scale that appears when performing the volume integral.

At this point it is useful to introduce the so-called Mukhanov-Sasaki variable ξ , a master gauge-invariant variable which is sufficient to fully describe the scalar sector of perturbations [170]:

$$\xi(x,\eta) = a \left(\delta \phi_{\rm GI} + \frac{\phi' \,\Phi_{\rm B}}{a \,H} \right),\tag{5.66}$$

where $\delta \phi_{\text{GI}}$ is the gauge-invariant form of the scalar field perturbations and Φ_{B} is a Bardeen potential depending on the perturbative scalar functions in the perturbed metric [66]. The action for the variable ξ is obtained as the scalar part of the second variation of the total action, that is, of both the gravitational sector and the matter action (5.63):

$$\delta^2 S = \int \frac{d\eta \, d^3 x}{c^2} \left((\xi')^2 - \delta^{ij} \, c^2 \, \partial_i \xi \, \partial_j \xi + \xi^2 \, \frac{z''}{z} \right), \qquad z = a \sqrt{\epsilon} \,, \tag{5.67}$$

where $\epsilon = -\dot{H}/H^2$ is the first slow-roll parameter.

Now, since I am working with linear perturbations where each mode evolves independently, a Fourier decomposition can be performed so that the action greatly simplifies:

$$\xi(x,\eta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}} \sum_{k} \xi_k(\eta) e^{ikx}, \qquad (5.68)$$

$$\delta^2 S = \int \frac{d\eta}{c^2} \sum_k \left(\xi_k^* \,' \, \xi_k' - \omega_k^2 \, \xi_k^* \, \xi_k \right), \qquad \omega_k^2 = k^2 \, c^2 - \frac{z''}{z}, \tag{5.69}$$

where $\omega_k = \omega_k(\eta)$ is a time-dependent frequency. Note that if I assume ξ to be real, then $\xi_k^* = \xi_{-k}$. The momentum conjugate to ξ_k is defined as $\pi_k = \xi'_k/c^2$ and finally the Hamiltonian for the scalar perturbations is

$$\mathcal{H} = \sum_{k} \mathcal{H}_{k}, \qquad \mathcal{H}_{k} = \frac{c^{2}}{2} \pi_{k}^{*} \pi_{k} + \frac{\omega_{k}^{2}(\eta)}{2 c^{2}} \xi_{k}^{*} \xi_{k}.$$
(5.70)

In order to calculate the Power Spectrum, I will make the assumption that during the inflationary era the evolution is dominated by the Cosmological Constant and therefore all other components are negligible; besides, if inflation starts late enough, $\rho \ll \rho_{\mu}$ and, as mentioned in the last section, the correction factor in (5.56) is negligible:

$$H^{2} = \frac{\chi}{3} \rho_{\Lambda} = H_{s}^{2}, \qquad (5.71)$$

where H_s is the constant Hubble parameter of inflation. Note that, to be precise, in a pure de Sitter universe the background matter field is set to a constant value and thus, in principle, it does not make sense to speak about its perturbations. This is shown explicitly in the appearance of the slow-roll parameter ϵ , which in this limit should be vanishing; indeed in this case a Power Spectrum cannot be obtained since inflation never stops. Nonetheless, the computations can be performed by keeping the slow-roll parameter as a non-vanishing constant, and this particular case represents a very good and easy-to-compute example to derive a Power Spectrum. In this regime, conformal time acquires a precise dependence on the scale factor and the frequency ω_k greatly simplifies:

$$\eta = -\frac{1}{a H_s}, \qquad \omega_k^2(\eta) = k^2 c^2 - \frac{2}{\eta^2}.$$
(5.72)

Before implementing quantization, in principle real counterparts of ξ_k and π_k should be defined, otherwise the procedure is not entirely consistent [159]. However this will make no difference in later calculations, and therefore I will not define such

new variables to avoid cluttering the notation, as done in [66]. The only modification that I will implement is a rescaling of both variables by the speed of light c to simplify the constraint; in particular I will substitute $\pi_k^{\text{new}} = \pi_k^{\text{old}} c$ and $\xi_k^{\text{new}} = \xi_k^{\text{old}}/c$. Therefore the Hamiltonian operator that I will use is

$$\hat{\mathcal{H}} = \sum_{k} \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{k}, \qquad \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{k} = \frac{\hat{\pi}_{k}^{2}}{2} + \frac{\omega_{k}^{2}(\eta)}{2}\hat{\xi}_{k}^{2}; \qquad (5.73)$$

the right units will be recovered later in the definition of the Power Spectrum.

Now the quantization of the system can be performed and the Power Spectrum can be computed. I will first briefly present the standard Spectrum derived through the canonical quantization, and then find the modified Spectrum coming from the algebra (5.54).

In Standard Quantum Mechanics, the two operators corresponding to the Fourier modes will obey the standard commutation relations and will have the standard action:

$$\left[\hat{\xi}_k, \hat{\pi}_k\right] = i\,\hbar, \qquad \hat{\xi}_k\,\psi(\xi_k) = \xi_k\,\psi(\xi_k), \qquad \hat{\pi}_k\,\psi(\xi_k) = -i\,\hbar\,\frac{\partial}{\partial\xi_k}\psi(\xi_k). \tag{5.74}$$

A single Fourier mode has Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_k with a time-dependent frequency $\omega_k(\eta)$; therefore the wavefunctions $\psi(\eta, \xi_k)$ will obey a time-dependent Schrödinger equation of the form

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial\eta}\psi(\eta,\xi_k) = \frac{1}{2}\left(-\hbar^2\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\xi_k^2} + \omega_k^2(\eta)\,\xi_k^2\right)\psi(\eta,\xi_k).$$
(5.75)

This is the Schrödinger equation of a harmonic oscillator with time-dependent frequency. The solution to such a system can be found through the method of invariants [139, 140, 182] and is a superposition of the following normalized wavefunctions:

$$\psi_n(\eta,\xi_k) = \frac{h_n\left(\frac{\xi_k}{\sqrt{\hbar}\,F}\right)}{\sqrt{2^n\,n!}} \,\frac{e^{-\frac{\xi_k^2}{2\,\hbar\,F^2}}}{(\pi\,\hbar\,F^2)^{\frac{1}{4}}} \,e^{i\,\frac{F'}{2\,\hbar\,F}\,\xi_k^2} \,e^{i\,\sigma_n},\tag{5.76}$$

where $\sigma_n = \sigma_n(\eta) = -(n + \frac{1}{2}) \int F^{-2} d\eta$ is a time-dependent phase, h_n are Hermite polynomials and $F = F(\eta)$ is an auxiliary function with units of the square root of time that is solution to the following differential equation:

$$F'' + \omega_k^2 F - F^{-3} = 0; (5.77)$$

the solution to the time-independent harmonic oscillator can be easily recovered by making the substitution $F \to 1/\sqrt{\omega_k}$ and making it constant.

The Spectrum for ξ_k can then be calculated by linking its perturbations to the curvature perturbations [66], yielding

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{std}}(k) = \left. \frac{c^2 k^3}{4 \pi^2} \left. \frac{\langle 0|\hat{\xi}_k^2|0\rangle}{a^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1}$$
(5.78)

where $\eta \to 0^-$ corresponds to $t \to +\infty$ so that $-c k \eta \to 0$ is the large scale limit (the factor c^2 appears due to the rescaling of ξ_k performed earlier). The expectation value of $\hat{\xi}_k^2$ is computed on the vacuum state i.e. the ground state of the time-dependent oscillator; therefore I must find the expression for $\hat{\xi}_k \psi_n$. This can be done by constructing ladder operators for the time-dependent system: they take the form [112]

$$\hat{A}^{\dagger} = \frac{\frac{\hat{\xi}_k}{F} - i(F\,\hat{\pi}_k - F'\,\hat{\xi}_k)}{\sqrt{2\,\hbar}}, \qquad \hat{A}^{\dagger}\,\psi_n = \sqrt{n+1}\,e^{i\varphi}\,\psi_{n+1}; \tag{5.79}$$

$$\hat{A} = \frac{\frac{\hat{\xi}_k}{F} + i(F\,\hat{\pi}_k - F'\,\hat{\xi}_k)}{\sqrt{2\,\hbar}}, \qquad \hat{A}\,\psi_n = \sqrt{n}\,e^{-i\varphi}\,\psi_{n-1}; \tag{5.80}$$

from these I can derive the expressions of $\hat{\xi}_k$ and $\hat{\pi}_k$ as functions of the ladder operators, and their actions on an eigenstate ψ_n :

$$\hat{\xi}_k = \sqrt{\hbar} F \frac{\hat{A}^{\dagger} + \hat{A}}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad \hat{\pi}_k = i \frac{\sqrt{\hbar}}{F} \frac{\hat{A}^{\dagger} - \hat{A}}{\sqrt{2}} + \sqrt{\hbar} F' \frac{\hat{A}^{\dagger} + \hat{A}}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad (5.81)$$

$$\hat{\xi}_k \,\psi_n = \sqrt{\hbar} \,F\left(\sqrt{\frac{n+1}{2}} \,e^{i\varphi}\,\psi_{n+1} + \sqrt{\frac{n}{2}} \,e^{-i\varphi}\,\psi_{n-1}\right),\tag{5.82}$$

$$\hat{\pi}_k \,\psi_n = i \,\frac{\sqrt{\hbar}}{F} \left(\mathcal{R} \,\sqrt{\frac{n+1}{2}} \,e^{i\varphi} \,\psi_{n+1} - \mathcal{R}^* \,\sqrt{\frac{n}{2}} \,e^{-i\varphi} \,\psi_{n-1} \right), \tag{5.83}$$

where I defined

$$\mathcal{R} = 1 - i F F', \qquad \varphi = \int \frac{d\eta}{F^2}. \tag{5.84}$$

Finally, I can write the single-mode Hamiltonian operator as function of the ladder operators, and find its action on a state ψ_n :

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{k} &= \frac{\hbar}{4 F^{2}} \left(\omega_{k}^{2} F^{4} \left(\hat{A}^{\dagger} + \hat{A} \right)^{2} - \left(\hat{A}^{\dagger} - \hat{A} \right)^{2} \right) + \\ &+ \frac{\hbar}{4} \frac{F'}{F} \left(\hat{A}^{\dagger} + \hat{A} \right) \left(F F' \left(\hat{A}^{\dagger} + \hat{A} \right) + 2 i \left(\hat{A}^{\dagger} - \hat{A} \right) \right), \end{aligned} \tag{5.85}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{\mathcal{H}}_{k} \psi_{n} &= \frac{\hbar}{4 F^{2}} \left(2n + 1 \right) \left(F^{4} \omega_{k}^{2} + F^{2} F'^{2} + 1 \right) \psi_{n} + \\ &+ \frac{\hbar}{4 F^{2}} \sqrt{(n+1)(n+2)} e^{2i\varphi} \left(F^{4} \omega_{k}^{2} - \mathcal{R}^{2} \right) \psi_{n+2} + \\ &+ \frac{\hbar}{4 F^{2}} \sqrt{n(n-1)} e^{-2i\varphi} \left(F^{4} \omega_{k}^{2} - \left(\mathcal{R}^{*} \right)^{2} \right) \psi_{n-2} \,. \end{aligned} \tag{5.86}$$

Obviously this expression implies that the states ψ_n are not eigenstates of the Hamiltonian operator, which was to be expected since it is explicitly time-dependent; however, by making the substitution $F \to 1/\sqrt{\omega_k}$ and making it a constant, so that F' = 0, $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}^* = 1$, and $F^4 \omega_k^2 = 1$, all these relations reduce to the standard formulas of the time-independent harmonic oscillator, including $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_k = \hbar \omega_k \hat{A}^{\dagger} \hat{A}$. Nevertheless, in the time-dependent system it is still possible to construct the operator

$$\hat{I} = \hbar \hat{A}^{\dagger} \hat{A} = \frac{\frac{\hat{\xi}_k^2}{F^2} + (F \hat{\pi}_k - F' \hat{\xi}_k)^2}{2}, \qquad \hat{I} \psi_n = \hbar \left(n + \frac{1}{2} \right) \psi_n, \qquad (5.87)$$

which is actually the quantum version of the original invariant defined by Lewis and Riesenfeld [139, 140], and it can be used to find coherent states for the timedependent harmonic oscillator; they reduce to the standard coherent states of the time-independent harmonic oscillator under the substitution $F = 1/\sqrt{\omega_k} = \text{const.}$ [112]. As a final comment, note that all these relations in term of the ladder operators are the same regardless if the states ψ_n are expressed in the ξ_k or the π_k polarization.

Now it is possible to compute the expectation value of $\hat{\xi}_k^2$ on the ground state. Since $\hat{\xi}_k \psi_0 = e^{i\varphi} \sqrt{\hbar} F \psi_1/\sqrt{2}$ and the wavefunctions are already normalized as $\langle \psi_n | \psi_n \rangle = \int d\xi_k |\psi_n|^2 = 1$, then

$$\langle 0|\hat{\xi}_{k}^{2}|0\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\xi_{k} \ \psi_{0}^{*} \hat{\xi}_{k}^{2} \psi_{0} = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\xi_{k} \ \left|\hat{\xi}_{k} \psi_{0}\right|^{2} = = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} d\xi_{k} \ \left|\frac{\sqrt{\hbar} \ F \ \psi_{1} \ e^{i\varphi}}{\sqrt{2}}\right|^{2} = \frac{\hbar}{2} F^{2}.$$

$$(5.88)$$

To calculate the Spectrum only the expression of $F(\eta)$ is needed.

The solution to the auxiliary equation (5.77) can be constructed from the solutions F_1 and F_2 of the corresponding homogeneous equation:

$$F'' + \omega_k^2 F = 0, (5.89)$$

$$F_1(\eta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c\,k}} \left(\cos(c\,k\,\eta) - \frac{\sin(c\,k\,\eta)}{c\,k\,\eta} \right),\tag{5.90}$$

$$F_2(\eta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c\,k}} \left(\frac{\cos(c\,k\,\eta)}{c\,k\,\eta} + \sin(c\,k\,\eta) \right). \tag{5.91}$$

Then the function F takes the form

$$F(\eta) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{W}} \left(C_1^2 F_1^2 + C_2^2 F_2^2 + 2 F_1 F_2 \sqrt{C_1^2 C_2^2 - \mathcal{W}^2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$
(5.92)

where C_1 , C_2 are η -independent constants and \mathcal{W} is the Wronskian:

$$\mathcal{W} = F_1 F_2' - F_1' F_2 = 1. \tag{5.93}$$

The two constants must be set through initial conditions: the standard requirement is that at the beginning of inflation, when all the modes of astrophysical interest today have a physical wavelength smaller than the Hubble radius $c k/a H \gg 1$, the expansion of the Universe does not affect perturbations and therefore each mode behaves as a harmonic oscillator with constant frequency. Hence I impose that modes asymptotically approach Minkowskian quantum harmonic oscillators with frequency c k:

$$\lim_{r=ck\eta\to\infty} F(\eta) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c\,k}}\,;\tag{5.94}$$

this is satisfied by setting $C_1^2 = C_2^2 = 1$, so that the expression for F is

$$F(\eta) = \sqrt{\frac{1 + c^2 k^2 \eta^2}{c^3 k^3 \eta^2}} .$$
 (5.95)

Then, inserting this expression into the Spectrum, taking the large scale limit $-c k \eta \ll 1$ and remembering the dependence of η on the scale factor (5.72), the final expression for the Spectrum is

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{std}}(k) = \left. \frac{c^2 k^3}{4 \pi^2} \left. \frac{\hbar F^2(\eta)}{2 a^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} (1 + c^2 k^2 \eta^2) \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \left. \frac{\hbar}{c} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \right|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} \left. \frac{H_s^2$$

The result is the usual flat, scale-invariant Spectrum [220].

Now I will instead derive the Power Spectrum that arises from the Fouriertransformed Mukhanov-Sasaki variable ξ_k obeying the modified algebra (3.46):

$$\left[\hat{\xi}_k, \hat{\pi}_k\right] = i\,\hbar\left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 t_P \,\hat{\pi}_k^2}{\hbar}\right),\tag{5.97}$$

where π_k^2 has the dimensions of an energy so I introduced the Planck constant and Planck time t_P to keep the deformation parameter μ_0 still dimensionless. Due to the modified commutator depending on π_k , it will be easier to work in the momentum polarization, i.e. with wavefunctions $\psi = \psi(\eta, \pi_k)$, as explained in Section 3.3.

By using arguments similar to those in [34, 202] and explained in (3.30), imposing that in the momentum polarization the scalar field operator acts simply differentially, the action of the multiplicative momentum operator $\hat{\pi}_k \psi(\pi_k) = G(\pi_k) \psi(\pi_k)$ can be found as

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}G}{\mathrm{d}\pi_k} = 1 - \frac{t_P}{\hbar} \,\mu_0^2 \,G^2, \qquad \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{t_P}} \,\frac{\mathrm{atanh}\left(\sqrt{\frac{t_P}{\hbar}} \,\mu_0 \,G\right)}{\mu_0} = \pi_k\,; \tag{5.98}$$

therefore the action of the fundamental operators is

$$\hat{\pi}_k \psi = \sqrt{\frac{\hbar}{t_P}} \frac{\tanh\left(\sqrt{\frac{t_P}{\hbar}} \,\mu_0 \,\pi_k\right)}{\mu_0} \psi, \qquad \hat{\xi}_k \,\psi = i\hbar \frac{\partial}{\partial \pi_k} \psi, \qquad (5.99)$$

as expected from (3.50).

Given the action (5.99) for the modified operator $\hat{\pi}_k$, the Hamiltonian \mathcal{H}_k for a single Fourier mode yields a time-dependent Schrödinger equation with a modified kinetic term:

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\psi}{\partial\eta} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\hbar}{t_P}\frac{\tanh^2\left(\sqrt{\frac{t_P}{\hbar}}\,\mu_0\,\pi_k\right)}{\mu_0^2} - \hbar^2\,\omega_k^2(\eta)\,\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\pi_k^2}\right)\psi\,.$$
(5.100)

This partial differential equation (PDE) is quite difficult to solve, so I need to use perturbation theory and perform an expansion in powers of μ_0^2 :

$$\frac{\hbar}{t_P} \frac{\tanh^2\left(\sqrt{\frac{t_P}{\hbar}} \,\mu_0 \,\pi_k\right)}{\mu_0^2} = \pi_k^2 - \mu_0^2 \frac{t_P}{\hbar} \frac{2\pi_k^4}{3} + \mathcal{O}\left(\mu_0^4\right), \tag{5.101}$$

$$\psi(\eta, \pi_k) = \psi^0(\eta, \pi_k) + \mu_0^2 \psi^1(\eta, \pi_k) + \mathcal{O}(\mu_0^4).$$
(5.102)

Plugging these expansions back into the Schrödinger equation (5.100) and separating the different powers of μ_0^2 , the two new PDEs for the two components ψ^0 and ψ^1 are:

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\psi^0}{\partial\eta} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\pi_k^2 - \hbar^2\omega_k^2(\eta)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\pi_k^2}\right)\psi^0,\tag{5.103}$$

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial\psi^1}{\partial\eta} = \frac{1}{2}\left(\pi_k^2 - \hbar^2\omega_k^2(\eta)\frac{\partial^2}{\partial\pi_k^2}\right)\psi^1 + \Sigma, \qquad (5.104)$$

$$\Sigma = \Sigma(\pi_k) = -\frac{t_P}{\hbar} \frac{\pi_k^4}{3} \psi^0, \qquad (5.105)$$

where Σ indicates a source term for the μ_0^2 -order equation that results to be dependent on the zero-order solution.

Now, the zero-order PDE (5.103) is the Schrödinger equation of a time-dependent harmonic oscillator with standard operators, but in the momentum polarization; therefore the solution $\psi^0(\eta, \pi_k)$ is just the Fourier transform of $\psi_n(\eta, \xi_k)$. In order to derive it, I first rewrite the ξ_k solution (5.76) as

$$\psi_n(\eta,\xi_k) = \frac{h_n\left(\frac{\xi_k}{\sqrt{\hbar} F}\right)}{\sqrt{2^n n!}} \frac{e^{-\frac{\mathcal{R}\,\xi_k^2}{2\,\hbar F^2}}}{(\pi\,\hbar\,F^2)^{\frac{1}{4}}} e^{i\sigma_n},\tag{5.106}$$

where \mathcal{R} has been defined in (5.84) and depends on η . Even though this depends on time through F, \mathcal{R} and σ_n , this dependence doesn't affect the implementation of a Fourier transform. Indeed, it is possible to write

$$\psi_n(\eta, \pi_k) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{d\xi_k}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}} \,\psi_n(\eta, \xi_k) \,e^{-i\frac{\xi_k\pi_k}{\hbar}},\tag{5.107}$$

$$\psi_n(\eta,\xi_k) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{d\pi_k}{\sqrt{2\pi\hbar}} \,\psi_n(\eta,\pi_k) \,e^{i\frac{\xi_k\pi_k}{\hbar}},\tag{5.108}$$

and then to insert the last expression inside equation (5.75). It is not too hard to see that the Fourier transform of the solution of equation (5.75) satisfies equation (5.103). Now, the expression (5.106) for $\psi_n(\eta, \xi_k)$ is just a slightly more complicated version of a Gaussian times a Hermite polynomial, so it is expected that its Fourier transform will have a similar form; indeed, by computing the integral (5.107), I obtain

$$\psi_n^0 = (-i)^n \left(\frac{\mathcal{R}^*}{\mathcal{R}}\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} h_n \left(\frac{\pi_k F}{\sqrt{\hbar} |\mathcal{R}|}\right) \sqrt{\frac{F}{2^n n! \mathcal{R} \sqrt{\pi \hbar}}} e^{-\frac{F^2 \pi_k^2}{2\mathcal{R} \hbar}} e^{i\sigma_n}, \qquad (5.109)$$

which is again a Hermite polynomial times a Gaussian with inverted variance; the phase term containing σ_n depends only on time and is thus unaffected, the term $(\mathcal{R}^*/\mathcal{R})^{n/2}$ normalizes the Hermite polynomials, and the factor $(-i)^n$ is needed to make the action of the ladder operators consistent. This expression is a solution of the momentum-space Schrödinger equation (5.103), is normalized and satisfies all the needed relations; besides, it again reduces to the standard momentum-space solution of the time-independent harmonic oscillator under the substitution $F \to 1/\sqrt{\omega_k} = \text{const.}$

Looking at the first order PDE (5.104), it is the same of the zero order one but with the addition of the source term $\Sigma(\eta, \pi_k)$. In order to solve it, consider that the eigenfunctions $\psi_n^0(\eta, \pi_k)$ form a complete orthonormal basis such that $\langle \psi_{n_1} | \psi_{n_2} \rangle = \delta_{n_1,n_2}$ and any function can be expressed as a linear combination of them. Therefore I can write ψ^1 and ψ^0 as

$$\psi^{0} = \sum_{n} b_{n}(\eta) \psi_{n}(\eta, \pi_{k}), \qquad \psi^{1} = \sum_{n} d_{n}(\eta) \psi_{n}(\eta, \pi_{k}), \qquad (5.110)$$

where $b_n(\eta)$, $d_n(\eta)$ are time-dependent coefficients; by plugging these expansions back into the first order Schrödinger equation (5.104), a recurrence relation for the coefficients is obtained, since all the eigenfunctions ψ_n^0 satisfy the zero-order equation (5.103) that corresponds to the homogeneous part of the first order one:

$$i\hbar\sum_{n} \frac{\mathrm{d}\,d_{n}}{\mathrm{d}\eta}\,\psi_{n}^{0}(\eta,\pi_{k}) = -\frac{t_{P}}{\hbar}\,\frac{\pi_{k}^{4}}{3}\sum_{n}\,b_{n}(\eta)\,\psi_{n}^{0}(\eta,\pi_{k}).$$
(5.111)

Considering just the ground state, the result (5.83) for π_k yields

$$\pi_k^4 \psi_0 = \frac{3\hbar^2}{4} \frac{\mathcal{R}^2 \left(\mathcal{R}^*\right)^2}{F^4} \psi_0 - \frac{3\hbar^2}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\mathcal{R}^3 \mathcal{R}^*}{F^4} e^{2i\varphi} \psi_2 + \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \frac{\hbar^2 \mathcal{R}^4}{F^4} e^{4i\varphi} \psi_4; \quad (5.112)$$

it is thus clear that, when $b_n = \delta_{0,n}$, the only non-zero coefficients on the left hand side of equation (5.111) are d_0 , d_2 and d_4 . Therefore the relations for these coefficients are:

$$i\frac{\mathrm{d}\,d_0}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = -\frac{t_P}{4}\,\frac{(1+F^2\,F'^2)^2}{F^4},\tag{5.113}$$

$$i\frac{\mathrm{d}\,d_2}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = +\frac{t_P}{\sqrt{2}}\,\frac{(1+F^2\,F'^2)(1-i\,F\,F')^2}{F^4}\,e^{2i\varphi},\tag{5.114}$$

$$i\frac{\mathrm{d}\,d_4}{\mathrm{d}\eta} = -\frac{t_P}{\sqrt{6}}\,\frac{(1-i\,F\,F')^4}{F^4}\,e^{4i\varphi}.$$
(5.115)

Finally, the ground state of this system in the π_k representation is

$$\psi_0^{\text{tot}}(\eta, \pi_k) = \psi_0^0(\eta, \pi_k) + \mu_0^2 \sum_{n=0}^2 d_{2n}(\eta) \, \psi_{2n}^0(\eta, \pi_k).$$
(5.116)

From here on I will omit the superscript indicating the order, since I expressed ψ^1 and ψ^0 as linear combinations of $\psi_n(\eta, \pi_k)$.

In order to find the final Spectrum of perturbations I have to evaluate the expectation value $\langle \hat{\xi}_k^2 \rangle$ on the ground state; the expression (5.82) allows to write

$$\left\langle \psi_0^{\text{tot}} \Big| \hat{\xi}_k^2 \Big| \psi_0^{\text{tot}} \right\rangle = \int d\pi_k \, \psi_0^{\text{tot}^*} \hat{\xi}_k^2 \, \psi_0^{\text{tot}} = \int d\pi_k \, \left| \hat{\xi}_k \, \psi_0^{\text{tot}} \right|^2 = = \int d\pi_k \, \hbar F^2 \left| \frac{1 + \mu_0^2 \, d_0}{\sqrt{2}} \, e^{i\varphi} \, \psi_1 + \mu_0^2 \, d_2 \, e^{-i\varphi} \, \psi_1 + \ldots \right|^2,$$
(5.117)

where the dots indicate terms proportional to ψ_3 and ψ_5 , whose square modulus would contribute with terms of order μ_0^4 which would be neglected. The norm of ψ_0^{tot} is easily calculated to be $|\psi_0^{\text{tot}}|^2 = 1 + 2\mu_0^2 \operatorname{Re}(d_0)$, since $\int d\pi_k |\psi_n|^2 = 1$, and thus the normalized expectation value of $\hat{\xi}_k^2$ results to be

$$\frac{\left\langle \hat{\xi}_{k}^{2} \right\rangle}{\left|\psi_{0}^{\text{tot}}\right|^{2}} = \frac{\hbar F^{2}}{2\left|\psi_{0}^{\text{tot}}\right|^{2}} \left(1 + 2\mu_{0}^{2}\operatorname{Re}(d_{0}) + 2\sqrt{2}\mu_{0}^{2}\operatorname{Re}(d_{2}e^{-2i\varphi})\right) = \\
= \frac{\hbar F^{2}}{2} \left(1 + \frac{2\sqrt{2}\mu_{0}^{2}\operatorname{Re}(d_{2}e^{-2i\varphi})}{1 + 2\mu_{0}^{2}\operatorname{Re}(d_{0})}\right).$$
(5.118)

As expected, the zero-order term is the same as for the standard Spectrum (5.88); on the other hand, for the μ_0^2 -order correction only d_0 and d_2 are needed among the coefficients of the expansion.

Looking at equation (5.113), the right hand side is real; therefore d_0 has a purely imaginary time derivative, and its real time-independent part must be set through initial conditions. I will adopt the same prescription as in [158, 201] and assume that the wavefunction is in the instantaneous ground state at the beginning of inflation: I can therefore write $d_0(\eta_s) = 0$ and, since its real part is independent of time, it will remain zero throughout the evolution. Then I solve the integral (5.114) for $d_2(\eta)$, insert it into the Spectrum and find the asymptotic behaviour:

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{mod}}(k) = \frac{c^2 k^3}{4 \pi^2} \frac{\hbar F^2}{2 a^2 \epsilon} \left(1 - 2 \sqrt{2} \mu_0^2 \operatorname{Re}(d_2 e^{-2i\varphi}) \right) \Big|_{-ck\eta \ll 1} = \frac{\hbar}{c} \frac{H_s^2}{8 \pi^2 \epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{4 t_P \mu_0^2}{7 c^5 k^5 \eta^6} \right) \Big|_{-ck\eta \ll 1}.$$
(5.119)

Now, by performing the limit $-ck\eta \to 0$ this correction term would diverge; however, inflation doesn't actually go on forever but ends at some finite instant; therefore it is possible to choose to compute the Spectrum at the value $\eta = \eta_f$ that is the end of inflation. Then I can set $\eta_f = 2\pi/c \bar{k}$ where \bar{k} is a pivot scale and, by choosing the standard pivotal scale $\bar{k} = 0.002 M p c^{-1}$ used in the analyses of CMB Spectra, the Spectrum can then be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{mod}}(k) = \frac{\hbar}{c} \frac{H_s^2}{8\pi^2 \epsilon} \left(1 - \frac{4}{7} \frac{c t_P \overline{k}}{(2\pi)^6} \mu_0^2 \left(\frac{\overline{k}}{\overline{k}}\right)^5 \right) = \\ \approx \mathcal{P}^{\text{std}} \left(1 - 10^{-65} \mu_0^2 \left(\frac{\overline{k}}{\overline{k}}\right)^5 \right).$$
(5.120)

Finally, by asking that at the pivot scale $k = \overline{k}$ corrections be of order lower than 10^{-3} , I obtain a constraint on the deformation parameter:

$$\mu_0 < 10^{31}.\tag{5.121}$$

In Figure 5.9 the modified Power Spectrum (rescaled to the standard one) is shown for different values of the deformation parameter μ_0 ; the result is a suppression of the Spectrum for small values of k (corresponding to large scales), and the magnitude of the suppression depends on the deformation parameter μ_0 .

I conclude by noting that this construction is similar to the implementation of modified dispersion relations, with the exception that those would be implemented



Figure 5.9. The modified Power Spectrum \mathcal{P}^{mod} rescaled to the standard one \mathcal{P}^{std} for $\mu_0 = 10^{30}$ (black continuous line), $\mu_0 = 10^{15}$ (red dashed line) and $\mu_0 = 1$ (blue dotted line). The pivotal scale $k = \overline{k}$ and the standard flat Spectrum are indicated by faded grey lines.

as having a different frequency ω_k , i.e. they would affect the form of the auxiliary equation (5.77), while these modifications are implemented at a more fundamental level on the commutation relations. Different forms of modified dispersion relations have been analyzed in the past, but they usually predict a red tilt of the Spectrum (either in the form of a suppression at high energies or of an infrared divergence), exotic behaviours such as oscillations in certain ranges, or no correction at all (see for example [63, 64, 69, 161]). On the other hand, computations of the Primordial Power Spectrum in Emergent Universe models obtained with different mechanisms have been shown to sometimes yield a suppression at large scale similar to the one found here, although with different magnitude and features [117, 118, 160]. Therefore this might perhaps be a general prediction of the kind of constructions that allow for an Einstein-static beginning of the Universe.

To conclude, there have been other attempts to generate an Emergent Universe scenario, but they usually have specific requirements, such as specific shapes of the potential, the presence of exotic matter or a modified continuity equation for matter (for example, see [128, 171, 172] and references therein). The relevance of the construction presented here consists in the possibility to have a finite volume limit in the distant past of the Universe without any fine-tuning of the initial conditions or any need for strange forms of matter, but just as a natural and general feature of the modified PUP algebra (3.46).

The present model has the merit to make the non-singular EU model a general feature of the isotropic Universe when a specific sector of cut-off physics is addressed. Furthermore, such a non purely classical feature of the Universe dynamics is expected

to leave a specific trace on the primordial Spectrum, which could in principle be identified as a fingerprint on the temperature distribution of the microwave background.

It remains as a future research objective to determine how general the proposed scenario is, for example by considering more general cosmological models. Clearly, these cosmological frameworks can be reconciled to the isotropic late Universe by the inflationary de Sitter phase [132], whose associated Spectrum should have a corrected morphology which is expected to be similar to the one presented here.

Chapter 6

Non-Singular Gravitational Collapse

The problem of understanding the final fate of the gravitational collapse of an astrophysical object is a long standing question in literature [73, 183, 188]. In particular, the existence of the upper limits for the mass of compact stars [61, 77, 176, 215], above which the gravitational collapse is no longer contrasted by the matter pressure with the consequent formation of a black hole, constitutes one of the most outstanding and still debated results [76, 86, 113]. Indeed the observation of neutron stars with mass potentially greater than two Solar masses [12, 40, 83] opened the way to a series of conjectures concerning the possible physical explanation for this unexpected evidence, including scenarios with new physics for the gravitational field (see for instance the scalarization phenomenon in modified gravity [85, 127, 204]).

In this section I consider the collapse of a spherical dust cloud, infalling under the effect of its self-gravity, both in the Newtonian and in the fully relativistic limit. In the Newtonian limit, I adopt the representation of the spherical collapse proposed by Hunter in [119], which consists of a Lagrangian description for the dynamics of the background configuration and of an Euler formulation of the behavior characterizing small perturbations. While the background dynamics is characterized by a pressureless free fall, when studying the perturbations I will adopt a polytropic equation of state and the pressure contribution is relevant for the system stability.

In the general relativistic case, I adopt the Oppenheimer-Snyder model [175] in which the region external to the cloud is, according to the Birkhoff theorem [47, 164], a Schwarzschild spacetime, while the interior of the collapsing object is associated to a Robertson-Walker geometry with positive curvature. The two spacetime regions are then suitably matched on the boundary of the collapsing cloud. The stability of this collapse is then studied by considering the dynamics of the interior as the background, in agreement with the Lifshitz formulation of the cosmological perturbations [136, 142]. The equation of state for these perturbations has been taken in the isothermal form and the constant sound velocity is a free parameter, replacing the polytropic index of the Newtonian formulation.

The motivation of this study comes exactly from the fact that the interior metric of the cloud in the general relativistic formulation is equivalent to a closed RW geometry. Therefore, by introducing cut-off physics effect, it is expected that the singularity be removed and the collapse be stopped, similarly to a cosmological model. In particular, I will use the PUP algebra (3.46) introduced in 3.3, whose ability to implement an asymptotically static phase has been explored in [34, 37] as shown in Section 5.2. I stress that the assumption of a free falling background configuration, made both in the non-relativistic and relativistic cases, has been chosen in order to emphasize the effect of the repulsive gravity induced by cut-off physics, simply because they are not hidden here by the presence of a matter pressure contribution.

The present analysis is characterized by two main relevant results. First, it is always possible to obtain an asymptotically static configuration of the background collapse in correspondence to a radius greater than the Schwarzschild value; second, for a suitable range of the free parameters of the perturbation dynamics, the background configuration results to be stable to small perturbations. Furthermore, it is worth stressing that these two results remain valid in the limit of a very small (even sub-Planckian) value for the cut-off parameter μ_0 that characterizes the modification of the Poisson brackets. This fact suggests that the presence of a cut-off physics in the gravitational collapse constitutes an intrinsic modification of the gravitational force with respect to the standard Newtonian or Einsteinian gravity and that the singular collapse is never recovered in the modified dynamics.

In other words, by including quantum corrections in the description of a spherical dust collapse, as expected in an effective quantum gravity scenario, the resulting dynamics is always associated to the existence of a physical (super-Schwarzschild) static and, for a given range of the free parameters of the model, stable configuration. This results, and in particular the capability of cut-off physics effects to determine a macroscopic modification i.e. the stabilization of the dust collapse above the event horizon, open a new perspective in understanding the basic ingredients to fix the morphology and the final fate of astrophysical bodies. More specifically, once a real equation of state is considered and the star radial inhomogeneity properly accounted for, it could be possible to give constraints on the value of the cut-off parameter that could accommodate the observed violation of the Chandrasekhar or Tolman-Oppenheimer-Volkoff limits.

The results of this chapter are included in the paper [36].

6.1 Semiclassical Collapse in Different Formulations

In this section I first introduce the Newtonian description for the collapse of a dust cloud, developed by Hunter [119], in its Hamiltonian formulation. The Hunter model consists in a homogeneous and isotropic sphere of dust, initially at rest, collapsing under the action of its own gravity; therefore the density ρ is a function of time only and the pressure gradients are identically zero (this won't be valid anymore when studying perturbations later). Then I implement the modified algebra (3.46) on a semiclassical level to show how the singularity is removed and also derive some bounds on the deformation parameter μ_0 by requiring that the non-relativistic assumption hold.

Then I will also study the collapse from a general relativistic point of view. Therefore the starting point will be the Oppenheimer-Snyder collapse model [87, 175], for which I will present the Hamiltonian formulation and then implement on it the same PUP algebra.

Note that, similarly to Section 5.2, I will keep the necessary constants explicit in order to have the deformation parameter μ_0 dimensionless.

6.1.1 The Newtonian Hunter Model

Given spherical symmetry, it is enough to study the evolution of the radius r of the sphere; using the Newtonian gravitational potential, the Hamiltonian (actually the Hamiltonian per unit mass) results to be

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{p_r^2}{2} - \frac{GM}{r},\tag{6.1}$$

where p_r is the momentum conjugate to r, G is Newton's gravitational constant, and M is the total mass of the cloud. The Hamilton equations are

$$\dot{r} = \frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial p_r} = p_r, \qquad \dot{p}_r = -\frac{\partial \mathcal{H}}{\partial r} = -\frac{GM}{r^2};$$
(6.2)

dividing the second equation by the first, a differential equation for $p_r(r)$ is obtained that can be integrated with the initial conditions $r = r_0$ and $\dot{r} = p_r = 0$ at t = 0, where r_0 is the initial radius of the cloud:

$$\frac{\partial p_r}{\partial r} = \frac{\dot{p}_r}{\dot{r}} = -\frac{GM}{r^2 p_r}, \quad p_r(r) = \pm \sqrt{2GM\left(\frac{1}{r} - \frac{1}{r_0}\right)}.$$
(6.3)

Then, substituting the solution with the minus sign (since in a collapse $\dot{r} < 0$) in the equation for \dot{r} and defining $a = r/r_0$ yields a solution for a(t) in implicit form:

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3} \frac{1-a}{a}},\tag{6.4}$$

$$\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3}} \ t = \sqrt{a(1-a)} + a\cos\sqrt{a}.$$
(6.5)

By setting $a(t_0) = 0$, the time of collapse t_0 is found to be

$$t_0 = \frac{\pi}{2} \sqrt{\frac{r_0^3}{2GM}}.$$
 (6.6)

The solution is shown in Figure 6.1 compared with the modified non-singular solution that I will now derive.

To obtain the modified evolution, I start from the same Hamiltonian (6.1) but derive the equations of motion through the modified Poisson brackets (3.46) implemented on the variables (r, p_r) :

$$\{r, p_r\} = 1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_r^2}{c^2}, \qquad \dot{r} = p_r \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_r^2}{c^2}\right), \qquad \dot{p}_r = -\frac{GM}{r^2} \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_r^2}{c^2}\right), \quad (6.7)$$

where p_r has the dimensions of a velocity and therefore I inserted the speed of light c to keep μ_0 dimensionless. Now, dividing the second equation by the first yields the same relation (6.3), and substituting back into the deformed equation for \dot{a} a differential equation for a(t) is obtained:

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3} \frac{1-a}{a}} \left(1 - \frac{2GM\,\mu_0^2}{r_0\,c^2} \frac{1-a}{a}\right). \tag{6.8}$$

Similarly to the situations in Chapter 5, the modified algebra has introduced a critical point: the value $a_{\infty} < 1$ such that $\dot{a} = 0$ is found as

$$1 - c_{\mu} \frac{1 - a_{\infty}}{a_{\infty}} = 0, \qquad a_{\infty} = \frac{c_{\mu}}{1 + c_{\mu}},$$
 (6.9)

where I defined $c_{\mu} = 2GM \,\mu_0^2/c^2 \,r_0$ to shorten the notation. The solution for a(t) can again be found only in implicit form:

$$\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3}} t = \frac{\sqrt{a(1-a)}}{1+c_{\mu}} + \frac{1+3c_{\mu}}{(1+c_{\mu})^2} \operatorname{acos} \sqrt{a} + \frac{2c_{\mu}^3}{(1+c_{\mu})^{\frac{5}{2}}} \sqrt{1+2b_-} (1+b_+) \operatorname{atanh} \left(\frac{\sqrt{a}-1}{\sqrt{(1-a)(1+2b_-)}}\right) + \frac{2c_{\mu}^3}{(1+c_{\mu})^{\frac{5}{2}}} \sqrt{1+2b_+} (1+b_-) \operatorname{atanh} \left(\frac{\sqrt{a}-1}{\sqrt{(1-a)(1+2b_+)}}\right),$$
(6.10)

where $b_{\pm} = c_{\mu} \pm \sqrt{c_{\mu}(1+c_{\mu})}$. It is trivial to see that, in the limit $\mu_0 \to 0$, also $c_{\mu}, b_{\pm} \to 0$ and the standard solution (6.5) is recovered; it is also easy to verify that, when $a = a_{\infty}$, the arguments of both inverse hyperbolic tangents become 1 and the right-hand-side diverges, meaning that the inverse function a(t) has an horizontal asymptote such that $a \to a_{\infty}$ when $t \to \infty$. In Figure 6.1 the classical and the modified solutions are compared.

At this point it is possible to find some constraints on the deformation parameter μ_0 by requiring that the Newtonian description be valid. In particular, I impose that the minimum radius be much greater than the Scharzschild radius $r_S = 2GM/c^2$: the condition $a_{\infty} \gg a_S$ implies

$$\frac{c_{\mu}}{1+c_{\mu}} \gg a_S = \frac{r_S}{r_0}, \qquad \mu_0 \gg \sqrt{\frac{1}{1-a_S}}$$
 (6.11)

(note that $c_{\mu} = a_S \mu_0^2$). For most objects of astrophysical interest, the Schwarzschild radius is much smaller than the physical radius; even for more compact objects such as neutron stars, the Schwarzschild radius is $a_S \leq 1/2$ and the square root would be smaller than $\sqrt{2} \approx 1.4$, which is still of order unity. Therefore the condition

$$\mu_0 \gg 1,\tag{6.12}$$

is enough to ensure the validity of the Newtonian description.



Figure 6.1. Comparison between the classical collapse (dashed black line) and the modified non-singular evolution (red continuous line) for generic values of the parameters; the time t_0 of the classical collapse and the minimum value a_{∞} for the modified dynamics are highlighted by faded grey lines.

As a secondary check, I require that the maximum speed reached during the collapse be non-relativistic. The maximum speed is found by setting $\ddot{r} = 0$ and substituting in \dot{r} ; then the requirement $\dot{r} \ll c$ yields

$$\mu_0 \gg \frac{2}{3\sqrt{3}} \approx 0.4,$$
(6.13)

which is slightly smaller but still of order unity. Note how this constraint, differently from the previous one, does not depend on any parameter. Therefore I conclude that, by taking the deformation parameter just a couple of orders of magnitude greater than unity, the Newtonian dynamics is still a good description for this model and the collapse stops before the formation of a horizon.

6.1.2 The Relativistic Oppenheimer-Snyder Model

The Oppenheimer-Snyder (OS) model is the simplest and most widely known model of gravitational collapse. Its importance lies in highlighting the need to consider two different observers, one stationary outside the collapsing matter and one comoving with it. The original paper [175] starts from the outside Schwarzschild metric in the standard form

$$ds^{2} = \left(1 - \frac{r_{S}}{R}\right)c^{2} dT^{2} - \frac{dR^{2}}{1 - \frac{r_{S}}{R}} - R^{2} d\theta^{2} - R^{2} \sin^{2}(\theta) d\varphi^{2}, \qquad (6.14)$$

where T = T(t, r) and R = R(t, r) are the external variables as functions of the internal t, r; then, by requiring spherical symmetry and homogeneity and implementing matching conditions on the surface r_0 , the equations that the internal metric must satisfy are found and the collapse time as seen from a comoving observer can be computed. As mentioned, the internal metric results to be the same as a closed FLRW model, i.e. equation (2.5) with K > 0. While in the actual FLRW model the latter can always be set to ± 1 by rescaling the variables, here it can be linked to the initial parameters of the cloud both through physical arguments [110] and through a comparison of the solutions, as I will show shortly.

To obtain the Hamiltonian formulation for the OS model one starts with the ADM-reduced action S for spherically symmetric spacetimes [130, 134, 216] filled with Brown-Kuchař dust [67]; then, by implementing matching conditions between the Schwarzschild (6.14) and the FLRW (2.5) metrics and performing a partial symmetry reduction, the Hamiltonian gets split in three different contributions:

$$S = \int dt \ (p_a \,\dot{a} + P_\tau \,\dot{\tau} - \mathcal{N} \,\mathcal{H} - M_+ \,\dot{T}_+) + + \int dt \int_{r_0}^{\infty} dr \ (P_R \,\dot{R} + P_L \,\dot{L} - \mathcal{N}^0 \,\mathcal{H}_0 - \mathcal{N}^j \,\mathcal{H}_j) \,,$$
(6.15)

$$\mathcal{H}_0 = \frac{P_L^2 L}{2 R^2} - \frac{P_R P_L}{R} + \frac{R'^2 + 2 R R''}{2 L} - \frac{L' R R'}{L^2} - \frac{L}{2}, \qquad (6.16)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_j = P_R R' - P'_L L, \qquad (6.17)$$

$$\mathcal{H} = -\frac{\chi}{6V_S} \frac{p_a^2}{a} - \frac{3V_S}{2\chi} K c^2 a + P_\tau, \qquad (6.18)$$

where τ is dust proper time, L and R are the functions appearing in the spherically symmetric external metric and can be obtained by comparison with (6.14), \mathcal{N} , \mathcal{N}^0 and \mathcal{N}^j are Lagrange multipliers analogous to the Lapse Function and the Shift Vector introduced in Section 2.1, P_R , P_L and P_{τ} are the momenta conjugate to their respective variables, $M_+ \dot{T}_+$ is a boundary term containing the ADM mass and the Schwarzschild-Killing time at asymptotic infinity, \mathcal{H}_0 and \mathcal{H}_j are the super-Hamiltonian and super-momentum for the exterior of the dust cloud, and \mathcal{H} is the Hamiltonian for the interior.

The internal Hamiltonian (6.18) is of course the one of interest: besides the already known quantities, it contains the momentum conjugate to dust proper time P_{τ} related to the energy density of the cloud, Einstein's constant χ , and the internal volume V_S of the sphere given by

$$V_S = \int_0^{r_0} dr \, \frac{4 \,\pi \, r^2}{\sqrt{1 - K \, r^2}} = \frac{4 \,\pi}{2 \, K} \left(\frac{\operatorname{asin}\left(r_0 \sqrt{K}\right)}{\sqrt{K}} - r_0 \,\sqrt{1 - K \, r_0^2} \right). \tag{6.19}$$

The matching conditions imply the following identifications:

$$L = \frac{a}{\sqrt{1 - K r_0^2}}, \qquad R = a r_0; \tag{6.20}$$

then, by studying the dynamics of a in the interval $0 < a \leq 1$, the FLRW metric describes the interior of the dust cloud from the point of view of a comoving observer. After deriving the solution it will be sufficient to multiply the comoving scale factor

a by the initial radius r_0 to obtain the dynamics of the physical radius of the cloud; this is similar to the usual FLRW description where, even though the scale factor is defined only up to a constant and it is possible to rescale it in order to have |K| = 1, its value today is taken to be 1 in order to be able to find physical distances. In this description I will keep the scale factor as physical in order to keep the notation more compact, and only reintroduce the initial radius r_0 if needed for numerical purposes. For more information on the derivation of the action and the Hamiltonians see [74, 75, 129, 200].

Focusing on the interior Hamiltonian, the equations of motion are

$$\dot{a} = -\frac{\chi}{3V_S} \frac{p_a}{a}, \qquad \dot{p}_a = -\frac{\chi}{6V_S} \frac{p_a^2}{a^2} + \frac{3Kc^2V_S}{2\chi}; \tag{6.21}$$

similarly to the non-relativistic case, it is useful to compute \dot{p}_a/\dot{a} in order to have an easily solvable differential equation for $p_a(a)$:

$$\frac{\partial p_a}{\partial a} = \frac{p_a}{2a} - \frac{9}{2} \frac{K c^2 V_S^2}{\chi^2} \frac{a}{p_a}, \qquad p_a(a) = \frac{3 c V_S}{\chi} \sqrt{a (1-a) K}, \qquad (6.22)$$

where I used the standard initial conditions a = 1 and $p_a = 0$ at t = 0. Substituting this in equation (6.21) for \dot{a} , the same differential equation (6.4) of the standard case is obtained, but with a different constant:

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{Kc^2 \frac{1-a}{a}}; (6.23)$$

therefore the solution is already known and furthermore the curvature can be related to the initial parameters of the cloud:

$$\sqrt{a(1-a)} + a\cos\sqrt{a} = \sqrt{K} ct, \qquad (6.24)$$

$$K = \frac{2GM}{c^2 r_0^3} = \frac{r_S}{r_0^3};$$
(6.25)

this is the same identification found from physical arguments in [110], where the authors find a link between the Schwarzschild and the FLRW metrics. With this identification the expression of V_S can be rewritten as

$$V_{S} = \frac{2\pi r_{0}^{3}}{\sqrt{a_{S}^{3}}} \left(a \sin \sqrt{a_{S}} - \sqrt{a_{S} \left(1 - a_{S} \right)} \right), \tag{6.26}$$

where I have again used $a_S = r_S/r_0$.

The solution is shown later in Figure 6.2, compared with the modified solution which I will now derive.

To find the modified dynamics, I again start from the same Hamiltonian (6.18) but use the modified algebra (3.46) on a and p_a . The new equations of motion then are

$$\{a, p_a\} = 1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_a^2}{\hbar^2} \tag{6.27}$$



Figure 6.2. Comparison between the classical relativistic collapse (dashed black line) and the modified non-singular evolution (red continuous line) for generic values of the parameters. The collapse time t_0 and the minimum value a_{∞} are highlighted by faded grey lines; it is evident how $a_{\infty} > 1/2$.

$$\dot{a} = -\frac{\chi}{3V_S} \frac{p_a}{a} \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_a^2}{\hbar^2}\right), \qquad \dot{p}_a = \left(-\frac{\chi}{6V_S} \frac{p_a^2}{a^2} + \frac{3Kc^2 V_S}{2\chi}\right) \left(1 - \frac{\mu_0^2 p_a^2}{\hbar^2}\right), \quad (6.28)$$

where p_a has the dimensions of an action so I introduced a Planck constant to still have μ_0 dimensionless; dividing the second equation by the first, the same relation (6.22) is obtained, so the final differential equation for a(t) becomes

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{Kc^2 \frac{1-a}{a}} \left(1 - g_\mu \left(1 - a\right)a\right), \qquad (6.29)$$

where I defined $g_{\mu} = K(3 \mu_0 c V_S / \hbar \chi)^2$. Already from here it is clear that there is still a critical point, but its expression is different from the Newtonian case:

$$1 - g_{\mu} \left(1 - a_{\infty} \right) a_{\infty} = 0, \qquad a_{\infty} = \frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{1 - \frac{4}{g_{\mu}}}. \tag{6.30}$$

First of all, in order for a_{∞} to be real, the condition $g_{\mu} \geq 4$ must hold, otherwise there will still be the collapse $a \to 0$; this condition will imply a lower limit on the deformation parameter μ_0 as I will show later. Secondly, when that condition is satisfied, the asymptotic scale factor will obey $a_{\infty} \geq 1/2$ regardless of the values of the parameters (note that the solution with the minus sign will never be reached in this model, but only by starting below it with a positive derivative). Now, imposing the condition $a_{\infty} \gg a_S$, the following lower limits for μ_0 appear:

$$\mu_0 \gg \frac{8\pi\hbar\sqrt{r_S r_0^3}}{3\,c\,M\,V_S} = \frac{2\,\hbar}{c\,\rho_0\,V_S\,\sqrt{K}} \qquad \text{for} \qquad r_S < \frac{r_0}{2}, \tag{6.31}$$

$$\mu_0 \gg \frac{4\pi \hbar r_0^{\frac{3}{2}}}{3 c M V_S \sqrt{r_0 - r_S}} = \frac{\hbar \sqrt{K}}{c \rho_0 V_S \sqrt{a_S (1 - a_S)}} \qquad \text{for} \qquad r_S > \frac{r_0}{2}; \quad (6.32)$$

note that when $r_S < r_0/2$, the condition $a_{\infty} > a_S$ is already satisfied by construction; indeed, the constraint (6.31) actually corresponds to the reality condition $g_{\mu} > 4$. By inserting reasonable values for the parameters, very small numbers of many orders of magnitude below unity are obtained for these lower limits (depending on the initial mass and radius, they can go from about 10^{-40} to 10^{-90}); this is due to g_{μ} being a very large number. It is safe to assume that the asymptotic radius of the cloud is always greater than its Schwarzschild radius as long as $\mu_0 \neq 0$.

Now, the non-singular solution can again be expressed only in implicit form:

$$\frac{\sqrt{8} \operatorname{atan}\left(\sqrt{\frac{2}{d_{-}} \frac{1-a}{a}}\right)}{\sqrt{g_{\mu} (g_{\mu} - 4) d_{-}}} - \frac{\sqrt{8} \operatorname{atan}\left(\sqrt{\frac{2}{d_{+}} \frac{1-a}{a}}\right)}{\sqrt{g_{\mu} (g_{\mu} - 4) d_{+}}} = \sqrt{K} c t, \qquad (6.33)$$

where I defined $d_{\pm} = 2 - g_{\mu} \pm \sqrt{g_{\mu}(g_{\mu} - 4)}$ to shorten the notation. The solution is presented in Figure 6.2, compared with the unmodified relativistic evolution (6.24).

The existence of a stable and asymptotically static configuration of the collapse, established at a radius greater than the Schwarzschild one in both the two considered regimes, constitutes a very remarkable result. Furthermore, this feature takes place in correspondence to a sufficiently small value of the parameter accounting for the new cut-off physics. In other words, it is always possible to accommodate the stabilization of the gravitational collapse at super-Schwarzschild scales even when the deformation parameter is defined as a Planckian quantity, i.e. as regularizing physics only for very high energy scales.

There are some other recent attempts to analyze the gravitational collapse of a dust cloud through effective Loop Quantum Gravity, to which the modified PUP algebra (3.46) used in this chapter is linked through its derivation from Polymer Quantum Mechanics, and they mostly agree with the resolution of the singularity [6, 125].

6.2 Perturbations and Stability

In this section I will introduce perturbations on the backgrounds derived above, and will study the stability of the resulting object for the singular and non-singular evolution both in the Newtonian and in the relativistic frameworks.

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, while in the background formulation the contribution of pressure has been ignored, in the perturbed framework I will assume small pressure perturbations, that will be linked to the density perturbations through appropriate equations of state.

Note that, while the background configurations are determined by including cut-off physics effects, the evolution of the perturbations follows standard dynamics; this choice is justified by the observation that, while the background evolution is non-perturbatively sensitive to cut-off physics, the smallness of the perturbations ensures that their dynamics can be satisfactorily described via standard gravity effects.

6.2.1 Eulerian Perturbations on the Hunter Model

Still following Hunter [119], for the description of perturbations in the Newtonian model it is better to use an Eulerian representation. The system is then described by the following quantities (bold symbols represent three-dimensional vectors):

$$\mathbf{v} = (r_0 \dot{a} , 0 , 0), \qquad \rho = \rho_0 a^{-3}, \qquad \Phi = -2 G \pi \rho r_0^2 \left(1 - \frac{a^2}{3}\right), \qquad (6.34)$$

where **v** is the velocity vector, ρ and ρ_0 are the mass density of the cloud and its initial value, and Φ is the gravitational potential. These quantities are linked by the continuity, Euler and Poisson equations [136]:

$$\dot{\rho} + \boldsymbol{\nabla} \cdot (\rho \, \mathbf{v}) = 0, \qquad \dot{\mathbf{v}} + (\mathbf{v} \cdot \boldsymbol{\nabla}) \, \mathbf{v} = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \, \Phi - \frac{\boldsymbol{\nabla} P}{\rho}, \qquad \nabla^2 \, \Phi = 4 \, \pi \, G \, \rho, \quad (6.35)$$

where $P = P(\rho)$ is the pressure that depends only on the density due to the barotropic assumption. Now I will perturb the quantities (6.34) to first order (higher-order corrections were investigated by Hunter later in [120, 121]) as $\mathbf{v} = \overline{\mathbf{v}} + \delta \mathbf{v}$, $\rho = \overline{\rho} + \delta \rho$, $\Phi = \overline{\Phi} + \delta \Phi$, where the unperturbed quantities (those with the overline) already satisfy equations (6.35). By substituting into the Euler equation and taking the rotor, an equation for the vorticity $\delta \mathbf{w} = \nabla \times \delta \mathbf{v}$ is obtained:

$$\delta \mathbf{w} = -\boldsymbol{\nabla} \times (\delta \mathbf{w} \times \mathbf{v}), \tag{6.36}$$

with solution

$$\delta \mathbf{w} = \left(\frac{w_r}{a^2} + W , \frac{w_\theta}{a^2} , \frac{w_\varphi}{a^2}\right), \tag{6.37}$$

where w_r , w_{θ} , w_{ϕ} and W are arbitrary functions in spherical coordinates which must satisfy $\nabla \cdot \delta \mathbf{w} = 0$ (the divergence of a curl is identically zero in any system of coordinates); note that W can be ignored since it represents a static distribution. Substituting this result back in equations (6.35), eliminating $\delta \Phi$ and using the polytropic relation $P = \kappa \rho^{\gamma}$, a term involving the Laplacian of $\delta \rho$ is obtained (for more details see [72, 119]); in order to get rid of it, I will separate the variables as

$$\delta\rho(t, r_0 a, \theta, \varphi) = \delta\varrho(t) F(r_0 a, \theta, \varphi), \qquad (6.38)$$

and then exploit the spherical symmetry of the problem by choosing F to be an eigenfunction of the Laplacian operator whose eigenvalues are the wavenumbers k:

$$F_{klm}(r_0 a, \theta, \varphi) = \left(A_{lm} j_l(k r_0 a) + B_{lm} y_l(k r_0 a)\right) \mathcal{Y}_{lm}(\theta, \varphi), \tag{6.39}$$

where j_l and y_l are spherical Bessel functions of the first and second kind, A_{lm} and B_{lm} are constant coefficients, and \mathcal{Y}_{lm} are spherical harmonics; this way it is possible to write $\nabla^2 \delta \rho = -k^2 \delta \rho$, simplify the spatial part F and obtain a differential equation just for the time dependent part of the density perturbation $\delta \rho(t)$:

$$a^{3}\ddot{\delta\varrho} + 8\,a^{2}\dot{a}\,\dot{\delta\varrho} + \left(-4\,\pi\,\rho_{0}\,G + k^{2}\,v_{s}^{2}\,a + 12\,a\,\dot{a}^{2} + 3\,a^{2}\,\ddot{a}\right)\,\delta\varrho = 0,\tag{6.40}$$

where $v_s^2 = \partial P / \partial \rho = \kappa \gamma \rho^{\gamma - 1}$.

Until now, no reference to any solution was made. At this point I can insert the different expressions for a(t) and its derivatives to obtain the solution $\delta \varrho(t)$ for the two cases.

In the classical Hunter model the expressions for the derivatives of a are

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3} \frac{1-a}{a}}, \qquad \ddot{a} = -\frac{GM}{r_0^3 a^2},$$
(6.41)

so the perturbation equation (6.40) becomes

$$a^{3}\ddot{\delta\varrho} + 8 a^{2} \dot{a}\dot{\delta\varrho} + \left(\frac{6GM}{r_{0}^{3}}(3-4a) + k^{2} v_{0}^{2} a^{4-3\gamma}\right) \delta\varrho = 0, \qquad (6.42)$$

where $v_0^2 = \kappa \gamma \rho_0^{\gamma-1}$. Now, since I am interested in the asymptotic behaviour near the singularity, I can take the solution (6.5) and perform an asymptotic expansion for $t \to t_0$, $a \to 0$, where t_0 is the collapse time given by equation (6.6), obtaining the explicit expression

$$a^{\text{asymp}}(t) = \left(\frac{3}{4}\pi\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} \left(1 - \frac{t}{t_0}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}}.$$
 (6.43)

After some manipulation, substituting this in equation (6.42) yields

$$y^{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2} \delta \varrho}{\mathrm{d} y^{2}} - \frac{16}{3} y \frac{\mathrm{d} \delta \varrho}{\mathrm{d} y} + \left(4 + \frac{3^{\frac{2}{3} - 2\gamma} \pi^{\frac{8}{3} - 2\gamma}}{2^{\frac{13}{3} - 4\gamma}} \frac{k^{2} v_{0}^{2} r_{0}^{3}}{GM} y^{\frac{8}{3} - 2\gamma}\right) \delta \varrho = 0, \qquad (6.44)$$

where $y = 1 - t/t_0$ so that the limit $t \to t_0$ corresponds to $y \to 0$; the general solution is

$$\delta \varrho(y) = A_+ f_+(y) + A_- f_-(y), \tag{6.45}$$

$$f_{\pm}(y) = \frac{J_{\frac{\pm 5}{8-6\gamma}}\left((\alpha \, y)^{\frac{4}{3}-\gamma}\right)}{y^{\frac{13}{6}}},\tag{6.46}$$

where A_{\pm} are integration constants, α is a dimensionless constant containing the parameters v_0 , k, r_0 and M, and J_n is the Bessel function of the first kind. The asymptotic behaviour for $1 \leq \gamma < 4/3$ is

$$f_+ \sim y^{-3}, \quad f_- \sim y^{-\frac{4}{3}},$$
 (6.47)

while for $4/3 < \gamma \leq 5/3$ it is

$$f_{\pm} \sim \frac{\cos\left((\alpha y)^{\frac{4}{3}-\gamma}\right)}{y^{\frac{17}{6}-\frac{\gamma}{2}}};$$
 (6.48)

remembering that in the asymptotic regime the background density scales as $\overline{\rho} \propto a^{-3} \propto y^{-2}$, the density contrast $\delta \rho/\overline{\rho}$ will behave in the following ways:

$$\frac{\delta \varrho}{\overline{\rho}} \propto \frac{1}{y} \qquad \text{for} \qquad 1 \le \gamma < \frac{4}{3},$$
(6.49)

$$\frac{\delta \varrho}{\overline{\rho}} \propto \frac{1}{y^{\frac{13}{6}}} \quad \text{for} \quad \gamma = \frac{4}{3},$$
(6.50)



Figure 6.3. The asymptotic behaviour of the density contrast $\delta \varrho/\bar{\rho}$ for different values of the polytropic index in the classical Hunter model: $1 \leq \gamma < \frac{4}{3}$ (blue dot-dashed line), $\gamma = \frac{4}{3}$ (purple dashed line), $\frac{4}{3} < \gamma < \frac{5}{3}$ (black dotted line), $\gamma = \frac{5}{3}$ (red continuous line). The parameters have been chosen to have as initial value $\delta \varrho/\bar{\rho} \sim 10^{-1}$.

$$\frac{\delta\varrho}{\overline{\rho}} \propto \frac{\cos\left((\alpha \, y)^{\frac{4}{3}-\gamma}\right)}{y^{\frac{5}{6}-\frac{\gamma}{2}}} \qquad \text{for} \qquad \frac{4}{3} < \gamma < \frac{5}{3},\tag{6.51}$$

$$\frac{\delta \varrho}{\overline{\rho}} \propto \cos\left(\frac{1}{\alpha y}\right) \quad \text{for} \quad \gamma = \frac{5}{3}.$$
 (6.52)

Therefore I conclude that, except for the last case where the frequency of oscillations increases but the amplitude remains constant, the perturbations collapse faster than the background and a fragmentation process is favoured [109]. The behaviour of $\delta \rho/\bar{\rho}$ for different values of γ is depicted in figure 6.3.

In the modified non-singular model, the expressions for the derivatives of a are different:

$$\dot{a} = -\sqrt{\frac{2GM}{r_0^3} \frac{1-a}{a}} \left(1 - c_\mu \frac{1-a}{a}\right),$$

$$\ddot{a} = -\frac{GM}{r_0^3 a^2} \left(1 - c_\mu \frac{1-a}{a}\right) \left(1 - 3c_\mu \frac{1-a}{a}\right),$$

(6.53)

so the differential equation for the amplitude $\delta \rho$ of the perturbations is more complicated; however, the fact that the asymptotic behaviour at lowest order is just $a(t) \rightarrow a_{\infty}$ and $\dot{a}, \ddot{a} \rightarrow 0$ greatly simplifies the equation. Therefore the perturbation equation (6.40) becomes simply

$$a_{\infty}^{3} \ddot{\delta\varrho} + \left(k^{2} v_{0}^{2} a_{\infty}^{4-3\gamma} - \frac{3 c^{2} a_{\infty}}{2 (1-a_{\infty}) r_{0}^{2} \mu_{0}^{2}}\right) \delta\varrho = 0, \qquad (6.54)$$

and the solution is a simple sum of two exponential functions:

$$\delta\varrho(t) = B_+ e^{+\lambda t} + B_- e^{-\lambda t}, \qquad \lambda = \sqrt{\frac{3 c^2}{2 (1 - a_\infty) a_\infty^2 r_0^2 \mu_0^2} - k^2 v_0^2 a_\infty^{1 - 3\gamma}}; \quad (6.55)$$

therefore the behaviour of perturbations depends entirely on the sign of the quantity in the square root. First of all, the value of v_0 corresponding to the speed of sound at the start of the collapse can be computed using a quasi-static approximation:

$$-\frac{GM^2}{r_0^2} + 4\pi r_0^2 P_0 = 0, \qquad v_0^2 = \kappa \gamma \rho_0^{\gamma - 1} = \gamma \frac{P_0}{\rho_0} = \frac{\gamma}{3} \frac{GM}{r_0}; \qquad (6.56)$$

then, from the expression of a_{∞} the value of λ rewrites as

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{3 GM}{r_0^3 a_\infty^3} \left(1 - \frac{\gamma}{9} k^2 r_0^2 a_\infty^{4-3\gamma}\right)} \,. \tag{6.57}$$

Now, when $\lambda = 0$, a pivot scale k_0 is obtained that allows to rewrite λ :

$$k_0 = \frac{3}{r_0} \sqrt{\frac{a_{\infty}^{3\gamma - 4}}{\gamma}}, \qquad \lambda = \sqrt{\frac{3 \, GM}{r_0^3 \, a_{\infty}^3} \left(1 - \frac{k^2}{k_0^2}\right)}. \tag{6.58}$$

Therefore, for $k < k_0$, $\lambda^2 > 0$ so $\delta \rho$ and $\delta \rho / \overline{\rho}$ diverge while, for $k > k_0$, $\lambda^2 < 0$ so $\delta \rho$ oscillates with constant amplitude and the density contrast $\delta \rho / \overline{\rho}$ is ultimately damped to zero. This translates to a Jeans-like length scale $\ell_0 = 2\pi/k_0$ of the form

$$\ell_0 = \frac{2\pi r_0}{3} \sqrt{\frac{\gamma}{a_{\infty}^{3\gamma-4}}} , \qquad (6.59)$$

above which perturbation diverge and the fragmentation process is initiated while below it the perturbations are damped and erased. Note that, since $0 < a_{\infty} < 1$ and it is constant, for each value of the polytropic parameter γ both behaviours are possible depending only on the initial scale of the perturbation. However, for some values of γ it turns out that the scale ℓ_0 is bigger than the initial radius of the cloud, so all perturbations will disappear. Figure 6.4 shows the length scale ℓ_0 as function of the deformation parameter μ_0 for different values of γ : in order to have $\ell_0 < r_0$ and allow the fragmentation process, first of all it must be that $\gamma < 4/3$ since, for $\gamma = 4/3$, ℓ_0 does not depend on a_{∞} (and therefore on μ_0) and is a constant already greater than r_0 ; this upper limit is further reduced by the condition $r_{\infty} \gg r_S$, and therefore it must be that $1 \leq \gamma < \gamma_1 < 4/3$, where γ_1 is such that $\ell_0 = r_0$ at a the value of μ_0 for which $r_{\infty} = r_S$.

6.2.2 General Relativistic Perturbations on the OS Model

I will now study the behaviour of density perturbations in the relativistic setting. I will mainly follow [142], meaning that I will study linear perturbations of the Einstein equations.



Figure 6.4. The Jeans-like length scale ℓ_0 as function of the deformation parameter μ_0 for different values of γ in the modified non-singular Hunter model. From top to bottom: $\gamma = \frac{5}{3}$ (thick purple dashed line), $\gamma = \frac{4}{3}$ (continuous blue line) for which ℓ_0 is constant, $\gamma = \gamma_1$ (thin red dashed line) that crosses the point (1, 1), and $\gamma = 1$ (black dot-dashed line). The faded gray lines correspond to $\ell_0 = r_0$ and $\mu_0 = 1$.

First of all it is convenient to rewrite the FLRW metric in an easier form, introducing conformal time η and the new variable X defined as

$$d\eta = \frac{dt}{a}; \qquad dX^2 = \frac{dr^2}{1 - Kr^2}, \quad X = \frac{\operatorname{asin}\left(\sqrt{K}r\right)}{\sqrt{K}}, \tag{6.60}$$

where the expression of X as function of r is valid for K > 0; this way, the FLRW metric inside of the cloud rewrites as

$$ds^{2} = a^{2}(\eta) \left(c^{2} d\eta^{2} - dX^{2} - r^{2} d\theta^{2} - r^{2} \sin^{2}(\theta) d\varphi^{2} \right),$$
(6.61)

$$r = r(X) = \frac{\sin\left(\sqrt{K} X\right)}{\sqrt{K}}.$$
(6.62)

Small perturbations are described by changes in the metric tensor, in the fourvelocity and in the scalar density, parametrized as $g_{jk} = \bar{g}_{jk} + \delta g_{jk}$, $u^j = \bar{u}^j + \delta u^j$ and $\rho = \bar{\rho} + \delta \rho$. Without loss of generality, the synchronous gauge can be imposed setting $\delta g_{00} = \delta g_{0\alpha} = 0$. Note that in this case, differently from previous chapters, I will align with the notation of [142], meaning that latin indices go from 0 to 3, while greek indices refer to the spatial part and therefore go from 1 to 3. If the unperturbed system is comoving, it is possible to set $u^{\alpha} = 0$ and $u^0 = 1/a$, and then the unitarity of the four-velocity implies $\delta u^0 = 0$. Perturbations of the metric tensor then become perturbations of the Ricci tensor $R_j^{\ k}$ and of the Ricci scalar R of the form

$$\delta R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{1}{2 a^2} \left(\delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \gamma;\beta}_{\ ;\gamma} + \delta g_{\gamma;\alpha}^{\ \beta;\gamma}_{\ \gamma;\alpha} - \delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta;\gamma}_{\ ;\gamma} - \delta g_{;\alpha}^{\ \beta} \right) + \frac{1}{c^2 a^2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta''} + \frac{a'}{a} \delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta'} + \frac{a'}{2 a} \delta g' \, \delta_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} - 2 \, K \, c^2 \, \delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \right),$$

$$(6.63)$$

$$\delta R_0^0 = \frac{1}{2 a^2} \left(\delta g'' + \frac{a'}{a} \, \delta g' \right), \qquad \delta R_\alpha^0 = \frac{1}{2 a^2} \left(\delta g'_{;\alpha} - \delta g^{\beta}_{\alpha} \, '_{;\beta} \right), \tag{6.64}$$

$$\delta R = \frac{1}{a^2} \left(\delta g_{\alpha}^{\gamma;\alpha}{}_{;\gamma} - \delta g_{;\alpha}^{;\alpha} \right) + \frac{1}{c^2 a^2} \left(\delta g'' + 3 \frac{a'}{a} \, \delta g' - \frac{2 \, K \, c^2}{a} \, \delta g \right), \tag{6.65}$$

where δg is the trace of the metric perturbations, $\delta_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$ is Kronecker's delta, a semicolon indicates a covariant derivative and a prime corresponds to a derivative after η . On the other hand, the perturbed components of the Energy-Momentum tensor $T_j^{\ k}$ can be expressed as

$$\delta T_j^{\ k} = (P + c^2 \rho)(u_j \,\delta u^k + u^k \,\delta u_j) + (\delta P + c^2 \,\delta \rho) \,u_j \,u^k + \delta_j^{\ k} \,\delta P, \tag{6.66}$$

$$\delta T_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = -\delta_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \frac{\mathrm{d}P}{\mathrm{d}\rho} \frac{\delta T_0^{\ 0}}{c^2}, \qquad \delta T_0^{\ \alpha} = -a\left(P + c^2\,\rho\right)\delta u^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta T_0^{\ 0} = -c^2\,\delta\rho, \quad (6.67)$$

where I have made use of the relation $\delta P = (dP/d\rho)\delta\rho$. In the linear approximation, the perturbations satisfy the equation

$$\delta R_j^{\ k} - \frac{1}{2} \,\delta_j^{\ k} \,\delta R = \frac{\chi}{c^2} \,\delta T_j^{\ k}, \tag{6.68}$$

which yields the following equations for the perturbations of the metric:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \delta g_{\alpha}^{\gamma;\beta}{}_{;\gamma} + \delta g_{\gamma;\alpha}^{\beta;\gamma}{}^{;\gamma} - \delta g_{\alpha}^{\beta;\gamma}{}_{;\gamma} - \delta g_{;\alpha}^{;\beta} \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \frac{1}{c^2} \left(\delta g_{\alpha}^{\beta\,\prime\prime} + 2\,\frac{a'}{a}\,\delta g_{\alpha}^{\beta\,\prime} - K\,c^2\,\delta g_{\alpha}^{\beta} \right) = 0,$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\delta g_{;\gamma}{}^{;\gamma} - \delta g_{\gamma}^{\delta;\gamma}{}_{;\delta} \right) - \frac{1}{c^2} \left(\delta g^{\prime\prime} + 2\frac{a'}{a}\delta g^{\prime} - K\,c^2\,\delta g \right) = \\ = \frac{3}{c^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}P}{\mathrm{d}\rho} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(\delta g_{\gamma}^{\delta;\gamma}{}_{;\delta} - \delta g_{;\gamma}{}^{;\gamma} \right) + \frac{a'}{a}\,\delta g^{\prime} - K\,c^2\,\delta g \right).$$

$$(6.69)$$

Putting everything together, the final equation for the density perturbations turns out to be

$$\chi c^2 \,\delta\rho = \frac{1}{2 a^2} \left(\delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta;\alpha}{}_{;\beta} - \delta g_{;\alpha}^{\ \alpha} + \frac{2 a'}{c^2 a} \,\delta g' - 2K \,\delta g \right). \tag{6.71}$$

For more details on the derivation of these expressions, see [142].

Now, any perturbation in a hyperspherical geometry such as the positively-curved FLRW model can be expanded in four-dimensional spherical harmonics (similarly to the expansion in three-dimensional spherical harmonics performed in the non relativistic case in Section 6.2.1). The scalar hyperspherical harmonics Q^n can be expressed as [97]:

$$Q^{n} = \sum_{l=0}^{n-1} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} A^{n}_{lm} \mathcal{Y}_{lm}(\theta, \varphi) \Pi_{nl}(X), \qquad (6.72)$$

$$\Pi_{nl} = \sin^{l} \left(\sqrt{K} X \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}^{l+1} \cos \left(n \sqrt{K} X \right)}{\mathrm{d} \cos \left(\sqrt{K} X \right)^{l+1}}, \tag{6.73}$$

where l can only go from 0 to n-1, A_{lm}^n are constant coefficients and \mathcal{Y}_{lm} are the standard three-dimensional spherical harmonics. As an example, the most symmetric hyperspherical harmonics with l = 0 take the form

$$Q^{n} = \frac{\sin\left(n\sqrt{K} X\right)}{\sin\left(\sqrt{K} X\right)}.$$
(6.74)

From here on I will drop the superscript n to avoid cluttering the notation. All hyperspherical harmonics are scalar eigenfunctions of the Laplacian operator on the surface of a hypersphere with unit radius, and therefore they satisfy the relation

$$Q_{;\alpha}^{;\alpha} = -(n^2 - 1)Q. \tag{6.75}$$

Here the order n of the harmonics is an integer, and will play a similar role to the wave number k of the non-relativistic perturbations; it can be roughly interpreted as "the number of wavelengths that fit inside the radius of the sphere" i.e. as the ratio of the radius of the sphere to the length scale of a given perturbation. Note that there exist also vector and tensor hyperspherical harmonics, but they are not needed to study density perturbations.

Now, from the scalar harmonics Q it is possible to construct the following tensors and vectors with the following symmetries:

$$Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{\delta_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}}{3} Q, \qquad Q_{\alpha}^{\ \alpha} = Q, \tag{6.76}$$

$$Z_{\alpha} = \frac{Q_{;\alpha}}{n^2 - 1}, \qquad Z_{\alpha}^{;\alpha} = -Q,$$
 (6.77)

$$Z_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{Q_{;\alpha}^{\ \beta}}{n^2 - 1} + Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad Z_{\alpha}^{\ \alpha} = 0.$$
(6.78)

Then it is possible to define

$$\delta g_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \Lambda(\eta) \, Z_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \Omega(\eta) \, Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad \delta g = \Omega \, Q, \tag{6.79}$$

so that the whole spatial evolution is contained within the two tensors $Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$ and $Z_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$ while the time evolution i.e. the amplitude is just given by the two functions Λ and Ω . Now the equation for the density perturbations becomes

$$\chi c^2 \,\delta\rho = \frac{Q}{3a^2} \left(K \,c^2 \left(n^2 - 4\right) \left(\Lambda + \Omega\right) + 3 \,\frac{a'}{a} \,\Omega' \right). \tag{6.80}$$

Inserting expression (6.79) into equations (6.69) and (6.70), two differential equations for the two functions Λ and Ω are obtained:

$$\Lambda'' + 2\frac{a'}{a}\Lambda' - \frac{Kc^2}{3}(n^2 - 1)(\Lambda + \Omega) = 0, \qquad (6.81)$$

$$\Omega'' + \left(2 + \frac{3}{c^2} \frac{dP}{d\rho}\right) \frac{a'}{a} \Omega' + \frac{Kc^2}{3} \left(n^2 - 4\right) \left(\Lambda + \Omega\right) \left(1 + \frac{3}{c^2} \frac{dP}{d\rho}\right) = 0.$$
(6.82)

Note that in the relativistic context it is not possible to use the polytropic relation because it is not a solution of the relativistic continuity equation; in this case I will make an isothermal assumption and leave the speed of sound $v_s^2 = dP/d\rho$ as a free constant parameter.

It is important to consider that only harmonics with n > 2 correspond to physical perturbations. For n = 1, 2 the tensor Z_{α}^{β} cannot be constructed, and therefore it is necessary to put $\Lambda = 0$; then just a second-order equation for Ω remains. When n = 2 both solutions for Ω can be ruled out by a transformation of the coordinates. When n = 1 only one of the two solutions can be ruled out by such a transformation; the second solution corresponds to a perturbation in the entire mass of the cloud, but space remains fully uniform and isotropic. Thus only n > 2 correspond to real physical perturbations of the metric. For more details, see [142].

Now the evolution of the perturbations is found by inserting the solutions for the scale factor a in the two cases of the singular and non-singular OS model; however they must first be reformulated in terms of the new time variable η .

I will start from the classical non-singular OS model. In order to find the expression for $a(\eta)$, it is necessary to go back to equation (6.23) and substitute $dt = a d\eta$, thus obtaining a differential equation in η that is easily solved:

$$a' = -\sqrt{Kc^2(1-a)a}, \qquad a(\eta) = \cos^2\left(\frac{\sqrt{K}c\eta}{2}\right).$$
 (6.83)

Now, equations (6.81) and (6.82) have two particular integrals that correspond to those fictitious changes in the metric that can be ruled out by a transformation of the reference system; these integrals are useful to lower the order of the two equations. They are

$$\Lambda_1 = -\Omega_1 = \text{const.},\tag{6.84}$$

$$\Lambda_2 = -\sqrt{K} c (n^2 - 1) \int \frac{d\eta}{a}, \qquad \Omega_2 = \sqrt{K} c (n^2 - 1) \int \frac{d\eta}{a} - \frac{3 a'}{\sqrt{K} c a^2}.$$
 (6.85)

At this point the following change of variables from Λ , Ω to ξ , ζ can be performed:

$$\Lambda + \Omega = (\Lambda_2 + \Omega_2)\sqrt{K} c \int \xi \, d\eta = -\frac{3a'}{a^2} \int \xi \, d\eta, \qquad (6.86)$$

$$\Lambda' - \Omega' = \sqrt{K} c \left(\Lambda'_2 - \Omega'_2\right) \int \xi \, d\eta + \sqrt{K} c \frac{\zeta}{a} = \\ = \left(3\left(\frac{a''}{a^2} - 2\frac{a'^2}{a^3}\right) - \frac{2Kc^2(n^2 - 1)}{a}\right) \int \xi \, d\eta + \sqrt{K} c \frac{\zeta}{a};$$
(6.87)

this leads to two coupled first-order equations for the new functions ξ and ζ :

$$\xi' + \xi \left(\frac{2a''}{a'} + \frac{a'}{a} \left(\frac{3}{2c^2} \frac{dP}{d\rho} - 2\right)\right) + \frac{\sqrt{K}}{2c} \frac{dP}{d\rho} \zeta = 0,$$
(6.88)

$$\zeta' + \left(1 + \frac{3}{2c^2} \frac{dP}{d\rho}\right) \frac{a'}{a} \zeta + \xi \left(-2\sqrt{K} c (n^2 - 1) + \frac{3}{\sqrt{K}c} \left(\frac{a''}{a} - \frac{2a'^2}{a^2} + \frac{3}{2c^2} \frac{a'^2}{a^2} \frac{dP}{d\rho}\right)\right) = 0.$$
(6.89)

Now asymptotic expansions must be performed; in particular, close to the singularity, the scale factor (6.83) behaves as

$$a^{\text{asymp}}(\eta) = \left(\frac{\pi}{2}\right)^2 \left(1 - \frac{\eta}{\eta_0}\right)^2, \qquad \eta_0 = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{K}c}, \qquad (6.90)$$

where I have defined the time of singularity η_0 . Then, inserting everything in equations (6.88) and (6.89) and introducing the velocity parameter $\beta = v_s/c < 1$, I obtain the following differential equations for ξ and ζ :

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\xi}{\mathrm{d}x} + \frac{2+3\,\beta^2}{x}\,\xi - \sqrt{K}\,c\,\beta^2\,\eta_0\,\zeta = 0, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}\zeta}{\mathrm{d}x} + \frac{2+3\,\beta^2}{x}\,\zeta + \frac{18\,(1-\beta^2)}{\sqrt{K}\,c\,\eta_0^2\,x^2}\,\xi = 0,\ (6.91)$$

where I defined $x = 1 - \eta/\eta_0$; the solutions are

$$\xi(x) = \frac{D_{-} x^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}} + D_{+} x^{+\frac{\sigma}{2}}}{x^{\frac{5}{2} + 3\beta^{2}}}, \qquad \sigma = \sqrt{72 \ \beta^{4} - 72 \ \beta^{2} + 1}, \tag{6.92}$$

$$\zeta(x) = \frac{\sqrt{K} c \eta_0 \left(D_- \left(\sigma + 1\right) x^{-\frac{\sigma}{2}} - D_+ \left(\sigma - 1\right) x^{+\frac{\sigma}{2}} \right)}{36 \left(1 - \beta^2\right) x^{\frac{3}{2} + 3\beta^2}},\tag{6.93}$$

where D_{\pm} are integration constants. From these, I can obtain the expressions for Λ and Ω and therefore for $\delta \rho$; remembering that $\overline{\rho} \propto a^{-3} \propto x^{-6}$, in the asymptotic limit $\eta \to \eta_0$ corresponding to $x \to 0$ the leading-order behaviour of the perturbations results to be

$$\frac{\delta\rho}{\overline{\rho}} \propto x^{-(\frac{5}{2}+3\beta^2+\frac{\sigma}{2})}.$$
(6.94)

Now, when $\sigma^2 > 0$ this quantity diverges in the limit $x \to 0$; on the other hand, when $\sigma^2 < 0$ the exponent is complex, but it still has a negative real part so that, even if there are some oscillations, the amplitude is still divergent close to the singularity.

I conclude that in the classical unmodified relativistic case all perturbations can diverge and initiate the fragmentation process, differently from the Newtonian case where for $\gamma = 5/3$ the amplitude remained constant.

Moving on to the modified non-singular OS model, in that case finding the expression for $a(\eta)$ is not necessary (although possible) because asymptotically the leading term is simply $a = a_{\infty}$ as in the Newtonian case (although obviously the expression of a_{∞} is different). Therefore the density perturbations (6.80) will depend only on the sum $\Lambda + \Omega$, which can be found by summing (6.81) and (6.82) and solving the resulting equation for $\Lambda + \Omega$:

$$(\Lambda + \Omega)'' - K c^2 \left(1 - (n^2 - 4) \beta^2 \right) (\Lambda + \Omega) = 0, \qquad (6.95)$$

$$\Lambda(\eta) + \Omega(\eta) = E_+ e^{+\nu\sqrt{K} c \eta} + E_- e^{-\nu\sqrt{K} c \eta}, \qquad \nu = \sqrt{1 - (n^2 - 4)\beta^2}, \quad (6.96)$$

where E_{\pm} are constants of integration. Similarly to the Newtonian case, given that when a' = 0 the perturbations depend directly on the sum $\Lambda + \Omega$, the fate of the perturbations in the asymptotic limit $\eta \to \infty$ depends entirely on the nature of this parameter ν i.e. on the sign of the term inside the square root. Therefore, since only the values n > 2 represent physical perturbations, for each value of n there exist a critical value of β such that above it all perturbations oscillate and are ultimately damped, while below it all perturbations diverge. Conversely, for each value of β , there exist a value of n large enough such that above it all perturbations oscillate and are damped, while below it they all diverge. Given that higher values of ncorrespond to perturbations with shorter scales, this is again a Jeans-like length. The requirement that the collapse be stable to all perturbations must then be found for the lowest value of n; setting n = 3, a lower limit on β is found:

$$\beta > \beta_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{5}} \approx 0.45.$$
 (6.97)

This suggests that, even if the repulsive character of the modified gravitational dynamics creates a static macroscopic configuration also when matter pressure is negligible, the request that this configuration be also stable under small perturbations still requires that the elementary constituents of the collapsing gas have a significant free-streaming effect.

To conclude, with both the Newtonian and the relativistic formulations I obtained specific ranges for the free equation of state parameters by requiring that the asymptotic configurations be stable to small perturbations. These ranges result to be wider in the asymptotic non-singular cases than in the original unmodified singular collapses, where perturbations would diverge for almost all physically acceptable values of the equation of state parameters.

The present analysis must be regarded as the starting point for subsequent investigations in which the gravitational collapse is modelled in a realistic astrophysical context, in order to better understand the implications that the repulsive gravitational dynamics can have on the formation of compact objects. In particular, the impact of the repulsive effects on the equilibrium of a real relativistic star [176] is of interest in order to determine possible corrections to the mass limits in the proposed scenarios.

Chapter 7

Summary and Outlook

In this thesis I explored the effects of alternative quantization procedures on cosmological and gravitational models, with particular focus on the quantization of different sets of variables and on the fate of singularities.

In Chapter 2 I gave a review of the Hamiltonian formulation of cosmology. First I briefly showed the basics of the reformulation of General Relativity as a SU(2)gauge theory; then I derived the Hamiltonian for the isotropic Friedmann-Lemaître-Robertson-Walker model, and presented its evolution in the presence of different kinds of matter-energy. In particular, I showed how it is possible to use a scalar field to mimic various forms of matter, and that a free scalar field i.e. without a potential can be used as an internal time variable. This is particularly useful for quantization, since the fact that the gravitational Hamiltonians are constrained to zero would imply that in the standard quantum framework no evolution happens; this is known as the Problem of Time of Quantum Gravity. On a cosmological level the recovery of a time variable after quantization is made possible by the reinterpretation of the Wheeler-DeWitt equation $\hat{\mathcal{H}} |\psi\rangle = 0$ as a Klein-Gordon-like wave equation where the free scalar field plays the role of time. The chapter ends with an introduction to Loop Quantum Gravity and Loop Quantum Cosmology, with a detailed derivation of the different Loop quantization schemes and of how it is possible to remove the cosmological singularity both on a quantum level and with effective corrections to the classical dynamics. However, LQG and LQC are far from being complete theories of Quantum Gravity and Quantum Cosmology.

In Chapter 3 I introduced the alternative quantization procedures that I have used in my research. They were developed to introduce high-energy effects coming from more fundamental quantum gravitational theories with simple, independent frameworks and to give a somewhat phenomenological approach to derive quantum gravity corrections. The first is Polymer Quantum Mechanics, which consists in a procedure of quantization on a lattice inspired by LQG; usually a position-like variable is assigned a discrete character, and as a consequence the conjugate momentum cannot be implemented as an operator and must be regularized, resulting in an energy cut-off. The second is the Generalized Uncertainty Principle representation, inspired by String Theory; through a deformation of the canonical commutation relations, it is possible to obtain a higher-order correction to the standard Heisenberg Uncertainty Principle that implies an absolute minimal uncertainty on position. Then I showed how it is possible to extend the GUP formulation to different kinds of deformed commutation relations; the most relevant ones for gravity and cosmology are usually functions of the momentum operator \hat{p} which can have (at least) two different representations whose equivalence is still not completely clear. Then I showed the functions that I used in my research, highlighting how not all of them yield an absolute minimal uncertainty but some can introduce a momentum cut-off similarly to PQM. The usefulness of these modified algebras lies mainly in their ability to reproduce corrections from other more fundamental quantum gravitational theories, as well as in the straightforwardness of their semiclassical limit.

In Chapter 4 I implemented PQM on the isotropic FLRW model. I studied different sets of variables both from the semiclassical effective point of view and on the quantum level. In particular, I showed how PQM effective corrections are able to introduce a critical point on the evolution of the scale factor a, but the replacement of the singularity with a LQC-like Big Bounce can happen only in the presence of matter whose equation of state parameter is w > 1/3; besides, even in that case, the energy density at the Bounce results to be dependent on initial conditions. The requirement of the Bounce to be universal and to have a fixed critical energy density then selects the volume variable $v = a^3$ as the favoured variable in Polymer Cosmology. This makes the similarity with LQC more evident: while its original μ_0 scheme quantizes the symmetry reduced version of the Ashtekar variables corresponding to the area $s = a^2$, the improved $\overline{\mu}$ scheme performs a transformation to a volume-like variable which also in this case seems to be privileged in order to have a universal Bounce. Indeed, after a comparison between Isotropic Polymer Quantum Cosmology in different sets of variables, the last part of the chapter is dedicated to the recovery of equivalence between them and to the implication that this formulation can have for LQC.

Chapter 5 was dedicated to the cosmological implementation of Modified Algebras. starting from the anisotropic Bianchi I model expressed in Misner-like variables. I showed how on a semiclassical level both the sign and the "power" of the algebras (meaning the presence or absence of a square root) are reflected on the corresponding correction factor appearing in the modified Friedmann equations. In particular, the GUP-like algebras with a plus sign do not introduce critical points and yield modified dynamics where the singularity is still present; on the other hand, the PQM-inspired algebras with a minus sign are instead able to remove the singularity, but in different ways: while the Polymer Algebra with the square root reproduces exactly the same Big Bounce of Polymer Cosmology, the PUP algebra with a simple quadratic term introduces an asymptotic behaviour. This asymptotic behaviour was then studied more in depth: it represents a way to construct the so-called Emergent Universe model, which links the standard late-universe evolution to a non-singular, asymptotically Einstein-static beginning. Classically this behaviour can be obtained only through a specific fine tuning of the initial conditions, while with the PUP algebra it is implemented in a natural way. I also computed what corrections the PUP algebra introduces on the Primordial Power Spectrum of scalar perturbations. thus obtaining a possible phenomenological implication of this framework.

Finally, in Chapter 6 I implemented the PUP algebra on the gravitational collapse of a spherical dust cloud; this study was motivated by the fact that the internal metric of such objects is isomorphic to the closed isotropic FLRW metric
with positive curvature. I studied both the Newtonian Hunter model and the relativistic Oppenheimer-Snyder model, obtaining in both cases that the collapse, which classically ends in a singularity, is halted and ends in a configuration that is asymptotic to a finite radius. Furthermore, this asymptotic radius can be above the horizon even for Planckian values of the deformation parameter in the algebra. Then I also studied the behaviour of the resulting configurations to small perturbations, finding that the non-singular backgrounds are stable for a wider range of the parameters with respect to the classical singular configurations. This could help explain the observed violations of the mass limits in astrophysical objects.

There are a few interesting remarks to make, which lead to various possibilities in which the research presented in this thesis can be continued and expanded.

To start, it is interesting how alternative quantization procedures that all introduce fundamental lengths, although in different ways, can have such different impacts on the dynamics and on the cosmological singularities. In particular, PQM introduces a fundamental length in the form of a lattice spacing, and is able to replace the Big Bang and Big Crunch singularities with a Big Bounce, while the GUP representation that introduces an absolute minimal uncertainty modifies the approach to the singularity but is not able to remove it; this might be due to a few different reasons. First of all, both procedures are implemented on the scale factor or its powers, which are comoving quantities and not physical observables; the actual reason that makes PQM able to remove the singularity is the momentum cut-off, that thanks to the Hamiltonian being constrained to zero implies a cut-off on the energy density which is an actual physical observable. In this respect, it might be interesting to implement the KMM GUP formulation on other systems, where the deformed variable could acquire a physical status and the minimal uncertainty could actually play a role in the expectation values of observables. However, on a quantum level, a minimal uncertainty does not necessarily correspond to a physical energy cut-off, and therefore it is not given that the KMM GUP could eliminate a singularity (except perhaps in a probabilistic sense, meaning that a wavepacket cannot be peaked arbitrarily and be made semiclassical) even when applied to variables representing physical observables. Finally, the existence and the nature of the Bounce in Polymer Cosmology, or anyway the nature of the corrections induced more in general by these frameworks, are clearly linked to the geometrical nature of the variable chosen to describe the model. These points must be explored further, and a way to link the different representations is needed, perhaps in the form of canonical transformations between different variables that are able to preserve the nature of the resulting cosmological dynamics.

Regarding Modified Algebras, there are still a lot of possible avenues to explore. The four examples that I studied in this thesis were motivated by the similarities between them and with other more fundamental quantum gravitational theories, such as LQG and String Theories; however some of them were explored only on a semiclassical level, and a full quantum analysis is still needed. Furthermore, as mentioned during their introduction, the equivalence between different representations for the same algebra has not been fully proven yet, but only verified for specific models on a semiclassical effective level; in order to obtain a definitive answer, it is necessary to find a way to rigorously map the different operators and their different domains. In this respect I am confident that a procedure to implement the semiclassical equivalent of the representation where the differential position operator is modified would be of great help.

Another possibility is to explore different forms of deformed algebras, corresponding to different functions. As mentioned earlier, in multidimensional spaces the Jacobi identities constrain the available forms for the algebras and can result in additional effects such as non-commutativity; however in one-dimensional systems such as most cosmological models the Jacobi identities are automatically satisfied, and therefore many functions of the momentum are available. It would be interesting to develop some kind of reconstruction method that, given effective corrections such as those found in this thesis on the Friedmann equation, is able to yield the corresponding deformed Poisson brackets; this way it could be possible to find a modified algebra for other quantum gravitational and quantum cosmological theories, and help give an idea of what to expect from those theories when applied in more complex systems.

Finally, there are many observational evidences that the observable Universe is homogeneous and isotropic, and it is well described by the FLRW model. However there is no reason to assume that it started that way, and more complicated systems such as the anisotropic Bianchi models or an inhomogeneous solution can become relevant for the Planckian era of the Universe. It would be of great interest to better characterize the influence that alternative quantization procedures such as modified algebras have for example on the chaotic behaviour of the Bianchi IX model. In this respect, an important achievement would be to compute the quantum corrections to the chaotic Belinskii-Khalatnikov-Lifshitz map due to different kinds of modified commutation relations, since this would give some insights on the fate of chaos in the Bianchi models in different quantum cosmological theories such as for example LQC and Brane Cosmology. The general character of the Bianchi models close to the classical singularity makes them the ideal arena for the analysis of quantum gravitational effects and Planck-scale physics, and their study constitutes the natural next step of implementation for alternative quantization procedures and for Quantum Gravity theories.

Bibliography

- ALESCI, E., BARRAU, A., BOTTA, G., MARTINEAU, K., AND STAGNO, G. Phenomenology of Quantum Reduced Loop Gravity in the isotropic cosmological sector. *Physical Review D*, 98 (2018), 106022. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.98.106022.
- [2] ALESCI, E. AND CIANFRANI, F. A new perspective on cosmology in Loop Quantum Gravity. *Europhysics Letters*, **104** (2013), 10001. doi:10.1209/ 0295-5075/104/10001.
- [3] ALESCI, E. AND CIANFRANI, F. Quantum-Reduced Loop Gravity: Cosmology. Physical Review D, 87 (2013), 083521. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.87.083521.
- [4] ALESCI, E. AND CIANFRANI, F. Quantum Reduced Loop Gravity: Semiclassical limit. *Physical Review D*, **90** (2014), 024006. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD. 90.024006.
- [5] ALESCI, E. AND CIANFRANI, F. Quantum Reduced Loop Gravity and the foundation of Loop Quantum Cosmology. *International Journal of Modern Physics D*, 25 (2016), 1642005. doi:10.1142/S0218271816420050.
- [6] ALONSO-BARDAJI, A. AND BRIZUELA, D. Nonsingular collapse of a spherical dust cloud. *Preprint*, (2023). doi:10.48550/arXiv.2312.15505.
- [7] AMATI, D., CIAFALONI, M., AND VENEZIANO, G. Can spacetime be probed below the string size? *Physics Letters B*, **216** (1989), 41. doi:10.1016/ 0370-2693(89)91366-X.
- [8] AMBJØRN, J., GÖRLICH, A., JURKIEWICZ, J., AND LOLL, R. Nonperturbative Quantum Gravity. *Physics Reports*, 519 (2012), 127. doi:10.1016/j.physrep. 2012.03.007.
- [9] AMBJØRN, J., GÖRLICH, A., JURKIEWICZ, J., LOLL, R., GIZBERT-STUDNICKI, J., AND TRZEŚNIEWSKI, T. The Semiclassical Limit of Causal Dynamical Triangulations. *Nuclear Physics B*, 849 (2011), 144. doi: 10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2011.03.019.
- [10] AMBJØRN, J., JURKIEWICZ, J., AND LOLL, R. Emergence of a 4D World from Causal Quantum Gravity. *Physical Review Letters*, **93** (2004), 131301. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.131301.

- [11] AMELINO-CAMELIA, G., MAVROMATOS, N. E., ELLIS, J., AND NANOPOU-LOS, D. V. On the Space-Time Uncertainty Relations of Liouville Strings and D-Branes. *Modern Physics Letters A*, **12** (1997), 2029. doi:10.1142/ S0217732397002077.
- [12] ANTONIADIS, J. T. A Massive Pulsar in a Compact Relativistic Binary. Science, 340 (2013), 1233232. doi:10.1126/science.1233232.
- [13] ANTONINI, S. AND MONTANI, G. Singularity-free and non-chaotic inhomogeneous Mixmaster in polymer representation for the volume of the universe. *Physics Letters B*, **790** (2019), 475. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2019.01.050.
- [14] ARNOWITT, R., DESER, S., AND MISNER, C. W. Dynamical structure and definition of energy in General Relativity. *Physical Review*, **116** (1959), 1322. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.116.1322.
- [15] ARNOWITT, R., DESER, S., AND MISNER, C. W. Republication of: The Dynamics of General Relativity. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 40 (2008), 1997. doi:10.1007/s10714-008-0661-1.
- [16] ASHTEKAR, A. New Variables for Classical and Quantum Gravity. *Physical Review Letters*, 57 (1986), 2244. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.57.2244.
- [17] ASHTEKAR, A. New Hamiltonian formulation of General Relativity. *Physical Review D*, 36 (1987), 1587. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.36.1587.
- [18] ASHTEKAR, A. AND BIANCHI, E. A short review of Loop Quantum Gravity. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 84 (2021), 042001. doi:10.1088/1361-6633/ abed91.
- [19] ASHTEKAR, A., CORICHI, A., AND SINGH, P. Robustness of key features of Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 77 (2008), 024046. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.77.024046.
- [20] ASHTEKAR, A., HENDERSON, A., AND SLOAN, D. Hamiltonian formulation of the Belinskii-Khalatnikov-Lifshitz conjecture. *Physical Review D*, 83 (2011), 084024. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.084024.
- [21] ASHTEKAR, A. AND LEWANDOWSKI, J. Quantum theory of geometry: I. Area operators. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 14 (1997), A55. doi:10.1088/ 0264-9381/14/1A/006.
- [22] ASHTEKAR, A. AND LEWANDOWSKI, J. Quantum theory of geometry II: Volume operators. Advances in Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, 1 (1997), 388. doi:10.4310/ATMP.1997.v1.n2.a8.
- [23] ASHTEKAR, A., LEWANDOWSKI, J., MAROLF, D., MOURÃO, J., AND THIE-MANN, T. Quantization of diffeomorphism invariant theories of connections with local degrees of freedom. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, **36** (1995), 6456. doi:10.1063/1.531252.

- [24] ASHTEKAR, A., PAWLOWSKI, T., AND SINGH, P. Quantum Nature of the Big Bang. *Physical Review Letters*, 96 (2006). doi:10.1103/physrevlett. 96.141301.
- [25] ASHTEKAR, A., PAWLOWSKI, T., AND SINGH, P. Quantum nature of the Big Bang: An analytical and numerical investigation. *Physical Review D*, 73 (2006), 124038. doi:10.1103/physrevd.73.124038.
- [26] ASHTEKAR, A., PAWLOWSKI, T., AND SINGH, P. Quantum nature of the Big Bang: Improved dynamics. *Physical Review D*, 74 (2006), 084003. doi: 10.1103/physrevd.74.084003.
- [27] ASHTEKAR, A., PAWLOWSKI, T., SINGH, P., AND VANDERSLOOT, K. Loop Quantum Cosmology of k = 1 FRW models. *Physical Review D*, **75** (2007), 024035. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.75.024035.
- [28] ASHTEKAR, A. AND PULLIN, J. Loop Quantum Gravity: The First 30 Years. World Scientific, Singapore, Singapore (2017). doi:10.1142/10445.
- [29] ASHTEKAR, A. AND SINGH, P. Loop Quantum Cosmology: a status report. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 28 (2011), 213001. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/ 28/21/213001.
- [30] BALFAGON, A. C. Accelerated expansion of the universe based on particle creation-destruction processes and dark energy in FLRW universes. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, 47 (2015). doi:10.1007/s10714-015-1954-9.
- [31] BARCA, G., DI ANTONIO, P., MONTANI, G., AND PATTI, A. Semiclassical and quantum polymer effects in the flat isotropic universe. *Physical Review D*, 99 (2019), 123509. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.99.123509.
- [32] BARCA, G., GIOVANNETTI, E., MANDINI, F., AND MONTANI, G. Polymer Quantization of the Isotropic Universe: Comparison with the Bounce of Loop Quantum Cosmology. In *The 16th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on Recent* Developments in Theoretical and Experimental General Relativity, Astrophysics and Relativistic Field Theories (2021). doi:10.1142/9789811269776_0217.
- [33] BARCA, G., GIOVANNETTI, E., AND MONTANI, G. An Overview on the Nature of the Bounce in LQC and PQM. Universe, 7 (2021), 327. doi: 10.3390/universe7090327.
- [34] BARCA, G., GIOVANNETTI, E., AND MONTANI, G. Comparison of the semiclassical and quantum dynamics of the Bianchi I cosmology in the Polymer and GUP extended paradigms. *International Journal of Geometric Methods* in Modern Physics, **19** (2022), 2250097. doi:10.1142/S0219887822500979.
- [35] BARCA, G., GIOVANNETTI, E., AND MONTANI, G. PQM and the GUP: Implications of Lattice Dynamics and Minimal Uncertainties in Quantum Mechanics and Cosmology. In 56th Rencontres de Moriond on Gravitation (2022). doi:10.58027/1e1n-7973.

- [36] BARCA, G. AND MONTANI, G. Non-Singular Gravitational Collapse through Modified Heisenberg Algebra. *European Physical Journal C*, 84 (2024), 261. doi:10.1140/epjc/s10052-024-12564-5.
- [37] BARCA, G., MONTANI, G., AND MELCHIORRI, A. Emergent Universe model from modified Heisenberg algebra. *Physical Review D*, **108** (2023), 063505. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.108.063505.
- [38] BARROW, J. D. Chaos in the Einstein Equations. *Physical Review Letters*, 46 (1981), 963. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.46.963.
- [39] BARROW, J. D. Chaotic behaviour in General Relativity. *Physics Reports*, 85 (1982), 1. doi:10.1016/0370-1573(82)90171-5.
- [40] BASSA, C. G. T. LOFAR Discovery of the Fastest-spinning Millisecond Pulsar in the Galactic Field. Astrophysical Journal Letters, 846 (2017), L20. doi:10.3847/2041-8213/aa8400.
- [41] BATTISTI, M. V. Cosmological Bounce from a deformed Heisenberg algebra. *Physical Review D*, **79** (2009), 083506. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.79.083506.
- [42] BECKER, K., BECKER, M., AND SCHWARZ, J. H. String Theory and M-Theory: A modern introduction. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (2006). doi:10.1017/CB09780511816086.
- [43] BELINSKII, V. A., KHALATNIKOV, I. M., AND LIFSHITZ, E. M. Oscillatory approach to a singular point in the relativistic cosmology. *Advances in Physics*, 19 (1970), 525. doi:10.1080/00018737000101171.
- [44] BELINSKII, V. A., KHALATNIKOV, I. M., AND LIFSHITZ, E. M. Oscillatory approach to a singular point in the relativistic cosmology. *Advances in Physics*, **31** (1982), 639. doi:10.1080/00018738200101428.
- [45] BENINI, R. AND MONTANI, G. Inhomogeneous quantum Mixmaster: from classical towards quantum mechanics. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 24 (2007), 387. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/24/2/007.
- [46] BIANCHI, L. Sugli spazi a tre dimensioni che ammettono un gruppo continuo di movimenti. Memorie di Matematica e di Fisica della Società Italiana delle Scienze, Serie Terza, 11 (1898), 267. Available from: https://books.google. it/books?id=Jo8LAAAAYAAJ.
- [47] BIRKHOFF, G. D. Relativity and Modern Physics. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts (1923).
- [48] BLUMENHAGEN, R., LÜST, D., AND THEISEN, S. Basic Concepts of String Theory. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Germany (2012). doi:10.1007/ 978-3-642-29497-6.
- [49] BLYTH, W. F. AND ISHAM, C. J. Quantization of a Friedmann universe filled with a scalar field. *Physical Review D*, **11** (1975), 768. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.11.768.

- [50] BOJOWALD, M. Loop Quantum Cosmology: I. Kinematics. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 17 (2000), 1489. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/17/6/312.
- [51] BOJOWALD, M. Loop Quantum Cosmology: II. Volume operators. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 17 (2000), 1509. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/17/6/313.
- [52] BOJOWALD, M. Loop quantum cosmology: III. Wheeler-DeWitt operators. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 18 (2001), 1055. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/ 18/6/307.
- [53] BOJOWALD, M. Isotropic Loop Quantum Cosmology. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 19 (2002), 2717. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/19/10/313.
- [54] BOJOWALD, M. Loop Quantum Cosmology. Living Reviews in Relativity, 8 (2005). doi:10.12942/lrr-2005-11.
- [55] BOJOWALD, M. Critical Evaluation of Common Claims in Loop Quantum Cosmology. Universe, 6 (2020), 36. doi:10.3390/universe6030036.
- [56] BOJOWALD, M., BRIZUELA, D., HERNÁNDEZ, H. H., KOOP, M. J., AND MORALES-TÉCOTL, H. A. High-order quantum back-reaction and quantum cosmology with a positive cosmological constant. *Physical Review D*, 84 (2011). doi:10.1103/physrevd.84.043514.
- [57] BOJOWALD, M., DATE, G., AND HOSSAIN, G. M. The Bianchi IX model in Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **21** (2004), 3541. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/21/14/015.
- [58] BOJOWALD, M. AND HALNON, T. Time in quantum cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 98 (2018), 066001. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.98.066001.
- [59] BOJOWALD, M., HOSSAIN, G. M., KAGAN, M., AND SHANKARANARAYANAN, S. Gauge invariant cosmological perturbation equations with corrections from Loop Quantum Gravity. *Physical Review D*, **79** (2009), 043505. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.79.043505.
- [60] BOJOWALD, M., KAGAN, M., SINGH, P., HERNÁNDEZ, H. H., AND SKIRZEWSKI, A. Formation and Evolution of Structure in Loop Cosmology. *Physical Review Letters*, **98** (2007), 031301. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett. 98.031301.
- [61] BOMBACI, I. The maximum mass of a neutron star. Astronomy and Astrophysics, 305 (1996), 871. Available from: https://ui.adsabs.harvard.edu/ abs/1996A%26A...305..871B/abstract.
- [62] BOSSO, P., PETRUZZIELLO, L., AND WAGNER, F. The minimal length is physical. *Physics Letters B*, 834 (2022), 137415. doi:10.1016/j.physletb. 2022.137415.
- [63] BRANDENBERGER, R. H. AND HO, P.-M. Noncommutative spacetime, stringy spacetime uncertainty principle, and density fluctuations. *Physical Review D*, 66 (2002), 023517. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.66.023517.

- [64] BRANDENBERGER, R. H. AND MARTIN, J. The robustness of Inflation to changes in super-Planck-scale physics. *Modern Physics Letter A*, 16 (2001), 999. doi:10.1142/S0217732301004170.
- [65] BRAX, P. AND VAN DE BRUCK, C. Cosmology and brane worlds: a review. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 20 (2003), R201. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/ 20/9/202.
- [66] BRIZUELA, D., KIEFER, C., AND KRÄMER, M. Quantum-gravitational effects on gauge-invariant scalar and tensor perturbations during inflation: The de Sitter case. *Physical Review D*, **93** (2016), 104035. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD. 93.104035.
- [67] BROWN, J. D. AND KUCHAŘ, K. V. Dust as a standard of space and time in canonical quantum gravity. *Physical Review D*, **51** (1995), 5600. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.51.5600.
- [68] BRUNO, M. AND MONTANI, G. Loop Quantum Cosmology of nondiagonal Bianchi models. *Physical Review D*, 107 (2023), 126013. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.107.126013.
- [69] CAI, Y.-F. AND ZHANG, X. Primordial perturbations with a modified dispersion relation. *Physical Review D*, 80 (2009), 043520. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.80.043520.
- [70] CAILLETEAU, T., BARRAU, A., VIDOTTO, F., AND GRAIN, J. Consistency of holonomy-corrected scalar, vector, and tensor perturbations in Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 86 (2012), 087301. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD. 86.087301.
- [71] CALVÃO, M. O., LIMA, J. A. S., AND WAGA, I. On the thermodynamics of matter creation in cosmology. *Physics Letters A*, **162** (1992), 223. doi: 10.1016/0375-9601(92)90437-Q.
- [72] CARLEVARO, N. AND MONTANI, G. On the gravitational collapse of a gas cloud in the presence of bulk viscosity. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 22 (2005), 4715. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/22/22/005.
- [73] CARROL, В. W. D. Introduction AND OSTLIE. Α. AntoModern Astrophysics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (2017).Available from: www.cambridge.org/ highereducation/books/an-introduction-to-modern-astrophysics/ 140DDF8A480C3841DCCD76D66984D858.
- [74] CASADIO, R. Hamiltonian formalism for the Oppenheimer-Snyder model. *Physical Review D*, 58 (1998), 064013. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.58.064013.
- [75] CASADIO, R. AND VENTURI, G. Semiclassical collapse of a sphere of dust. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 13 (1996), 2715. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/ 13/10/011.

- [76] CHAMEL, N., FANTINA, A. F., PEARSON, J. M., AND GORIELY, S. Phase transitions in dense matter and the maximum mass of neutron stars. *Astronomy* and Astrophysics, 553 (2013), A22. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201220986.
- [77] CHANDRASEKHAR, S. The Maximum Mass of Ideal White Dwarfs. Astrophysical Journal, 74 (1931), 81. doi:10.1086/143324.
- [78] CIANFRANI, F., LECIAN, O. M., LULLI, M., AND MONTANI, G. Canonical Quantum Gravity: Fundamentals and Recent Developments. World Scientific, Singapore, Singapore (2014). doi:10.1142/8957.
- [79] CIANFRANI, F. AND MONTANI, G. A critical analysis of the cosmological implementation of Loop Quantum Gravity. *Modern Physics Letters A*, 27 (2012), 1250032. doi:10.1142/S0217732312500320.
- [80] CIANFRANI, F. AND MONTANI, G. Implications of the gauge-fixing Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 85 (2012), 024027. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.85.024027.
- [81] CORICHI, A., VUKAŠINAC, T., AND ZAPATA, J. A. Hamiltonian and physical Hilbert space in Polymer Quantum Mechanics. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 24 (2007), 1495. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/24/6/008.
- [82] CORICHI, A., VUKAŠINAC, T., AND ZAPATA, J. A. Polymer Quantum Mechanics and its continuum limit. *Physical Review D*, **76** (2007), 044016. doi:10.1103/physrevd.76.044016.
- [83] CRAWFORD, F., ROBERTS, M. S. E., HESSELS, J. W. T., RANSOM, S. M., LIVINGSTONE, M., TAM, C. R., AND KASPI, V. M. A Survey of 56 Midlatitude EGRET Error Boxes for Radio Pulsars. *Astrophysical Journal*, 652 (2006), 1499. doi:10.1086/508403.
- [84] CRINÒ, C., MONTANI, G., AND PINTAUDI, G. Semiclassical and quantum behavior of the Mixmaster model in the polymer approach for the isotropic Misner variable. *European Physical Journal C*, 78 (2018). doi:10.1140/epjc/ s10052-018-6337-4.
- [85] DAMOUR, T. AND ESPOSITO-FARÈSE, G. Tensor-scalar gravity and binarypulsar experiments. *Physical Review D*, 54 (1996), 1474. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.54.1474.
- [86] DAS, U. AND MUKHOPADHYAY, B. New Mass Limit for White Dwarfs: Super-Chandrasekhar Type Ia Supernova as a New Standard Candle. *Physical Review Letters*, **110** (2013), 071102. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.110.071102.
- [87] DATT, B. Über eine Klasse von Lösungen der Gravitationsgleichungen der Relativität. Zeitschrift für Physik, 108 (1938), 314. doi:10.1007/BF01374951.
- [88] DEWITT, B. S. Quantum Theory of Gravity. I. The Canonical Theory. *Physical Review*, 160 (1967), 1113. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.160.1113.

- [89] DI VALENTINO, E., MELCHIORRI, A., AND SILK, J. Planck evidence for a closed Universe and a possible crisis for cosmology. *Nature Astronomy*, 4 (2019), 196. doi:10.1038/s41550-019-0906-9.
- [90] DIRAC, P. A. M. The fundamental equations of quantum mechanics. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 109 (1925), 642. doi:10.1098/rspa.1925.0150.
- [91] DIRAC, P. A. M. Principles of Quantum Mechanics. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK (1930).
- [92] EHRENFEST, P. Bemerkung über die angenäherte Gültigkeit der klassischen Mechanik innerhalb der Quantenmechanik. Zeitschrift für Physik, 45 (1927), 455. doi:10.1007/BF01329203.
- [93] ELLIS, G. F. R. AND MAARTENS, R. The Emergent Universe: inflationary cosmology with no singularity. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **21** (2003), 223. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/21/1/015.
- [94] ELLIS, G. F. R., MURUGAN, J., AND TSAGAS, C. G. The Emergent Universe: an explicit construction. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **21** (2003), 233. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/21/1/016.
- [95] FADEL, M. AND MAGGIORE, M. Revisiting the algebraic structure of the Generalized Uncertainty Principle. *Physical Review D*, **105** (2022), 106017. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.105.106017.
- [96] FERRAZ, K. AND FRANCISCO, G. E. A., G. AND. MATSAS. Chaotic and nonchaotic behaviour in the Mixmaster dynamics. *Physics Letters A*, 156 (1991), 407. doi:10.1016/0375-9601(91)90717-M.
- [97] FOCK, V. A. Zur Theorie des Wasserstoffatoms. Zeitschrift für Physik, 98 (1935), 148. doi:10.1007/BF01336904.
- [98] FREIDEL, L. Group Field Theory: An Overview. International Journal of Theoretical Physics, 44 (2005), 1769. doi:10.1007/s10773-005-8894-1.
- [99] GAMOW, G. The Origin of Elements and the Separation of Galaxies. *Physical Review*, 74 (1948), 505. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.74.505.2.
- [100] GARAY, L. J., MARTÍN-BENITO, M., AND MENA MARUGÁN, G. A. Inhomogeneous Loop Quantum Cosmology: Hybrid quantization of the Gowdy model. *Physical Review D*, 82 (2010), 044048. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.82.044048.
- [101] GIELEN, S. AND ORITI, D. Quantum cosmology from quantum gravity condensates: cosmological variables and lattice-refined dynamics. *New Journal* of *Physics*, 16 (2014), 123004. doi:10.1088/1367-2630/16/12/123004.
- [102] GIOVANNETTI, E., BARCA, G., MANDINI, F., AND MONTANI, G. Polymer Dynamics of Isotropic Universe in Ashtekar and in Volume Variables. *Universe*, 8 (2022), 302. doi:10.3390/universe8060302.

- [103] GIOVANNETTI, E. AND MONTANI, G. Polymer representation of the Bianchi IX cosmology in the Misner variables. *Physical Review D*, **100** (2019). doi: 10.1103/physrevd.100.104058.
- [104] GLASER, L. AND LOLL, R. CDT and Cosmology. Comptes Rendus Physique, 18 (2017), 265. doi:10.1016/j.crhy.2017.04.002.
- [105] GORJI, M. A., NOZARI, K., AND VAKILI, B. Polymer quantization versus the Snyder noncommutative space. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **32** (2015), 155007. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/32/15/155007.
- [106] GOTAY, M. J. AND DEMARET, J. Quantum cosmological singularities. *Physical Review D*, 28 (1983), 2402. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.28.2402.
- [107] GROSS, D. J. High-energy symmetries of String Theory. *Physical Review Letters*, 60 (1988), 1229. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.60.1229.
- [108] GROSS, D. J. AND MENDE, P. F. String Theory beyond the Planck scale. Nuclear Physics B, 303 (1988), 407. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(88)90390-2.
- [109] GUIDA, R., LATTANZI, M., AND RUFFINI, R. Emergence of self-similar properties in the evolution of density perturbations. *Journal of the Korean Physical Society*, 49 (2006), 797.
- [110] GUNDELMAN, E. I., RABINOWITZ, A., AND BANIK, A. P. Finding Schwarzschild metric component g_{rr} and FLRW's k without solving the Einstein equation, rather by a synergistic matching between geometric results enfranchised by Newtonian gravity. *Bulgarian Journal of Physics*, **45** (2018), 180. Available from: www.bjp-bg.com/paper1.php?id=902.
- [111] HANDLEY, W. Curvature tension: Evidence for a closed universe. Phys. Rev. D, 103 (2021), L041301. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.103.L041301.
- [112] HARTLEY, J. G. AND RAY, J. R. Coherent states for the time-dependent harmonic oscillator. *Physical Review D*, 25 (1982), 382. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD. 25.382.
- [113] HAWKING, S. W. AND ISRAEL, W. Three Hundred Years of Gravitation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (1989). Available from: https://www.cambridge.org/us/universitypress/ subjects/physics/cosmology-relativity-and-gravitation/ three-hundred-years-gravitation?format=PB.
- [114] HAWKING, S. W. AND PENROSE, R. The singularities of gravitational collapse and cosmology. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London A*, **314** (1970), 529. doi:10.1098/rspa.1970.0021.
- [115] HAWKING, S. W. AND PENROSE, R. The Nature of Space and Time. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey (1996). Available from: https://press.princeton.edu/books/paperback/9780691168449/ the-nature-of-space-and-time.

- [116] HEINZLE, J. M., RÖHR, N., AND UGGLA, C. The cosmological billiard attractor. Advances in Theoretical and Mathematical Physics, 13 (2009), 293. doi:10.4310/ATMP.2009.v13.n2.a1.
- [117] HUANG, Q., ZHANG, K., FANG, Z., AND TU, F. Analytical approximations for Primordial Power Spectra in a spatially closed Emergent Universe. *Physics* of the Dark Universe, **38** (2022), 101124. doi:10.1016/j.dark.2022.101124.
- [118] HUANG, Q., ZHANG, K., HUANG, H., XU, B., AND TU, F. CMB Power Spectrum in the Emergent Universe with K-essence. Universe, 9 (2023), 221. doi:10.3390/universe9050221.
- [119] HUNTER, C. The Instability of the Collapse of a Self-Gravitating Gas Cloud. Astrophysical Journal, 136 (1962), 594. doi:10.1086/147410.
- [120] HUNTER, C. The Development of Gravitational Instability in a Self-Gravitating Gas Cloud. Astrophysical Journal, 139 (1964), 570. doi:10.1086/147786.
- [121] HUNTER, C. The collapse of unstable isothermal spheres. Astrophysical Journal, 218 (1977), 834. doi:10.1086/155739.
- [122] IMMIRZI, G. Real and complex connections for canonical gravity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 14 (1997), L177. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/14/10/002.
- [123] ISHAM, C. J. Canonical quantum gravity and the question of time. In *Canonical Gravity: From Classical to Quantum* (edited by J. Ehlers and H. Friedrich), p. 150. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg (1994).
- [124] KASNER, E. Geometrical Theorems on Einstein's Cosmological Equations. American Journal of Mathematics, 43 (1921), 217. doi:10.2307/2370192.
- [125] KELLY, J. G., SANTACRUZ, R., AND WILSON-EWING, E. Black hole collapse and bounce in effective Loop Quantum Gravity. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 38 (2021), 04LT01. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/abd3e2.
- [126] KEMPF, A., MANGANO, G., AND MANN, R. B. Hilbert Space Representation of the Minimal Length Uncertainty Relations. *Physical Review D*, **52** (1995), 1108. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.1108.
- [127] KHALIL, M., SENNETT, N., STEINHOFF, J., AND BUONANNO, A. Theoryagnostic framework for dynamical scalarization of compact binaries. *Physical Review D*, 100 (2019), 124013. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.100.124013.
- [128] KHODADI, M., ALLAHYARI, A., AND CAPOZZIELLO, S. Emergent Universe from Energy-Momentum Squared Gravity. *Physics of the Dark Universe*, 36 (2022), 101013. doi:10.1016/j.dark.2022.101013.
- [129] KIEFER, C. AND MOHADDES, H. From classical to quantum Oppenheimer-Snyder model: Nonmarginal case. *Physical Review D*, **107** (2023), 126006.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.107.126006.

- [130] KIEFER, C., MÜLLER-HILL, J., AND VAZ, C. Classical and quantum Lemaître-Tolman-Bondi model for the nonmarginal case. *Physical Review D*, **73** (2006), 044025. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.73.044025.
- [131] KIEFER, C. AND SINGH, T. P. Quantum gravitational corrections to the functional Schrödinger equation. *Physical Review D*, 44 (1991), 1067. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevD.44.1067.
- [132] KIRILLOV, A. A. AND MONTANI, G. Quasi-isotropization of the inhomogeneous Mixmaster universe induced by an inflationary process. *Physical Review* D, 66 (2002), 064010. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.66.064010.
- [133] KOLB, E. W. AND TURNER, M. S. *The Early Universe*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida (1990). doi:10.1201/9780429492860.
- [134] KUCHAŘ, K. V. Geometrodynamics of Schwarzschild black holes. *Physical Review D*, 50 (1994), 3961. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.50.3961.
- [135] KUCHAŘ, K. V. Time and Interpretations of Quantum Gravity. International Journal of Modern Physics D, 20 (2011), 3. doi:10.1142/ S0218271811019347.
- [136] LANDAU, L. D. AND LIFSHITZ, E. M. Fluid Mechanics. Pergamon, Oxford, UK (1959). Available from: https://www.elsevier.com/books/ fluid-mechanics/landau/978-0-08-029142-0.
- [137] LANDAU, L. D. AND LIFSHITZ, E. M. Classical Theory of Fields, 4th edition. Butterworth-Heinemann, Oxford, UK (1975). doi:10.1016/ c2009-0-14608-1.
- [138] LANGLOIS, D. Brane Cosmology: an introduction. Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement, 148 (2002), 181. doi:DOI.org/10.1143/PTPS.148.181.
- [139] LEWIS JR, H. R. Class of exact invariants for classical and quantum timedependent harmonic oscillators. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 9 (1968), 1976. doi:10.1063/1.1664532.
- [140] LEWIS JR, H. R. AND RIESENFELD, W. B. An exact quantum theory of the time-dependent harmonic oscillator and of a charged particle in a timedependent electromagnetic field. *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, 10 (1969), 1458. doi:10.1063/1.1664991.
- [141] LI, B.-F., SINGH, P., AND WANG, A. Phenomenological Implications of Modified Loop Cosmologies: An Overview. Frontiers in Astronomy and Space Sciences, 8 (2021), 701417. doi:10.3389/fspas.2021.701417.
- [142] LIFSHITZ, E. M. AND KHALATNIKOV, I. M. Investigations in relativistic cosmology. Advances in Physics, 12 (1963), 185. doi:10.1080/ 00018736300101283.

- [143] LIMA, J. A. S., BASILAKOS, S., AND COSTA, F. E. M. New cosmic accelerating scenario without dark energy. *Physical Review D*, 86 (2012), 103534. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.86.103534.
- [144] LIN, X.-F. AND WALD, R. M. Proof of the closed-universe-recollapse conjecture for diagonal Bianchi type-IX cosmologies. *Physical Review D*, 40 (1989), 3280. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.40.3280.
- [145] LIN, X.-F. AND WALD, R. M. Proof of the closed-universe recollapse conjecture for general Bianchi type-IX cosmologies. *Physical Review D*, **41** (1990), 2444. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.41.2444.
- [146] LINDE, A. D. A new inflationary universe scenario: A possible solution of the horizon, flatness, homogeneity, isotropy and primordial monopole problems. *Physics Letters B*, **108** (1982), 389. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(82)91219-9.
- [147] LINDE, A. D. Particle Physics and Inflationary Cosmology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida (1990). doi:10.1201/9780367807788.
- [148] LOLL, R. Quantum gravity from Causal Dynamical Triangulations: a review. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 37 (2020), 013002. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/ ab57c7.
- [149] LUKAS, A., OVRUT, B. A., STELLE, K. S., AND WALDRAM, D. Universe as a domain wall. *Physical Review D*, **59** (1999), 086001. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD. 59.086001.
- [150] LYTH, D. H. AND LIDDLE, A. R. The Primordial Density Perturbation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (2009). doi:10.1017/ CB09780511819209.
- [151] LYTH, D. H. AND RIOTTO, A. Particle physics models of inflation and the cosmological density perturbation. *Physics Reports*, **314** (1999), 1. doi: 10.1016/S0370-1573(98)00128-8.
- [152] MAARTENS, R. AND KOYAMA, K. Brane-World Gravity. Living Reviews in Relativity, 13 (2010), 5. doi:10.12942/lrr-2010-5.
- [153] MAGGIORE, M. A generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity. *Physics letters B*, **304** (1993), 65. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(93)91401-8.
- [154] MÄKINEN, I. Operators of Quantum-Reduced Loop Gravity from the perspective of full Loop Quantum Gravity. *Physical Review D*, **102** (2020), 106010. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.102.106010.
- [155] MANICCIA, G., DE ANGELIS, M., AND MONTANI, G. WKB Approaches to Restore Time in Quantum Cosmology: Predictions and Shortcomings. Universe, 8 (2022), 556. doi:10.3390/universe8110556.
- [156] MANICCIA, G. AND MONTANI, G. Quantum Gravity corrections to the matter dynamics in the presence of a reference fluid. *Physical Review D*, **105** (2022), 086014. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.105.086014.

- [157] MANICCIA, G., MONTANI, G., AND TORCELLINI, L. Study of the Inflationary Spectrum in the presence of Quantum Gravity corrections. Universe, 9 (2023), 169. doi:10.3390/universe9040169.
- [158] MARTIN, J. AND BRANDENBERGER, R. H. Trans-Planckian problem of inflationary cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 63 (2001), 123501. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevD.63.123501.
- [159] MARTIN, J., VENNIN, V., AND PETER, P. Cosmological inflation and the quantum measurement problem. *Physical Review D*, 86 (2012), 103524. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.86.103524.
- [160] MARTINEAU, K. AND BARRAU, A. Primordial Power Spectra from an Emergent Universe: Basic results and clarifications. Universe, 4 (2018), 149. doi:10.3390/universe4120149.
- [161] MAZIASHVILI, M. Minimum-length deformed quantization of a free field on the de Sitter background and corrections to the inflaton perturbations. *Physical Review D*, 85 (2012), 125026. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.85.125026.
- [162] MISNER, C. W. Mixmaster Universe. *Physical Review Letters*, **22** (1969), 1071. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.22.1071.
- [163] MISNER, C. W. Quantum Cosmology I. *Physical Review*, **186** (1969), 1319.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRev.186.1319.
- [164] MISNER, C. W., THORNE, K. S., AND WHEELER, J. A. Gravitation. W. H. Freeman, San Francisco, California (1973).
- [165] MONTANI, G. Influence of particle creation on flat and negative curved FLRW universes. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 18 (2000), 193. doi: 10.1088/0264-9381/18/1/311.
- [166] MONTANI, G., BATTISTI, M. V., BENINI, R., AND IMPONENTE, G. Classical and quantum features of the Mixmaster singularity. *International Journal of Modern Physics A*, 23 (2008), 2353. doi:10.1142/S0217751X08040275.
- [167] MONTANI, G., BATTISTI, M. V., BENINI, R., AND IMPONENTE, G. Primordial Cosmology. World Scientific, Singapore, Singapore (2011). doi: 10.1142/7235.
- [168] MONTANI, G., MANTERO, C., BOMBACIGNO, F., CIANFRANI, F., AND BARCA, G. Semiclassical and quantum analysis of the isotropic Universe in the polymer paradigm. *Physical Review D*, **99** (2019), 063534. doi:10.1103/ physrevd.99.063534.
- [169] MUKHANOV, V. Physical Foundations of Cosmology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (2005). doi:10.1017/CB09780511790553.
- [170] MUKHANOV, V. F., FELDMAN, H. A., AND BRANDENBERGER, R. H. Theory of cosmological perturbations. *Physics Reports*, **215** (1992), 203. doi:10. 1016/0370-1573(92)90044-Z.

- [171] MUKHERJEE, S., PAUL, B. C., DADHICH, N. K., MAHARAJ, S. D., AND BEESHAM, A. Emergent Universe with exotic matter. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 23 (2006), 6927. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/23/23/020.
- [172] MULRYNE, D. J., TAVAKOL, R., LIDSEY, J. E., AND ELLIS, G. F. R. An Emergent Universe from a Loop. *Physical Review D*, **71** (2005), 123512. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.71.123512.
- [173] N. AGHANIM *ET AL.* (PLANCK COLLABORATION). Planck 2018 results. V. CMB Power Spectra and likelihoods. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, 641 (2020), 92. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201936386.
- [174] N. AGHANIM *ET AL.* (PLANCK COLLABORATION). Planck 2018 results.
 VI. Cosmological parameters. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, 641 (2020), 67. doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201833910.
- [175] OPPENHEIMER, J. R. AND SNYDER, H. On continued gravitational contraction. *Physical Review*, 56 (1939), 455. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.56.455.
- [176] OPPENHEIMER, J. R. AND VOLKOFF, G. M. On Massive Neutron Cores. Physical Review Letters, 55 (1939), 374. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.55.374.
- [177] ORITI, D. Group Field Theory as the second quantization of Loop Quantum Gravity. Classical and Quantum Gravity, 33 (2016), 085005. doi:10.1088/ 0264-9381/33/8/085005.
- [178] ORITI, D. The universe as a quantum gravity condensate. Comptes Rendus Physique, 18 (2017), 235. doi:/10.1016/j.crhy.2017.02.003.
- [179] ORITI, D., SINDONI, L., AND WILSON-EWING, E. Emergent Friedmann dynamics with a quantum bounce from quantum gravity condensates. *Classical* and Quantum Gravity, **33** (2016), 224001. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/33/22/ 224001.
- [180] ORITI, D., SINDONI, L., AND WILSON-EWING, E. Bouncing cosmologies from quantum gravity condensates. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **34** (2017), 04LT01. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/aa549a.
- [181] PAWLOWSKI, T., PIERINI, R., AND WILSON-EWING, E. Loop Quantum Cosmology of a radiation-dominated flat FLRW universe. *Physical Review D*, 90 (2014), 123538. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.90.123538.
- [182] PEDROSA, I. Exact wavefunctions of a harmonic oscillator with time-dependent mass and frequency. *Physical Review A*, 55 (1997), 3219. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevA.55.3219.
- [183] PENROSE, R. Gravitational Collapse and Space-Time Singularities. *Physical Review Letters*, 14 (1965), 57. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.14.57.
- [184] PETRUZZIELLO, L. Generalized Uncertainty Principle with maximal observable momentum and no minimal length indeterminacy. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **38** (2021), 135005. doi:10.1088/1361-6382/abfd8f.

- [185] POLCHINSKI, J. String Theory Volume 1: An Introduction to the Bosonic String. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (1998). doi:10.1017/ CB09780511816079.
- [186] POLCHINSKI, J. String Theory Volume 2: Superstring Theory and Beyond. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (1998). doi:10.1017/ CB09780511618123.
- [187] POLYAKOV, A. M. Quantum geometry of bosonic strings. *Physics Letters B*, 103 (1981), 207. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(81)90743-7.
- [188] PRIALNIK, D. An Introduction to the Theory of Stellar Structure and Evolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (2000). Available from: www. cambridge.org/it/universitypress/subjects/physics/astrophysics/ introduction-theory-stellar-structure-and-evolution-2nd-edition? format=HB&isbn=9780521866040.
- [189] PRIGOGINE, I., GEHENIAU, J., GUNZIG, E., AND NARDONE, P. Thermodynamics and Cosmology. *General Relativity and Gravitation*, **21** (1989), 767. doi:10.1007/BF00758981.
- [190] RANDALL, L. AND SUNDRUM, R. An Alternative to Compactification. *Physical Review Letters*, 83 (1999), 4690. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.83.4690.
- [191] RANDALL, L. AND SUNDRUM, R. Large Mass Hierarchy from a Small Extra Dimension. *Physical Review Letters*, 83 (1999), 3370. doi:10.1103/ PhysRevLett.83.3370.
- [192] RINGSTRÖM, H. The Bianchi IX Attractor. Annales Henri Poincaré, 2 (2001), 405. doi:10.1007/PL00001041.
- [193] ROVELLI, C. Time in quantum gravity: An hypothesis. *Physical Review D*, 43 (1991), 442. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.43.442.
- [194] ROVELLI, C. AND SMOLIN, L. Loop space representation of quantum General Relativity. Nuclear Physics B, 331 (1990), 80. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(90) 90019-A.
- [195] ROVELLI, C. AND SMOLIN, L. Discreteness of area and volume in quantum gravity. Nuclear Physics B, 442 (1995), 593. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(95) 00150-q.
- [196] ROVELLI, C. AND SMOLIN, L. Spin networks and quantum gravity. *Physical Review D*, 52 (1995), 5743. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.52.5743.
- [197] ROVELLI, C. AND THIEMANN, T. Immirzi parameter in quantum General Relativity. *Physical Review D*, 57 (1998), 1009. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.57. 1009.
- [198] SAINI, S. AND SINGH, P. von Neumann stability of modified Loop Quantum Cosmologies. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **36** (2019), 105010. doi:10. 1088/1361-6382/ab1608.

- [199] SCARDIGLI, F. Generalized uncertainty principle in quantum gravity from micro-black hole gedanken experiment. *Physics Letters B*, **452** (1999), 39. doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(99)00167-7.
- [200] SCHMITZ, T. Towards a quantum Oppenheimer-Snyder model. Physical Review D, 101 (2020), 026016. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.101.026016.
- [201] SEAHRA, S. S., BROWN, I. A., HOSSAIN, G. M., AND HUSAIN, V. Primordial polymer perturbations. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics*, 10 (2012), 041. doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2012/10/041.
- [202] SEGRETO, S. AND MONTANI, G. Extended GUP formulation and the role of momentum cut-off. *European Physics Journal C*, 83 (2023), 385. doi: 10.1140/epjc/s10052-023-11480-4.
- [203] SEGRETO, S. AND MONTANI, G. n-dimensional non-commutative GUP quantization and application to the Bianchi I model. Preprint, (2024). doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2401.17113.
- [204] SENNETT, N., SHAO, L., AND STEINHOFF, J. Effective action model of dynamically scalarizing binary neutron stars. *Physical Review D*, 96 (2017), 084019. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.96.084019.
- [205] SINGH, P. AND VANDERSLOOT, K. Semiclassical states, effective dynamics, and classical emergence in Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Physical Review D*, 72 (2005), 084004. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.72.084004.
- [206] SNYDER, H. S. Quantized space-time. *Physical Review*, **71** (1947), 38. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.71.38.
- [207] STONE, M. H. Linear Transformations in Hilbert Space. III. Operational Methods and Group Theory. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science, 16 (1930), 172. doi:10.1073/pnas.16.2.172.
- [208] STONE, M. H. On One-Parameter Unitary Groups in Hilbert Space. Annals of Mathematics, 33 (1932), 643. doi:10.2307/1968538.
- [209] SZULC, L., KAMINSKI, W., AND LEWANDOWSKI, J. Closed Friedmann-Robertson-Walker model in Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, 24 (2007), 2621. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/24/10/008.
- [210] SZYDLOWSKI, M. AND KRAWIEC, A. Average rate of separation of trajectories near the singularity in Mixmaster models. *Physical Review D*, 47 (1993), 5323. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.47.5323.
- [211] TAVERAS, V. Corrections to the Friedmann equations from Loop Quantum Gravity for a universe with a free scalar field. *Physical Review D*, 78 (2008), 064072. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.78.064072.
- [212] THIEMANN, T. Anomaly-free formulation of non-perturbative, fourdimensional Lorentzian quantum gravity. *Physics Letters B*, **380** (1996), 257. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(96)00532-1.

- [213] THIEMANN, T. Quantum Spin Dynamics (QSD). Classical and Quantum Gravity, 15 (1998), 839. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/15/4/011.
- [214] THIEMANN, T. Quantum Spin Dynamics (QSD): II. The kernel of the Wheeler-DeWitt constraint operator. *Classical and Quantum Gravity*, **15** (1998), 875. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/15/4/012.
- [215] TOLMAN, R. C. Static Solutions of Einstein's Field Equations for Spheres of Fluid. Physical Review, 55 (1939), 364. doi:10.1103/PhysRev.55.364.
- [216] VAZ, C., WITTEN, L., AND SINGH, T. P. Toward a midisuperspace quantization of Lemaître-Tolman-Bondi collapse models. *Physical Review D*, 63 (2001), 104020. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.63.104020.
- [217] VILENKIN, A. Interpretation of the wave function of the Universe. *Physical Review D*, **39** (1989), 1116. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.39.1116.
- [218] VON NEUMANN, J. Die Eindeutigkeit der Schrödingerschen Operatoren. Mathematische Annalen, 104 (1931), 570. doi:10.1007/BF01457956.
- [219] VON NEUMANN, J. Uber Einen Satz Von Herrn M. H. Stone. Annals of Mathematics, 33 (1932), 567. doi:10.2307/1968535.
- [220] WEINBERG, S. Gravitation and Cosmology: Principles and Applications of the General Theory of Relativity. John Wiley and Sons, New York, New York (1972).
- [221] WILSON-EWING, E. Loop Quantum Cosmology of Bianchi type IX models. Physical Review D, 82 (2010), 043508. doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.82.043508.
- [222] WITTEN, E. Reflections on the Fate of Spacetime. *Physics Today*, 49 (1996), 24. doi:10.1063/1.881493.
- [223] YANG, J., DUNG, Y., AND MA, Y. Alternative quantization of the Hamiltonian in Loop Quantum Cosmology. *Physics Letters B*, 682 (2009), 1. doi:10.1016/j.physletb.2009.10.072.